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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
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PICC Complex, Roxas Boulevard 

Attention 

Re 

Dir. Vicente Graciano P. Felizmenio Jr. 
Markets and Securities Regulation Department 

BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. 
SEC Reg. No. 97869 

Gentlemen: 

We respectfully file the SEC Form 20-IS or Definitive Information Statement (IS) of BDO 
LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. (BDOLF) for its Annual Stockholders' Meeting (ASM) scheduled 
on 20 April 2022. We incorporated in this Definitive IS changes which address the comments of the 
Honorable Commission to the Preliminary IS of BDOLF. 

For ease of reference, please see attached the matrix of changes made in the IS. 
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39/F BDO Corporate Center Ortigas 
12 ADB Avenue, Ortigas Center 
Mandaluyong City 1554 
Tel +632 8688-1288 loc. 65819/65175/ 45303 
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BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. 
SEC Form 20-IS Preliminary filed on March 2, 2022 

Checklist of Requirements Page 
No. 

Remarks BDOLF Responses 

ALETRNATIVE MODE FOR DISTRIBUTING AND PROVIDING COPIES OF THE NOTICE OF MEETING, INFORMATION STATEMENT, AND 
OTHER DOCUMENTS IN CONENCTION WITH THE HOLDING OF ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING(“ASM”) FOR 2021 

Noted on this. BDOLF will upload its 
Definitive Information Statement (DIS)in its 
website and via PSE EDGE in accordance 
with SEC Notice dated 16 February 2022 once 
approved by the SEC, and provide the MSRD 
with the links to uploaded and disclosed DIS 

THE COMPANY IS ADVISED OF THE NOTICE dated April 20, 2022 RE: ALTERNATIVE MODE FOR DISTRIBUTING and PROVIDING COPIES 
OF THE NOTICE OF MEETING, INFORMATION STATEMENT, and OTHER DOCUMENTS IN CONNECTION WITH THE HOLDING OF 
ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS’ METING(“ASM”) FOR 2020 

COVER SHEET  

8. Date, time and place of the meeting of security holders 

 Incomplete, indicate 
the place of the 
meeting pursuant to 
Section 50 of the 
Revised Corporation 
Code of the 
Philippines and 
Section 15 of the 
Memorandum 
Circular No. 6, 
Series of 2020. 

Not applicable as indicated since there will be 
no physical venue. The Meeting will be held 
via remote communication or virtually. 

Part I.  
A. General Information  

ITEM 1. DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF MEETING  

Date, time, place of meeting 

 Incomplete, indicate 
the place of the 
meeting pursuant to 
Section 20 of the 
Revised Corporation 
Code of the 
Philippines and 
Section 15 of the 
Memorandum 
Circular No. 6, 
Series of 2020. 

Not applicable as explained above. 

B. Control and Compensation Information  
ITEM 4. VOTING SECURITIES & PRINCIPAL HOLDERS    
Furnish information required by Part IV paragraph (C)     

(1) Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners of more than 5%    

 

(1) Title of 
class 

(2) Name, 
address of 
record 
owner and 
relationship 
with issuer 

(3) Name of 
Beneficial 
Owner and 
Relationship 
with Record 
Owner 
 

(4) Citizenship (5) No. Of 
Shares 

(6) Percent 

5 to 6 

Update Information 
to February 28, 2022 

Kindly see updated information.   



(2) Security Ownership of Management    

 

(1) Title of 
class 

(2) Name of 
Beneficial 
owner 

(3) Amount and Nature 
of beneficial 
ownership 

(4) Citizenship (5) Percent 
6 to 7 

Update Information 
to February 28, 2022 

Kindly see updated information. 

(4) Description of any arrangement which may result in a charge in control of registrant    
If a change in control has occurred since the beginning of the last F.Y.    

1. State the name of the person who acquired such control  Not complied with. 
Disclose, if any 
 

Not applicable. Kindly refer to the negative 
statement. 

2. Amount and source of consideration used   
3. Basis of control   
4. Date & description of the transaction(s) which result in the change in control   
5. Percentage of voting securities now beneficially owned directly/indirectly by the person who acquired 

control 
  

6. Identify from whom control was assumed   

ITEM 5. DIRECTORS & EXECUTIVE OFFIECRS 

 Submit a 
certification that 
none of the directors 
and officers works in 
government and if 
there is, submit a 
letter consent from 
the head of the 
Department/Agency. 

Kindly see attached sworn Secretary’s 
Certification that none of the directors and 
officers works in government. 

Information required by Part IV paragraphs (A), (D)(1) and (D)(3) of “Annex C”    

(A)(1) Identify Directors, including Independent Directors and Executive Officers 

 (1) The company is 
advised SEC Memo. 
Circular No. 4, 
Series of 2017 re: 
Term Limit of 
Independent 
Directors. (2) Submit 
updated Certification 
on the Qualification 
of Independent 
Directors pursuant to 
SEC Memo. Circular 
No. 5, Series of 
2017. 

(2) The Company is cognizant of the requirements 
under SEC Memo. Circular No. 4, Series of 
2017 re: Term Limit of Independent Directors. 
 
Kindly see attached the Certification on the 
Qualification of the following nominee 
Independent Directors: 
 

1. Vicente S. Perez  
2. Luis Ma. G. Uranza 
3. Ismael G. Estela Jr. 

Please see also the added statements on Item 6, 
to include the names of nominees and 
confirmation of submission of the 
Certifications by Independent Directors. 

(3) Significant Employees   Not applicable. Kindly see added negative 
statement. (a) Names and ages of all Persons who is not an Executive Officer but expected by the registrant to make 

significant contribution to the business; 
 

Not complied any (b) List of positions and offices such person held or will hold;  
      (c) Term of office as a Director and the period which it has served; and  

(d) Brief description of person’s business experience (last five years).  
ITEM 6. COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS & EXECUTIVE OFFICERS    
If action to be taken with regard to election, any bonus, profit sharing, pension/retirement plan granting of extension    



of any option, warrant or right to purchase any securities, furnish the following: 
(1) Summary Compensation Table  Compensation of 

each of the Board of 
Directors and 
Trustee pursuant to 
Revised Corporation 
Code of the 
Philippine (RCC) 
Section 29 and 
Section 49. 

The provided Summary Compensation Table 
reflects the compensation of each members of 
the Board of Directors including Adviser to the 
Board for 2021. 

 
As noted therein, the amounts include total fees 
and per diems received by the members of the 
Board for their attendance in meetings of the 
Board. Executives of BDO Unibank and 
BDOLF did not receive any directors’ fees nor 
per diems as directors of the Company.  
 
 
 

(2) Description of Any Standard Arrangement  Not complied with, 
Disclose if any 

Not applicable. Kindly see added negative 
statement. (3) Description of Materials Terms of Any Other Arrangement  

(4) Description of the Terms and Condition of each of the following:  
a) Employment Contract between the Registrant and Names Executive Officers  
b) Compensatory Plan or Arrangement  
c) Information on all Outstanding Warrants or Options held by Directors, Officers (in tabular form)  

(5) If price or Stock Warrants or Options are Adjusted or Amended:  
a) Explanation in Reasonable Detail  
b) Basis for each Repricing  

D. Other Matters    
ITEM 17. AMENDMENTS OF CHARTER, BY-LAWS & OTHER DOCUMENTS  Incomplete. Comply 

with the highlighted 
portion 

Kindly see the additional discussion. 

Brief reason(s) for and the general effect of such amendment  

ITEM 19. VOTING PROCEDURES  Indicate if 
cumulative voting 
for Directors are 
allowed. 

Kindly see the added discussion mirrored with 
discussion on Item 4(c) Vote required for approval/election  

Methods by which votes will be counted    
Part III. 

 
   

MANAGEMENT REPORT  
 

   

Audited Financial Statements  Submit 2021 
Consolidated 
Audited Financial 
Statement (CAFS). 

Not applicable. The Company does not have 
any subsidiary. In 2020, the shares of the 
Company in BDO Rental were sold and 
assigned to BDO Finance Corporation.  
 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) or Plan of Operation (Required by Part III(A) of "Annex C")  Not complied with, 
Disclose, if any  

None. Please see the added negative 
statements. (4) Key Variable and Other Qualitative and Quantitative Factors.  

If Material:  
(i) Any Known Trends, Events or Uncertainties (Material Impact on Liquidity)  
(ii) Events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to the company, including any 
default or acceleration of an obligation 

 



(iii) All material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent obligations), and 
other relationships of the company with unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the reporting period. 

 

(iv) Description of any material commitments for capital expenditures, general purpose of such commitments, 
expected sources of funds for such expenditures (v)Any Known Trends, Events or Uncertainties (Material Impact on 
Sales) 

 

(vi) Any Significant Elements of Income or Loss (from continuing operations)  
(vii)Causes for Any Material Changes from Period to Period of FS which shall include vertical and horizontal 
analyses of any material item (5%) 

 

The term “material” in this section shall refer to changes or items amounting to at least five percent (5%) of the 
relevant accounts or such lower amount, which the registrant deems material on the basis of other factors. 

 

Market Price of and Dividends required by Part V of Annex C   
(1) Market Information    
(a) Identification of the Principal Market or Markets where the Registrant's Common Equity is Traded    
If principal market is a Stock Exchange in the Philippines or a foreign Exchange:    
(1) State the name of the Exchange.  Not complied with Kindly see added discussion in Item 20. 
(2) Presentation of the High and Low Sales Prices for Each Quarter within the last two (2) fiscal years and any 
subsequent interim period for which Financial Statements are required by SRC Rule 68. 

 

  (b) If the information called for by paragraph (A) of this Part is being presented, the document shall also include the 
price information as of the latest practicable trading date, and in the case of securities to be issued in connection with 
an acquisition, business combination or other reorganization, as of the trading date immediately prior to the public 
announcement of such transaction. 
 

 Comply with the 
highlighted portion 
re: include the price 
information as of the 
latest practicable 
trading date 

Kindly see added discussion in Item 20. 

(2) Holders    
(a) (i) Approximate Number of Holders of Each Class of Common Security as of the latest practicable date but in no 
event more than 90 days prior to filing of report. 

 Not complied with Kindly see added discussion in Item 20. 

(ii) Names of the Top Twenty (20) Shareholders of Each Class    
(iii) Number of Shares Held    
(iv) Percentage of Total Shares Outstanding Held by Each    
(3) Dividends    
(a) Discussion of any Cash Dividends Declared (two most recent years)  Not complied with, 

Disclose, if any 
None. Kindly see negative statement in in 
Item 20. (b) Description of any Restriction that Limits the Payment of Dividend on Common Shares  

(4) Recent Sales of Unregistered or Exempt Securities including Recent Issuance of Securities Constituting an 
Exempt Transaction 

   

(a) Date of sale and the Title and Amount of Securities Sold  Not complied with, 
Disclose, if any 

None. Kindly see negative statement in Item 
20. 

(b) Names of the Underwriters or Identity of Persons to whom the Securities were Sold    
(c) If sold for cash: Total Offering Price and Total Underwriting Discounts or Commissions    
Sold otherwise for cash: State the nature of the transaction and the type and amount of consideration received.    
(d) Exemption from Registration Claimed - Indicate section of the Code & state briefly the facts relied upon to make 
the exemption available 

   

Discussion on Compliance with leading practice on Corporate Governance    
a. Evaluation system established by the company to measure or determine the level of compliance of the Board of 
Directors and top level management with its Manual of Corporate Governance 

 

Not complied with. 

Kindly see added discussion in Item 21. 

b. Measures being undertaken by the company to fully comply with the adopted leading practices on good corporate 
governance 

 

c. Any deviation from the company's Manual of Corporate Governance. Including a disclosure of the name and 
position of the person/s involved and sanction/s imposed on said individual 

 



d. Any plan to improve corporate governance of the company 
 

  

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS    
Statement of Management Responsibility on the Financial Statements (as prescribed by SRC Rule 68, As 
Amended)(Financial Reporting Bulletin No. 1) 

 

Not submitted 

Kindly see attached the appended Audited 
Financial Statements of the Company, which 
contain the signed Statement of Management 
Responsibility. 

The Management of (name of reporting company) is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements for the year (s) ended (date), including the additional components attached therein, in accordance 
with the prescribed financial reporting framework indicated therein. This responsibility includes designing and the 
implementing internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. The Board of Directors or Trustees reviews 
and approves the financial statements and submit the same to the stockholders or members. (Name of Auditing Firm), 
the independent auditors, appointed by the stockholders has examined the financial statements of the company in 
accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, and in its report to the stockholders or members, has expressed 
opinion on the fairness of presentation upon completion of such examination. Signature (Printed Name of the (1) 
Chairman of the Board (2) Chief Executive Officer (3) Chief Financial Officer) 

 

ADDITIONAL COMPONENTS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (SRC Rule 68, as amended October 2011)    
Legal matter paragraph in the Auditor's Report on each components:  

Not submitted 

Kindly see Appendix 1, pages 61 and 70  of 
the appended Audited Financial Statements. Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration (Part 1,4 (c ))  

A reconcilation of Retained Earnings available for dividend declaration which shall present the prescribed 
adjustments as indicated in Annex 68-C 

 

A map of the conglomerate or group of companies showing the relationships between and among the company and its 
ultimate parent company, middle parent, subsidiaries or co-subsidiaries, and associates (Par 4(h)) 
 

 

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS    
Additional disclosures set forth in Annex 68-D shall appear on the face of the balance sheets or related notes and in 
the Statement of comprehensive income or related notes filed and on the face of the financial statements 

 

Not submitted 

Kindly see  Appendix 1 of SEC 
Supplementary schedules for the 
Reconciliation of Retained earnings available 
for dividend declaration and Schedule C  of 
the Supplementary Information Required by 
the SEC filed separately from the Basic 
Financial Statement. 

Disclosures of receivable/payables with related parties eliminated during consolidation (Annex 68-D)  

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS (SRC Rule 68, as amended October 2011)    
A schedule showing financial soundness indicators in two comparative period as follows: 1) current/liquidity ratios; 
2) solvency ratios, debt-to-equity ratio; 3) assets-to-equity ratio; 4) interest rate coverage ratio; 5) profitability ratio 
and 6) other relevant ratio as the Commission may prescribe. 

 
Not submitted 

Kindly see pp. 72 and 73 of the appended 
Audited Financial Statements. 

Undertaking in bold face prominent type to provide without charge to each person solicited, on the written request of 
any such person, a copy of the registrant's annual report on SEC Form 17-A and shall indicate the name and address 
of the person to whom such a written request is to be directed. At the discretion of management, a charge may be 
made for exhibits, provided such charge is limited to reasonable expenses incurred by the registrant in furnishing 
such exhibits. 

 

Not complied with 
 

Not applicable. The Company is not soliciting 
proxy. Nevertheless, please see added 
statement of the DIS that copies of the 
Company’s Annual report SEC Form 17-A is 
available free of charge upon request of 
stockholder. 
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Company Name 

B D O  L E A S I N G  A N D  F I N A N C E ,  I N C .  

                               

                               

                               

Principal Office (No./Street/Barangay/City/Town/Province) 

1 2  A D B  A v e .  O r t i g a s  C e n t e r ,    

 1 5 5 0  M a n d a l u y o n g  C i t y          

                               

                               

                               

 

Form Type    Department requiring the 
report 

   Secondary License Type, If 
Applicable 

 2 0 - I S                         

COMPANY INFORMATION 

 Company’s Email Address  Company’s Telephone 
Number/s 

 Mobile Number  

   (632)  8840-7000    

 
 

No. of Stockholders  
Annual Meeting 

Month/Day  
Fiscal Year 
Month/Day 

 

      December 31  

CONTACT PERSON INFORMATION 
The designated contact person MUST be an Officer of the Corporation 

Name of Contact Person  Email Address  Telephone 
Number/s 

 Mobile Number 

Katherine U. Resari  resari.katherine@bdo.com.ph  (632)  8840-7000   

 
Contact Person’s Address 

No. 12 ADB Avenue, Ortigas AvenueOrtigas Center, Mandaluyong City 1554 

 
Note:  In case of death, resignation or cessation of office of the officer designated as contact person, such incident shall be reported to the 
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days from the occurrence thereof with information and complete contact details of the new contact 
person designated. 
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 PROFILES OF NOMINEES FOR DIRECTORS FOR 2022-2023 

 
 
 
INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS 
 
 
ISMAEL G. ESTELA, JR., 65, Filipino, is presently an Independent Trustee of BDO Foundation, Inc. He was 
formerly Senior Vice President and Corporate Governance Officer of BDO Unibank, Inc., assigned to 
Corporate Compliance and Legal Services & Internal Audit Group, and held various directorship positions in 
BDO Group: BDO Remit (Canada) Ltd., BDO Remit (Japan) Ltd., BDORO Europe Ltd., and Express Padala 
International, Inc. He was also Head of Transaction Banking doing cash management, electronic banking, and 
remittance services. He is a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) and holds a Bachelor of Science degree in 
Accounting from the University of San Carlos. 
 
 
VICENTE S. PEREZ JR., 63, was elected to the Board of Directors of the Company on April 7, 2017, and is 
the Chairman of the Company’s Risk Management Committee. He is currently an Independent Director of 
BDO Unibank, Inc., BDO Finance Corporation and DoubleDragon Properties Corp. He is also a Non-Executive 
Director of Singapore Technologies Telemedia Pte Ltd. Mr. Pérez is currently the Chairman of the Alternergy 
Group, Philippine renewable power companies in wind, hydro and solar. He was Philippine Energy Secretary 
from 2001 to 2005. Mr. Pérez briefly served in early 2001 as Undersecretary at the Department of Trade and 
Industry and as Managing Head of the Board of Investments.  
 
Prior to his government service, Mr. Pérez had 17 years banking experience, first in Latin America debt 
restructuring at Mellon Bank in Pittsburg, and later in debt capital markets in emerging countries at Lazard in 
London, New York and Singapore. At 35, he became General Partner at New York investment bank Lazard 
Fréres as head of its Emerging Markets Group. He was Managing Director of Lazard Asia in Singapore from 
1995 until 1997, when he co-founded Next Century Partners, a private equity firm based in Singapore. In 2005, 
he was briefly a government appointed director pf Philippine National Bank until its privatization. In September 
2020, Mr. Pérez was appointed Honorary Consul of the Kingdom of Bhutan in the Philippines. 
 
Mr. Pérez obtained his Masters in Business Administration from the Wharton Business School of the University 
of Pennsylvania in 1983 and a Bachelor’s degree in Business Economics from the University of the Philippines 
in 1979. He was a 2005 World Fellow at Yale University where he lectured an MBA class on renewable power 
at the Yale School of Management. 
 
 
ATTY. LUIS MA. G. URANZA, 63, is a member of the Philippine Bar who has been engaged in the practice 
of law for the last thirty seven (37) years. He earned both his academic degrees in business (B.S.B.A.) and in 
law (Ll.B.) from the University of the Philippines. 
He is currently the Rehabilitation Receiver, appointed by the Securities and Exchange Commission, to oversee 
the financial recovery of Victorias Milling Co., Inc. which is one of the major sugar millers and refiners in the 
country whose shares are listed and traded in the Philippine Stock Exchange. Atty. Uranza has also been 
given similar appointments by the commercial courts of Makati City and the City of Cagayan de Oro to oversee 
the financial rehabilitation of several other companies. 
 
In the course of his law practice, Atty. Uranza gained proficiency in oil and gas exploration laws and regulations 
as a result of his membership in the Board of Directors of PNOC-Exploration Corporation which is a 
government owned and controlled corporation created for the primary purpose of exploring and developing 
the fossil fuel and natural gas resources of the country. Moreover, the Philippine Government (through its 
various agencies) has also engaged the professional services of Atty. Uranza as: (a) Special Legal Counsel 



 
of the Presidential Commission on Good Government, (b) Legal Consultant to the Special Presidential Task 
Force created by Executive Order No. 156 to investigate the tax credit scam at the Department of Finance, 
and (c) Legal Consultant to the Office of the General Manager of the Manila International Airport Authority. 
In the private sector, Atty. Uranza is presently an independent director of BDO Private Bank, BDO Life 
Assurance Company, Inc., BDO Capital & Investment Corporation and BDO Insurance Brokers, Inc. He has 
previously served as the Corporate Secretary of various banks, financial institutions, and listed companies. 
His professional experience in the field of litigation is also extensive due to his engagement as trial counsel in 
notable civil, criminal and administrative cases. 
 
 
NON-INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS 
 
 
MELANIE S. BELEN, 61, Filipino, is Senior Vice President of BDO Unibank, Inc. She is currently the Head of 
Credit Risk Operations, Property Management & Remedial Management. She is concurrently 
President/Director of BDO Strategic Holdings, Inc.and Ivory Homes, Inc. She is also Director of Taal Land, Inc. 
and Equimark-NFC Development Corporation. Before joining BDO, she was a Country Vice President of 
Scholastic Inc. (Grolier International), and Chief Financial Consultant of Healthy Options. Ms. Belen is a 
Certified Public Accountant (CPA) and holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Commerce from the University 
of Sto. Tomas, and a Master’s degree in Business Management from the Asian Institute of Management.  
 
 
GENEVA T. GLORIA, 57, Filipino, has more than thirty (30) years experience in the banking industry. She has 
been with BDO Unibank for more than 19 years and is the Senior Vice President and Head of BDO Remittance. 
She is also the concurrent director of BDO Network Bank, Inc. and BDO Remit offices located in Hong Kong, 
Macau, Japan, USA, Canada and the UK. Ms. Gloria’s expertise in the remittance industry spans from 
business development, local and foreign remittance operations, project management to marketing. Ms. Gloria 
has earned the reputation of having a very deep understanding of the overseas Filipino market for she was 
once an overseas worker herself. BDO Unibank is BSP’s consistent awardee for the Top Commercial Bank in 
Generating Remittances from overseas Filipinos beginning 2008 to 2010 and again, from 2013 to 2019. This 
success can be attributed to Ms. Gloria’s knowledge of the remittance industry and her ability to maintain a 
dedicated hardworking team, both locally and abroad. BDO Unibank, through Ms. Gloria, has been supporting 
the projects of government agencies concerned with the issues of the overseas Filipino market, which includes 
migration, generation of jobs, financial literacy, as well as events aimed at giving honor to the Filipinos abroad. 
 
 
LAZARO JEROME C. GUEVARRA, 55, is Senior Vice President. He is the Chief of Staff for the Office of the 
President and concurrently the Head for the Governance Group, administratively overseeing the Corporate 
Secretary’s Office, Anti-Money Laundering Unit, Legal Services, Compliance, Internal Audit, and Information 
& Cyber Security Office. Prior to this, he was the Head of Advisory and Mergers & Acquisition Team of BDO 
Capital & Investment Corporation and was the President of BDO Securities Corporation. He is currently the 
Chairman/Director of BDO Remit (Canada), Ltd., BDO Remit (Japan), Ltd. and BDO Remit (USA), Inc. He is 
a Director of BDO Strategic Holdings, Inc., BDORO Europe Ltd., Averon Holdings Corp., SM Keppel Land, 
Inc., NorthPine Land, Inc. and Nashville Holdings, Inc. He is also a Trustee and Corporate Secretary of BDO 
Foundation, Inc. Mr. Guevarra is a graduate of the University of the Philippines – School of Economics and 
has had more than 32 years of experience in banking, financial analysis, and mergers & acquisition.  



 
MANUEL Z. LOCSIN, JR., 64, was elected to the Board of Directors of the Company on May 12, 2021. He 
was seconded from BDO Unibank, Inc. to the Company as Senior Vice President/Officer-in-Charge on May 1, 
2021. He concurrently serves as Director & Officer-in-Charge of BDO Finance Corporation and BDO Rental, 
Inc. Prior to his secondment from BDO Unibank, Inc., Mr. Locsin was Senior Vice President and Head of 
Institutional Banking Group-Corporate Banking 1 of BDO Unibank, Inc. since February 2012. He has more 
than 20 years of experience in credit lending. Prior to BDO, he was with the Account Management Group of 
Allied Banking Corporation and International Corporate Bank. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce 
from De La Salle University. 
 
 
LUIS S. REYES, JR., 64, was first elected to the Board of Directors of the Company on April 18, 2012 and 
was appointed as Treasurer on April 23, 2014. He is concurrently the Executive Vice President for Investor 
Relations and Corporate Planning of BDO Unibank, Inc. He is also the Treasurer of BDO Finance Corporation, 
Director and Treasurer of BDO Rental, Inc., Director of BDO Strategic Holdings, Inc. and BDORO Europe Ltd., 
and Chairman of Nashville Holdings, Inc. Before joining BDO, Mr. Reyes was a First Vice President of Far 
East Bank & Trust Company, Trust Banking Group. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Business 
Economics from the University of the Philippines.  
 
 
ATTY. ELMER B. SERRANO, 54, is a practicing lawyer specializing in corporate law and is the Managing 
Partner of the law firm SERRANO LAW. 
 
Mr. Serrano has been awarded “Asia Best Lawyer” by the International Financial Law Review (IFLR) for 
Banking and Finance, Capital Markets, and Mergers & Acquisitions, one of only two exclusively recognized 
lawyers in the Philippines.  This comes after being consistently recognized as a “Highly Regarded-Leading 
Lawyer” in the same fields by IFLR. The Legal 500 Asia Pacific also named Mr. Serrano as a “Leading 
Individual” in Banking & Finance, after constant citation as a “Recommended Lawyer”. 
 
Mr. Serrano is a director of 2GO Group, Inc. He is Corporate Secretary of SM Investments Corporation, SM 
Prime Holdings, Inc., Atlas Consolidated Mining and Development Corporation, as well as subsidiaries of BDO 
Unibank, Inc. He is also Corporate Secretary of, or counsel to, prominent financial industry organizations, such 
as the Bankers Association of the Philippines and the Philippine Payments Management, Inc. and the PDS 
Group of Companies.  
 
Mr. Serrano is a Certified Associate Treasury Professional and was among the top graduates of the Trust 
Institute of the Philippines in 2001. Mr. Serrano holds a Juris Doctor degree from the Ateneo de Manila 
University and a BS Legal Management degree from the same university. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
                                                                                                 
 
 
 



SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

 

SEC FORM 20-IS 

	
INFORMATION STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 20 

OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE 

  
  
 

1. Check the appropriate box:  

 

[  ] Preliminary Information Statement 
      

[√] Definitive Information Statement 
 
2. Name of Registrant as specified in its charter:  

 

BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. 
 
3. Country of Incorporation: Philippines 
 
4. SEC Identification Number: 97869      
 
5. BIR Tax Identification Code: 000-486-050-000  
 
6. Address of Principal Office: No. 12 ADB Avenue, Ortigas Avenue 

Ortigas Center, Mandaluyong City 1554 

 
7. Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Code: (632)  8840-7000 

  
8. Date, time and place of the annual meeting of the security holders:  
 

Date  -  April 20, 2022 (Wednesday) 
 

Time  - 03:00 p.m.  
 
Place               - N/A.  

The meeting will be conducted virtually and participation will be via 
remote communication. 

 

9. Approximate date on which the Information Statement is first to be sent or given to 
security holders: 

 

on or before March 21, 2022 	
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10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Code or Sections 4 and 8 of the 
RSA:  

Subscribed and Outstanding 
 Title of each Class No. of Shares  Amount in Pesos  
 Common 2,162,475,312    Php 2,162,475,312.00 
 Total 2,162,475,312      Php 2,162,475,312.00 
 

 
 

11. Are any or all of registrant’s securities listed on a Stock Exchange? 
 
 Yes (√) No (   ) Philippine Stock Exchange,  
     Common Shares only 
     (not commercial papers)   

 
 
 
 

WE ARE NOT ASKING YOU FOR A PROXY  
AND YOU ARE REQUESTED NOT TO SEND US A PROXY. 
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BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. 
INFORMATION STATEMENT 

 
THIS INFORMATION STATEMENT IS BEING FURNISHED TO STOCKHOLDERS OF RECORD OF BDO 
LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. AS OF MARCH 16, 2022 IN CONNECTION WITH THE ANNUAL 
STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING. COPIES OF THE INFORMATION STATEMENT WILL BE FIRST SENT OR 
GIVEN TO SECURITY HOLDERS ON OR BEFORE MARCH 21, 2022. 

 
 

A. GENERAL INFORMATION 

 

ITEM 1.  DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SECURITY HOLDERS 

 

(a) Date  :  April 20, 2022 (Wednesday) 
 
 Time  : 3:00 p.m. 
 

 Place  : N/A 
The meeting will be conducted virtually and participation will be via 
remote communication.  

 
 Mailing Address:  39th Floor, BDO Corporate Center Ortigas 

No. 12 ADB Avenue, Ortigas Avenue 
Ortigas Center, Mandaluyong City 1554 

  

1. Approximate date on which the Information Statement is first to be sent or given to security 

holders:   March 21, 2022	
  

 
 ITEM 2.  DISSENTER’S RIGHT OF APPRAISAL 
 

BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc. (the “Company” or the “Issuer”) respects the inherent rights of  

shareholders in accordance with law. The Company recognizes that all shareholders should be treated fairly 

and equally whether they are controlling or minority, local or foreign. To ensure this, the By-laws of  the 

Company provides that all shares of  each class should carry the same rights, and any changes in the voting 

rights shall be approved by them.  

 

When a proposed corporate action would involve a substantial and fundamental change in the Company in 

the cases provided by law, a stockholder may exercise his appraisal rights.   Pursuant to Section 80 of  the 

Revised Corporation Code of  the Philippines (the “Corporation Code”), a stockholder may exercise his 

appraisal right by dissenting on any of  the following corporate actions and demanding payment of  the fair 

value of  his shares: 

 

(1) amendment to the articles of  incorporation that has the effect of  changing or restricting the rights 

of  any stockholder or class of  shares, or;   

(2) amendment to the articles of  incorporation that has the effect of  authorizing preferences in any 

respect superior to those of  outstanding shares of  any class;  

(3)   amendment to the articles of  incorporation that either extends or shortens the term of  corporate 

existence;  

(4) in case of  lease, exchange, transfer, mortgage, pledge or other disposition of  all or substantially 

all of  the corporate property and assets as provided in the Corporation Code;  

(5) in case of  merger or consolidation; or 
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(6) in case of  investment of  corporate funds for any purpose other than the primary purpose of  the 

Company.   

 

The procedure for the exercise of  a stockholder’s appraisal right is as follows: 

 

(1) A stockholder shall have dissented to such corporate action;  

 

(2) Within thirty (30) days after the date on which the vote was taken, the dissenting stockholder shall 

make a written demand on the Company for payment of  the fair value of  his shares.   

 

  Failure to make the demand within such period shall be deemed a waiver of  the appraisal right.  

 

(3) Within ten (10) days after demanding payment for his shares, the dissenting stockholder shall 

submit to the Company the certificate(s) of  stock representing his shares for notation thereon 

that such shares are dissenting shares. His failure to do so shall, at the option of  the Company, 

terminate his appraisal rights.  
 

(4) No demand for payment as aforesaid may be withdrawn by the dissenting stockholder unless the 

Company consents thereto.  

 

(5) If  the corporate action is implemented or effected, the Company shall pay to such dissenting 

stockholder, upon surrender of  the certificate(s) of  stock representing his shares, the fair value 

thereof  as of  the day prior to the date on which the vote was taken, excluding any appreciation 

or depreciation in anticipation of  a merger if  such be the corporate action involved. 

 

(6) If  within a period of  sixty (60) days from the date the corporate action was approved by the 

stockholders, the dissenting stockholder and the Company cannot agree on the fair value of  the 

shares, it shall be appraised and determined by three (3) disinterested persons, one of  whom shall 

be named by the stockholder, another by the Company, and the third by the two (2) thus chosen.  

 

(7) The findings of  a majority of  the appraisers shall be final, and their award shall be paid by the 

Company within thirty (30) days after such award is made.  No payment shall be made to any 

dissenting stockholder unless the Company has unrestricted retained earnings in its books to cover 

such payment.   

 

(8) Upon payment of  the agreed or awarded price, the stockholder shall forthwith transfer his shares 

to the Company.	
 
 
For this meeting, there are no matters to be discussed which would give rise to the right of  dissenters to 

exercise their appraisal right.	
 
 
ITEM 3. INTEREST OF CERTAIN PERSONS IN OR OPPOSITION TO MATTERS TO BE ACTED UPON 

 
(a) No director or officer of the Company since the beginning of the last fiscal year has any substantial 

interest, direct or indirect, by security holdings or otherwise, in any matter to be acted upon at the 

meeting. 

 

(b) No director of the Company has informed in writing that he intends to oppose any action to be taken 

by the Company at the meeting.	
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B.  CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 

 

ITEM 4.  VOTING SECURITIES AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS THEREOF  

 

(a) Voting securities entitled to be voted at the meeting:  

 

Title of Each Class Number of Shares Number of Votes Outstanding 

Common Shares 2,162,475,312	 One (1) vote per share 

 

(b) Record date 

 

Only stockholders of  record in the books of  the Company as of  the close of  business on March 16, 2022 

are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the annual meeting.	
 

(c) Cumulative voting rights 

 

Each common share of the Company is entitled to one (1) vote (each, a Voting Share/s) for each agenda 

item presented for stockholder approval, except in the election of directors where one (1) share is entitled 

to as many votes as there are directors to be elected.  Each stockholder may cast the vote to which the 

number of shares he owns entitles him, for as many persons as there are to be elected as directors, or he 

may accumulate or give to one candidate as many votes as the number of directors to be elected multiplied 

by the number of his shares shall equal, or he may distribute them on the same principle among as many 

candidates as he may see fit, provided that the whole number of votes cast by him shall not exceed the 

number of shares owned by him multiplied by the whole number of directors to be elected. Thus, if there 

are eleven (11) directors to be elected, each Voting Share is entitled to eleven (11) votes. 

 

Stockholders may nominate directors, subject to pre-qualification by the Nomination Committee, within 

the period of nomination set forth in the Company’s By-laws and relevant regulations. Stockholders as of 

Record Date may then vote for nominees in accordance with the above rule.  

 

For this year’s meeting, the Board of Directors has adopted a resolution allowing stockholders to exercise 

their right to vote in absentia.  

 

(d) Security ownership of certain record and beneficial owners and management: 

 

1. Security ownership of certain record/beneficial owners	
 

As of February 28, 2022, the following are known to the Company to be directly or indirectly the 

record and/or beneficial owners of more than 5% of the Company’s voting securities: 

 

Title of 
class 

Name and Address of 
Record Owner & 

Relationship with Issuer 

Name of Beneficial 
Owner & 

Relationship  with 
Record Owner 

Citizenship Number of  Shares Held Percentage 

Common 

BDO Unibank, Inc. together 
with its wholly-owned 
subsidiary BDO Capital & 
Investment Corporation 
BDO Corporate Center, 7899 
Makati Avenue, Makati City 
BDO Unibank, Inc. is the 

Record and 
beneficial 
(affiliate and 
majority 
stockholder) 

Filipino 

 
1,914,712,207 

 
88.54% 
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parent company of  the Issuer 

Common 

PCD Nominee Corp. 
(“PCD”)  
29th Floor BDO Equitable 
Tower, 8751 Paseo de Roxas, 
Makati City 1226 
PCD has no relationship with 
the Issuer except as stockholder. 
PCD, being a nominee 
corporation, only holds legal 
title, not beneficial ownership 
of  the lodged shares. 

Various 

stockholders 

No stockholder 

owns more than 

5% of  the 

Company’s 

voting securities 

through PCD 

Filipino 

 

173,031,635 

 

8.00% 
 

Non-Filipino 584,821 0.03% 

 
The persons authorized to vote the shares of BDO Unibank, Inc. (“BDO Unibank”) are Ms. Teresita T. 
Sy and Mr. Nestor V. Tan.  
 
As of  February 28, 2022, the following stockholders own more than 5% of  BDO Unibank:  
 
Title of  
Class Name & Address of  Record Owner Citizenship Number of  BDO 

Shares Held Percentage 

Common 

and 

Preferred 

SM Investments Corporation*	
10th Floor, One E-com Center, 

Harbour Drive, Mall of Asia Complex, 

CBP-I-A, Pasay City 
Filipino 1,910,780,649* 38.99% 

Common 
PCD Nominee Corp. (Non-Filipino)	
29th Floor BDO Equitable Tower, 8751 

Paseo de Roxas, Makati City 1226 
Foreign  1,109,359,242 22.64% 

Common 
PCD Nominee Corp. (Filipino)	
29th Floor, BDO Equitable Tower, 8751 

Paseo de Roxas, Makati City 1226 
Filipino  

749,992,442** 15.30% 

Common 

and 

Preferred 

Sybase Equity Investments 
Corporation 	
10th Floor L.V. Locsin Building 
6752 Ayala Avenue, Makati City	

Filipino 631,410,292* 12.89% 

Common 
Multi-Realty Development 
Corporation	
10th Floor L.V. Locsin Building 
6752 Ayala Avenue, Makati City 

Filipino 291,513,036* 5.95% 

TOTAL (COMMON & PREFERRED)  
4,693,055,661  

 
95.77% 

* Inclusive of PCD-lodged shares 
** Exclusive of  PCD-lodged shares of  SM Investments Corporation, Multi-Realty Development Corporation and Sybase Equity 

Investments Corporation  
 

Security ownership of Management 
 

As of February 28, 2022, the total number of shares owned by the directors and Management of the 
Company as a group is 900 common shares, which is equivalent to 0.000042% of the total outstanding 
common shares of the Company. The Company’s directors and officers own the following Common 
Shares: 
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Title of  
Class 

Name of  Beneficial 
Owner 

Position Citizenship No. of  Shares Percentage  

Common Teresita T. Sy 
 

Chairperson Filipino 100 (D) 0.0000046% 

Common 
 
Manuel Z. Locsin 
Jr. 

Director and 
Officer-in-Charge  Filipino 100 (D) 0.0000046% 

Common Jesse H.T. Andres Independent 
Director Filipino 100 (D) 0.0000046% 

Common Ma. Leonora V. De 
Jesus 

Independent 
Director Filipino 100 (D) 0.0000046% 

Common Vicente S. Pérez, Jr. Independent 
Director Filipino 100 (D) 0.0000046% 

Common Luis S. Reyes Jr. Director, 
Treasurer Filipino 100 (D) 0.0000046% 

Common Nestor V. Tan Director Filipino 100 (D) 0.0000046% 

Common Exequiel P. 
Villacorta, Jr. 

Director Filipino 100 (D) 0.0000046% 

Common Walter C. Wassmer Director Filipino 100 (D) 0.0000046% 
 Total   900 0.000042% 

 
Directors and officers of the Company are required to report to the Company any acquisition or disposition 
of the Company’s shares within three (3) business days from the date of the transaction. As prescribed by 
the Disclosure Rules of the PSE, the Company shall disclose to the PSE any acquisition or disposition of 
its shares by its directors and officers within five (5) trading days from the transaction. Under Section 23 of 
the Securities Regulation Code (“SRC”), the Company shall likewise disclose to SEC within ten (10) days 
after the close of each calendar month thereafter, if there has been a change in such ownership of shares by 
directors and officers at the close of the calendar month and such changes in his ownership as have occurred 
during such calendar month. 

2. Voting Trust  

There are no voting trust shares or shares issued pursuant to a Voting Trust Agreement registered with the 
Company. 
 

3. Changes in Control 

There has been no change in control of the Company since the beginning of the last fiscal year to date.  
 
The previously disclosed agreement by BDO Unibank and its subsidiary BDO Capital & Investment 
Corporation with third party Buyers for the sale of shares in BDOLF did not push through due to non-
completion of certain conditions to closing. 
 
 
ITEM 5.  DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) is empowered to direct, manage and supervise, 
under its collective responsibility, the affairs of the Company. The members of the Board are elected 
annually by the stockholders to hold office for a term of one (1) year, and shall serve until their respective 
successors have been elected and qualified.  
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Below is the list of the incumbent members of the Board and all persons nominated to be part of the Board, 
and the corporate officers and their business experience during the past five (5) years:  

TERESITA T. SY 
Chairperson 
71 years old, Filipino 
 
Ms. Sy was elected to the Board of  Directors of  the Company on September 20, 2005 and currently 
serves as Chairperson of  the Board. She is also the Chairperson of  the Board of  Directors of  BDO 
Unibank, Inc., where she has been a member since 1977. Concurrently, she serves as the Chairperson 
and/or Director of  various subsidiaries and affiliates of  BDO Unibank such as BDO Private Bank, 
Inc., BDO Capital & Investment Corporation, BDO Foundation, Inc., and BDO Life Assurance 
Company, Inc. Ms. Sy also serves as Advisor to the Board of  BDO Network Bank, Inc.   
 
Ms. Sy is the Vice Chairperson of  SM Investments Corporation (PLC) and Adviser to the Board of  SM 
Prime Holdings, Inc. (PLC).  She also sits as Chairperson of  SM Retail, Inc.  A graduate of  Assumption 
College with a Bachelor of  Arts and Science degree in Commerce major in Management, she brings to 
the board her diverse expertise in banking and finance, retail merchandising, mall and real estate 
development. 

 
 
MANUEL Z. LOCSIN, JR. 
Director & Officer-in-Charge 
64 years old, Filipino 

 
Mr. Locsin was elected to the Board of Directors of the Company on May 12, 2021.  He was seconded 
from BDO Unibank, Inc. to the Company as Senior Vice President/Officer-in-Charge on May 1, 2021.  
He concurrently serves as Director & Officer-in-Charge of BDO Finance Corporation and BDO 
Rental, Inc.  Prior to his secondment from BDO Unibank, Inc., Mr. Locsin was Senior Vice President 
and Head of Institutional Banking Group-Corporate Banking 1 of BDO Unibank, Inc. since February 
2012. He has more than 20 years of experience in credit lending. Prior to BDO, he was with the Account 
Management Group of Allied Banking Corporation and International Corporate Bank. He holds a 
Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from De La Salle University. 

 
 
LUIS S. REYES, JR. 
Director & Treasurer 
64 years old, Filipino 
 

Mr. Reyes was first elected to the Board of Directors of the Company on April 18, 2012 and was 
appointed as Treasurer on April 23, 2014.  He is concurrently the Executive Vice President for Investor 
Relations and Corporate Planning of BDO Unibank, Inc. He is also the Treasurer of BDO Finance 
Corporation, Director and Treasurer of BDO Rental, Inc., Director of BDO Strategic Holdings, Inc. 
and BDORO Europe Ltd., and Chairman of Nashville Holdings, Inc.  Before joining BDO, Mr. Reyes 
was a First Vice President of Far East Bank & Trust Company, Trust Banking Group. He holds a 
Bachelor of Science degree in Business Economics from the University of the Philippines.  

 
 
NESTOR V. TAN 
Director 
63 years old, Filipino 
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Mr. Tan was first elected to the Board of Directors of the Company on January 23, 2007. He is the 
President and CEO of BDO Unibank, Inc., and concurrently holds the following positions in the 
BDO Group: Chairmanship of BDO Strategic Holdings, Inc. and BDO Network Bank, Inc.; Vice 
chairmanships and/or directorships in BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc., BDO Capital & Investment 
Corporation, BDO Finance Corporation, BDO Life Assurance Company, Inc., BDO Private Bank, 
Inc., and SM Keppel Land, Inc., and; Trusteeship of BDO Foundation, Inc. 
 
In addition, he is currently the Chairman of the De La Salle University Board of Trustees, Chairman 
of Bancnet, the operator of the electronic payment system, InstaPay, and the ATM switching utility 
for Philippine banks, and; Chairman of Mastercard Asia Pacific Advisory Board.  He is the past 
president and chairman, and current Director of the Bankers Association of the Philippines. 
 
Prior to joining BDO Unibank, Mr. Tan was Chief Operating Officer of the Financial Institutions 
Services Group of BZW, the investment-banking subsidiary of the Barclays Group.  His banking career 
spans nearly four decades and includes posts at global financial institutions, among them Mellon Bank 
in Pittsburgh, PA; Bankers Trust Company in New York, NY; and the Barclays Group in New York 
and London.  He holds a bachelor’s degree in Commerce from De La Salle University and an MBA 
from the Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania. 

 
 
EXEQUIEL P. VILLACORTA, JR. 
Non-Executive Director 
76 years old, Filipino 
 

Mr. Villacorta was first elected to the Board of  Directors of  the Company on May 24, 2006.  He is 
currently Director of  Premium Leisure Corp. and BDO Finance Corporation. He is also a member of  
the Board of  Trustees of  Bayan Academy. 
 
Mr. Villacorta was formerly director of  Equitable PCI Bank, Inc. from 2005 to 2006, EBC Insurance 
Brokerage, Inc., Maxicare Healthcare Corporation, and Philab Holdings, Inc.  He was also the Chairman 
of  EBC Strategic Holdings Corporation, EBC Investments, Inc., Jardine Equitable Finance 
Corporation, Strategic Property Holdings, Inc., PCIB Properties, Inc., Equitable Data Center, Inc. and 
PCI Automation Center, Inc.  He was previously President and CEO of  Banco De Oro Universal Bank 
and TA Bank of  the Philippines, and was Vice President of  Private Development Corporation of  the 
Philippines.  He was Senior Adviser and BSP Controller of  Equitable PCI Bank, Inc. and PBCom; and 
Adviser to the Board of  PCI Capital Corporation.  Mr. Villacorta holds a Bachelor of  Science degree 
in Business Administration from De La Salle University and a Master’s degree in Business Management 
from Asian Institute of  Management. 

 
 
WALTER C. WASSMER 
Director 
63 years old, Filipino 
 

Mr. Wassmer was elected to the Board of Directors of Company on November 17, 1999. He is the 
Senior Executive Vice President and Head of the Institutional Banking Group of BDO Unibank, Inc.  
He is also the Director of BDO Capital & Investment Corporation and BDO Finance Corporation. 
Previously, Mr. Wassmer was the Chairman and Officer-In-Charge of BDO Elite Savings Bank, Inc., 
(formerly GE Money Bank, Inc.) and held directorships in MMPC Auto Financial Services, Inc., MDB 
Land, Inc., Mabuhay Vinyl Corporation, and Banco De Oro Savings Bank, Inc. (formerly Citibank 
Savings, Inc.).  He holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Commerce from De La Salle University.   
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VICENTE S. PÉREZ, JR. 
Independent Director 

63 years old, Filipino 
 

Mr. Pérez was elected to the Board of Directors of the Company on April 7, 2017, and is the Chairman 

of the Company’s Risk Management Committee.  He is currently an Independent Director of BDO 

Unibank, Inc., BDO Finance Corporation and DoubleDragon Properties Corp. He is also a Non-

Executive Director of Singapore Technologies Telemedia Pte Ltd. Mr. Pérez is currently the Chairman 

of the Alternergy Group, Philippine renewable power companies in wind, hydro and solar.  He was 

Philippine Energy Secretary from 2001 to 2005.  Mr. Pérez briefly served in early 2001 as 

Undersecretary at the Department of Trade and Industry and as Managing Head of the Board of 

Investments.   
 

Prior to his government service, Mr. Pérez had 17 years banking experience, first in Latin America 

debt restructuring at Mellon Bank in Pittsburg, and later in debt capital markets in emerging countries 

at Lazard in London, New York and Singapore.  At 35, he became General Partner at New York 

investment bank Lazard Fréres as head of its Emerging Markets Group.  He was Managing Director 

of Lazard Asia in Singapore from 1995 until 1997, when he co-founded Next Century Partners, a 

private equity firm based in Singapore.  In 2005, he was briefly a government appointed director pf 

Philippine National Bank until its privatization.  In September 2020, Mr. Pérez was appointed 

Honorary Consul of the Kingdom of Bhutan in the Philippines. 
 

Mr. Pérez obtained his Masters in Business Administration from the Wharton Business School of the 

University of Pennsylvania in 1983 and a Bachelor’s degree in Business Economics from the University 

of the Philippines in 1979. He was a 2005 World Fellow at Yale University where he lectured an MBA 

class on renewable power at the Yale School of Management. 
 
 
JESSE H.T. ANDRES 

Independent Director 

57 years old, Filipino 
 

Atty. Andres was elected to the Board of Directors of the Company on September 20, 2005, and is 

presently the Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee, Nomination Committee, and the 

Related Party Transactions Committee, and a member of the Company’s Board Audit Committee and 

Risk Management Committee.  Moreover, he also serves as Independent Director of BDO Network 

Bank, Inc.  He is likewise a Director in Benguet Corporation, a publicly listed company (PLC).  In 

September 2004, he was appointed member of the Board of Trustees of the Government Service 

Insurance System (GSIS) where he also served as the Chairman of the Corporate Governance 

Committee for six (6) years. He was also Chairman of the Board of GSIS Family Bank from June 2007 

to October 2010.  Since July 1, 2011, he has been the Managing Partner of the Andres Padernal & Paras 

Law Offices. From 1996 to 2003, he was a Partner at PECABAR Law Offices, where he became Co-

Head of the Litigation Department in 2001. He was also Chief of Staff (Undersecretary) of the Office 

of the Vice-President (2004-2010).  Previously, he was Senior Manager of the Philippine Exporters’ 

Foundation, and Board Secretary of the Department of Trade and Industry’s Garments and Textile 

Export Board.  Atty. Andres holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from the School of 

Economics, University of the Philippines (U.P.) and a Bachelor of Laws degree from the U.P. College 

of Law.  
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MA. LEONORA V. DE JESUS 
Independent Director 
70 years old, Filipino 
 

Ms. De Jesus was first elected to the Board of  Directors of  the Company on May 12, 2008.  She is 
presently the Chairperson of  the Company’s Board Audit Committee, and a member of  the Corporate 
Governance Committee, Nomination Committee, and Related Party Transactions Committee. She is 
also an Independent Director of  BDO Network Bank, Inc. and STI Education Systems Holdings, Inc. 
Ms. De Jesus also serves as Director of  Risks, Opportunities Assessment and Management (ROAM), 
Inc. In addition, she is an accredited SEC trainer on corporate governance.  In the past, Ms. De Jesus 
was an Independent Director of  BDO Capital & Investment Corporation, Equitable Savings Bank, PCI 
Capital Corporation, BDO Elite Savings Bank, Inc. (formerly GE Money Bank, Inc.), and SM 
Development Corporation. She was formerly the University President of  the Pamantasan ng Lungsod 
ng Maynila and was a professorial lecturer at the University of  the Philippines, Diliman, and at the De 
La Salle Graduate School of  Business and Governance. She was also a member of  the Board of  
Governors of  the Philippine National Red Cross.  Ms. De Jesus was a trustee of  the Government 
Service Insurance System (GSIS) from 1998 until 2004 and was a member of  the cabinets of  President 
Corazon C. Aquino, President Fidel V. Ramos and President Joseph E. Estrada.  She has had trainings 
in Housing Finance at Wharton School of  Business, and Essentials of  Portfolio Management at the 
New York Institute of  Finance.  She holds Bachelor’s, Master’s, and Doctorate degrees in Psychology 
from the University of  the Philippines.  

 
 
JOSEPH JASON M. NATIVIDAD 
Corporate Secretary 
49 years old, Filipino 
 

Atty. Natividad was appointed Corporate Secretary of the Company on May 31, 2010. He concurrently 
holds the position of Corporate Secretary of BDO Network Bank Inc. and Agility Group of Companies 
in the Philippines.  He is also the Assistant Corporate Secretary of BDO Insurance Brokers, Inc.  He 
served as Assistant Corporate Secretary of Equitable PCI Bank from September 2006 to June 2007, 
prior to its merger with Banco de Oro; BDO Capital & Investment Corporation, BDO Securities 
Corporation, and BDO Rental, Inc.  Atty. Natividad is currently a Partner of the Factoran & Natividad 
Law Offices.  He has been in law practice for 23 years, mainly in the fields of corporate law and 
environmental law.  He has a Bachelor’s degree in Management, major in Legal Management, from the 
Ateneo de Manila University, and obtained his Juris Doctor degree from the Ateneo de Manila 
University School of Law.     

 
 
MA. CECILIA SALAZAR-SANTOS 
Assistant Corporate Secretary 
56 years old, Filipino 

 
Atty. Santos was appointed as Assistant Corporate Secretary of  the Company since October 1, 2015. 
She is concurrently the First Vice President and Alternate Corporate Information Officer of  BDO 
Unibank.  She is also the Assistant Corporate Secretary of  BDO Private Bank, Inc. and BDO Network 
Bank, Inc.  Further, she is the Corporate Secretary of  BDO Finance Corporation, BDO Strategic 
Holdings, Inc., BDO Rental, Inc., Equimark-NFC Development Corporation, Armstrong Securities, 
Inc., Averon Holdings Corporation, Nashville Holdings, Inc., and Ivory Homes, Inc. She was formerly 
the Corporate Secretary of  BDO Nomura Securities, Inc., and Director and Corporate Secretary of  
PCI Insurance Brokers, Inc., PCI Management Consultants, Inc., PCI Travel Corporation, The 
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Executive Banclounge, Inc., and The Sign of  the Anvil, Inc. She is currently assigned at the Legal 
Services and Corporate Secretary Group as Head of  the Team providing legal assistance to BDO’s 
Support Groups and Subsidiaries and in managing BDO’s Intellectual Property (BDO and BDO-related 
marks), and as Head of  the Team providing corporate secretariat services to BDO Unibank and all its 
Subsidiaries. In 2017, 2018, 2019, and 2020, she was featured in the World Trademark Review 300 as 
among the World’s Top 300 Leading Trademark Professionals. She holds a Bachelor of  Arts degree 
major in Economics from University of  Sto. Tomas and finished law at San Beda College of  Law 
(Dean’s Lister).	

 
 
KATHERINE U. RESARI 
Vice President / Compliance and Corporate Governance Officer 
Filipino, 47 years old 
 

Ms. Resari was appointed as Compliance and Corporate Governance Officer of the company on March 
2, 2021. She is also the Company’s Data Protection Officer, Information Security Officer and 
Corporate Governance Officer. She is concurrently the Risk and Compliance Officer for both BDO 
Finance Corp. and Bdo Rental, Inc. Prior to joining Bdo Leasing, Ms Resari was a Vice President and 
Team Head under Credit Policy and Portfolio Review of the Risk Management Group of BDO 
Unibank for over 5 years. She started her banking career with PCIBank in 1995 under the Officer’s 
Development Program and became an Account Officer in Specialized Lending, Remedial Management 
and Asset Management. She joined BDO Unibank in 2006 as Account Officer for Remedial 
Management for corporate and commercial accounts. Ms. Resari graduated from the University of the 
Philippines Diliman with a Bachelor of Science Degree in Business Administration and obtained her 
Master’s Degree in Business Administration from De La Salle University. 

 

Nomination of Directors  

The procedure for nomination of directors shall be as follows:  

§ All nominations for directors shall be submitted in writing to the Corporate Secretary of the 
Company from February 18 to March 7, 2022. Nominations that are not submitted within such 
nomination period shall not be valid. Only a stockholder of record entitled to notice of and to vote 
at the regular or special meeting of the stockholders for the election of directors shall be qualified 
to be nominated and elected as a director of the Company.  
 

§ All nominations shall be signed by the nominating stockholders together with the acceptance and 
conformity by the would-be nominees in accordance with Rule 38 of the SRC.  
 

§ Nominations received from February 18 to March 7, 2022 shall be submitted to the Company’s 
Nomination Committee, which shall determine the qualifications of the nominees for directors and 
independent directors.  
 

§ The Nomination Committee meets at least once a year to (a) open the nomination period for the 
submission of nominations for directors, (b) pre-screen and check the qualifications of all persons 
nominated to be elected to the Board from the pool of candidates submitted by the nominating 
stockholders, and (c) approve the final list of nominees for presentation and approval by the 
shareholders of the Company.  
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§ The Nomination Committee shall pre-screen the nominees based on their qualifications as provided 
in the Company’s Manual of Good Corporate Governance and Rule 38 of the SRC.  
 

§ The Nomination Committee shall prepare a Final List of Candidates which shall contain all the 
information about all the nominees for directors and independent directors. Only nominees whose 
names appear in the Final List of Candidates shall be eligible for election as either independent or 
regular directors. No other nomination shall be entertained after the expiration of the period for 
the submission of nominations. No further nomination shall be entertained or allowed on the floor 
during the actual meeting of the stockholders (Section 8, Article III, By- laws).  

The Nomination Committee is composed of the following members:  

1. Jesse Hermogenes T. Andres (Independent Director) – Chairman 
2. Ma. Leonora V. De Jesus (Independent Director) –  Member 
3. Vicente S. Perez Jr. (Independent Director) – Member 

All newly-elected directors are required to undergo an orientation program within three (3) months from 
date of election. This is intended to familiarize the new directors on their statutory/fiduciary roles and 
responsibilities in the Board and Committees, the Company’s strategic plans, enterprise risks, group 
structures, business activities, compliance programs, and Corporate Governance Manual. All directors are 
also encouraged to participate in continuing education programs.  

For 2022-2023, below is the final list of nominees for election to the Board of Directors, including 
nominees for independent directors:  
 

Luis S. Reyes, Jr. 
Lazaro Jerome C. Guevarra  
Manuel Z. Locsin Jr. 
Elmer B. Serrano  
Geneva T. Gloria 
Melanie S. Belen 
Vicente S. Perez Jr. (Independent) 
Luis Ma. G. Uranza (Independent) 
Ismael G. Estela Jr. (Independent) 

 
The profiles of the nominees are appended to this  Definitive Information Statement, including the 
respective Certifications on the Qualifications and Disqualifications of Independent Directors of 
nominated independent directors. 
 
Family Relationships  

There are no family relationships up to the fourth civil degree either by consanguinity or affinity among 
directors, executive officers, or persons nominated or chosen by the Registrant to become directors or 
executive officers.  

Involvement of  Directors and Executive Officers in Certain Legal Proceedings 
 
To the Company’s knowledge, none of its directors or executive officers is named or is involved in any legal 
proceeding during the last five (5) years, which will have any material effect on the Company, its operations, 
reputation, or financial condition. 
 



	
14 

Specifically, to the Company’s knowledge, none of its directors and senior executives have been subject of 
the following legal proceedings during the last five (5) years: 
 

i. bankruptcy petition by or against any business of which such director or senior executive was a 
general partner or executive officer either at the time of bankruptcy or within two (2) years prior to 
that time; 

 
ii. a conviction by final judgment, in a criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign, or being subject to a 

pending criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign; 
 

iii. to any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court 
of competent jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring, 
suspending or otherwise limiting his involvement in any type of business, securities, commodities 
or banking activities; 

 
iv. being found by a domestic or foreign court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the SEC or 

comparable foreign body, or a domestic or  foreign exchange or other organized trading, market or 
self-regulatory organization, to have violated the securities or commodities law or regulation, and 
the judgment has not been reversed, suspended or vacated. 

 
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions  

 
The Company has adopted a comprehensive and extensive policy for its related party transactions in 
compliance with the regulatory requirements of  not only the SEC, but also of  the BSP, the Company being 
majority-owned by a bank.  Pursuant to the SEC Memorandum Circular No. 10, series of 2019 (Rules on 
Material Related Party Transactions for Publicly-Listed Companies), the Company adopted a Material 
Related Party Transactions Policy on October 2019. A copy of the Policy is available in the Company’s 
website. 
 
Related Parties broadly refer to the following: Directors, Officers, Stockholders, Related Interest (DOSRI) 
as defined under regulations, Subsidiaries, Affiliates and Other Related Parties acting for themselves, as 
representatives or agents for others, or as guarantors, sureties, endorsers, mortgagors, pledgors, assignors, 
or in any capacity in which (i) they become obligated or may be obligated to the Company  to pay or its 
equivalent or by any means whatsoever or (ii) there is a transfer of  resources, services or obligations 
between the Company  and the Related Party. In considering each possible related party relationship, 
attention is directed to the substance of  the relationship and not merely on the legal form. 
 
In the ordinary course of business, the Company enter into transactions with BDO Unibank and other 
affiliates.  These transactions are made substantially on the same terms as with other individuals and 
businesses of comparable risks.  
 
Policies and procedures have been put in place to manage potential conflicts of interests arising from related 
party transactions.  Single and aggregated material related party transactions follow strict approval process. 
The Company’s Related Party Transactions Committee composed of independent and non-executive 
directors, reviews and scrutinizes the terms and conditions of covered transactions to ensure that these are 
made on an arms-length basis, that no preferential treatment is accorded, and they are negotiated as a regular 
business transaction in accordance with regulations. These transactions are then elevated to the Company’s 
Board of Directors for confirmation and approval. Directors and officers who have interest in the 
transactions abstain from participating in the discussion. The details of the deliberations are included in the 
minutes of the Board and Board Committee meetings. Approved related party transactions are then properly 
tagged for monitoring and reporting of exposures. 
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The Company discloses details of material related party transactions in its Annual Stockholders’ Meeting 
and in its Annual Report, and likewise submits advisement reports thereof to regulators as necessary. 

Disagreement with a Director  

No director has resigned or declined to stand for re-election to the Board since the date of the last annual 
shareholders’ meeting because of a disagreement with the Company on any matter relating to the Company’s 
operations, policies or practices.  

There are no other employees who are not Executive Officers who are expected by the Company 
to make a significant contribution to its business. 
 
 
ITEM 6.  COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
 
A.  Compensation of Directors 
 
 Each director is entitled to receive per diem allowance for attending board and committee meetings.  
The Board approves all compensation and remuneration schemes for the senior officers of the Company. 
As provided by law, the total compensation of directors shall not exceed 10% of the net income before 
income tax of the Company for the preceding year. 
 
 Each member of the Board of Directors and Advisor received the following amounts as 
Directors/Advisor for the year 2021:  
  
 

Name of Director Amount 
1. Teresita T. Sy P             0.00 
2. Nestor V. Tan            0.00 
3. Roberto E. Lapid 
4. Manuel Z. Locsin Jr, 

           0.00 
0.00 

5. Jesse H.T. Andres 661,111.12 
6. Ma. Leonora V. De Jesus 661,111.12 
7. Jeci A. Lapus  333,333.33 
8. Vicente S. Perez Jr. 655,555.56 
9. Exequiel P. Villacorta Jr  599,999.99 
10. Antonio N. Cotoco            0.00 
11. Walter C. Wassmer            0.00 
12. Luis S. Reyes            0.00 
13. Edmundo L. Tan (Advisor) 99,999.99 
Total P 3,011,111.11  

 
Above-mentioned amounts include total fees and per diems received by the Directors for their 

attendance in meetings of the Board. Executives of BDO Unibank and BDOLF did not receive any 
directors’ fees nor per diems as directors of the Company.  

 
There is no distinction on the fee for a committee chairman and member. Other than these fees, 

the non-executive directors do not receive any share options, profit sharing, bonus, or other forms of 
emoluments. 
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 The Company may grant to the directors any compensation other than per diem upon approval of 
the shareholders representing at least a majority of the outstanding capital stock.  
 
B. Executive Compensation  
 
 It is the objective of the Company to attract, motivate and retain high-performing executives 
necessary to maintain its leadership position in the industry.  To be competitive in the marketplace, the 
Company offers a remuneration package composed of fixed salary, benefits and long-term incentives. Below 
are the compensation details of the directors and key executive officers of the Company: 
 
(1) President and four most highly compensated executive officers 

 

 Year 
Annual 

Compensation  
(in Million Pesos) 

Other Compensation 

President (OIC) and 
four most highly 
compensated executive 
officers 

2022 
(estimate) none* none* 

2021 none* none* 
2020 24.08** none 

   
Year Name Position/Title 

2020 

Roberto E. Lapid President 
Ma. Theresa M. Soriano First Vice President 
Rosario C. Crisostomo First Vice President 

Angelita C. Tad-y First Vice President 
Frieda Concepcion T. Jimenez First Vice President 

 
* Except for the Corporate Secretary, all the other officers namely OIC, Treasurer, Compliance Officer, 
and Assistant Corporate Secretary are seconded from BDO Unibank and BDO Finance Corp. and 
receives their compensation directly from these companies. The Corporate Secretary in turn, is an 
external counsel retained by BDO Unibank, which directly pays for his compensation. 

 
**The above compensation includes the usual bonus paid to officers. Except for salaries, allowances, 
retirement benefits provided under BDO Unibank’s retirement plan, and company-wide benefit 
extended to all qualified employees under BDO’s stock option plan, there is no separate stock option, 
stock warrant or other security compensation arrangement between BDO and its individual officers. 

 
There are no actions to be taken with regard to election, any compensatory plan, contract, or 
arrangement, bonus or profit-sharing, change in pension/ retirement plan, granting of or extension 
of any options, warrants or rights to purchase any securities. 
 
 
ITEM 7.  INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 
 
The present external auditor of the Company, the accountancy and auditing firm of P&A Grant Thornton 
(“P&A”), is recommended for re-appointment as the external auditor of BDOLF for 2022. P&A has been 
the Company’s Independent Public Accountants for the past five (5) years.  P&A was first appointed 
external auditor of the Company in 2007 and has not resigned, been dismissed, or its services ceased since 
its appointment. There was no event in the past where P&A and the Company had any disagreement with 
regard to any matter relating to accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing 
scope or procedure.  
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Representatives of P&A will be present during the annual meeting and will be given the opportunity to 
make a statement if they desire to do so. They are also expected to respond to appropriate questions if 
needed. 

The Company engaged Mr. Romualdo V. Murcia III, Partner of Punongbayan & Araullo (P&A), for the 
examination of the Company’s financial statements starting year 2019 up to 2021. Previously, the Company 
engaged Mr. Leonardo D. Cuaresma, Jr., Partner of P&A , for the examination of the Company’s 2018 
financial statements. The Company is compliant with the rotation requirement of its external auditor’s 
certifying partner as required under Revised SRC Rule 68 (3)(b)(ix). 

The Audit Committee approves and proposes for management and Board approval the appointment and 
removal of the Company’s internal and external auditor.  

Audit and Audit-Related Fees  

The aggregate fees billed for each of the last two (2) fiscal years for professional services rendered by the 
external auditor was P0.319 Million for the year 2021 and P0.854 Million for the year 2020. These fees cover 
services rendered by the external auditor for audit of the financial statements and other services in 
connection with statutory and regulatory filings for fiscal year 2021 and 2020. 
 

Tax Fees and Other Fees  

No other fees were paid to the auditing firm of P&A Grant Thornton (“P&A”) for the last two (2) fiscal 
years. 

It is the policy of the Company that all audit findings are presented to the Board Audit Committee which 
reviews and makes recommendations to the Board on actions to be taken thereon. The Board passes upon 
and approves the Audit Committee’s recommendations.  

The members of the Audit Committee of the Company are as follows:  

1. Ma. Leonora V. De Jesus (Independent Director) –  Chairperson 
2. Jesse Hermogenes T. Andres (Independent Director) – Member 
3. Vicente S. Perez Jr. (Independent Director) – Member 

 
ITEM 8.  COMPENSATION PLANS  
 
No action will be taken with respect to any plan pursuant to which cash or non-cash compensation may be 
paid or distributed.  
 

C.   ISSUANCE AND EXCHANGE OF SECURITIES 
 
ITEM 9.  AUTHORIZATION OR ISSUANCE OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN FOR EXCHANGE 
 
No action will be presented for shareholders’ approval at this annual meeting which involves authorization 
or issuance of any securities. 
 
ITEM 10.  MODIFICATION OR EXCHANGE OF SECURITIES 
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No action will be presented for shareholders’ approval at this annual meeting which involves the 
modification of any class of the Company’s securities, or the issuance of one class of the Company’s 
securities in exchange for outstanding securities of another class. 
 
ITEM 11.  FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION 

The Audited Financial Statements of the Company and the Management Report, incorporating the 
Management’s Discussion & Analysis, are attached as Annexes “A” and “B”.  

Representatives of  the Company’s external auditor, P&A, are expected to be present at the  meeting, and 
they will have the opportunity to make a statement if  they desire to do so and are expected to be available 
to respond to appropriate questions from the shareholders.	The Company has no material disagreement 
with P&A on any matter of  accounting principle or practices or disclosures in its financial statements.	
 
ITEM 12.  MERGERS, CONSOLIDATIONS, ACQUISITIONS AND SIMILAR MATTERS 
No action will be presented for shareholders’ approval which involves a merger, consolidation, acquisition, 
or similar matters. 

ITEM 13.  ACQUISITION OR DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY 
 
No action involving the acquisition or disposition of  property of  the Company will be presented for 
shareholders’ approval at this annual meeting. 
 
ITEM 14.  RESTATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 
No action which involves the restatement of  any of  the Company’s assets, capital or surplus account will 
be presented for shareholders’ approval at this annual meeting. 
 

D. OTHER MATTERS 
 

ITEM 15.  ACTION WITH RESPECT TO REPORTS  
 
The following matters with respect to minutes of stockholders of the Company and resolutions adopted by 
its Board of Directors, will be presented for approval during the stockholders’ meeting: 
  
(a)         Minutes of the annual meeting of stockholders held on 12 April 2019 and the special meeting of 

stockholders on 21 July 2020. 
  

(b)        General ratification of the acts of the Board of Directors and the Management during their term 
commencing from the date of the last annual stockholders’ meeting up to the date of this year’s 
meeting except those already ratified by shareholders during the last special stockholders’ meeting. 

 
THESE ACTS COVERED BY RESOLUTIONS DULY ADOPTED BY THE BOARD IN THE NORMAL COURSE OF 
BUSINESS PERTAINING TO CREDIT TRANSACTIONS, APPROVING AUTHORITIES, DESIGNATION OF 
CORPORATE SIGNATORIES, REGULATORY COMPLIANCES, AND SIMILAR MATTERS SHALL BE SUBMITTED 
TO THE STOCKHOLDERS FOR THEIR RATIFICATION. THESE ACTS AND PROCEEDINGS ARE DESCRIBED IN 
THE MINUTES OF THE BOARD MEETINGS WHICH ARE AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION AT REASONABLE 
HOURS ON ANY BUSINESS DAY. SIGNIFICANT ACTS AND TRANSACTIONS ARE LIKEWISE COVERED BY 
APPROPRIATE DISCLOSURES WITH THE SEC AND THE PSE.  
 
(c)        Approval of the amendment of  the First Article of  Company’s Articles of  Incorporation and By-laws 
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to reflect the change in its corporate name from “BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc.” to “Dominion 
Holdings, Inc.” 

 
(d)  Amendment of  the company’s Articles of  Incorporation and By-Laws to reflect the new company 

name, Dominion Holdings, Inc. 
 
Appended to this Information Statement are the abovementioned minutes of the Annual Stockholders’ 
Meeting of the Company held on 12 April 2019 and the Special Stockholders’ Meeting of the Company held 
on 21 July 2020, which fully reflect the proceedings during the meeting in accordance with Section 49 of 
the Revised Corporation Code, including: 
  

1. a description of the voting and vote tabulation procedures used in the previous meeting, including 
the engagement and presence of external auditor P&A, which was especially engaged as third-party 
validator for the meetings; 
 

2. a description of the opportunity given to stockholders to ask questions and a record of the questions 
asked and answers given; and 
  

3. the list of directors and officers and a description of stockholders who participated in the meeting, 
duly certified to by the Corporate Secretary, verified by the Company’s Stock Transfer Agent, BDO 
Stock Transfer, and validated by P&A. The office of the Corporate Secretary has in its custody the 
full list and names of stockholders who participated in the 2019 Annual Stockholders’ Meeting and 
the virtual 2020 Special Stockholders’ Meeting.   

  
These minutes were posted in the Company’s website within twenty-four (24) hours from adjournment of 
the meetings. 
  
For the period ended December 31, 2021, there were no self-dealings or related party transactions by any 
director which require disclosure. 
  
There is likewise no material information on the current stockholders and their voting rights requiring 
disclosure. 
  
All stockholders as of Record Date are entitled to vote in absentia for this meeting by registering and voting 
through the Company’s secure online voting facility. For the detailed discussion of stockholders’ voting 
rights and voting procedures, please refer to Item 19 (Voting Procedures) and the “Guidelines for 
Participation via Remote Communication and Voting in Absentia” appended to this Information 
Statement. 
 
 
 
ITEM 16.   MATTERS NOT REQUIRED TO BE SUBMITTED 
 
There is no action to be taken with respect to any matter which is not required to be submitted to a vote of 
security holders.  
 
ITEM 17.   AMENDMENTS OF CHARTER, BY-LAWS OR OTHER DOCUMENTS 
 
Stockholders have the right to approve or disapprove any proposed amendment to the Articles of  
Incorporation and By-laws of  the Company. Dissenting stockholders may exercise their appraisal rights as 
set forth in Item 2. 
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On 01 March 2022, the Board of  Directors approved the amendment of  the First Article of  Company’s 
Articles of  Incorporation and its By-laws to reflect the change in its corporate name from “BDO Leasing 
and Finance, Inc.” to “Dominion Holdings, Inc.” in line with the strategic direction of  its principal 
shareholder to convert BDOLF into a Holding company as previously approved by the Board and the 
stockholders. 
 
The name “Dominion Holdings, Inc.” will give BDOLF flexibility for its business plans. As 
disclosed, the principal stockholder is contemplating keeping BDOLF, re-purposed as a holding 
company, for its own investment purpose or, depending on the terms of  outstanding offers, pursue 
the sale of  its shares with other prospective buyers. 
 
These proposed amendments to the Articles of Incorporation require the vote of stockholders representing 
at least two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock while the By-laws amendment require at least a 
majority of the outstanding capital stock of the Company. The proposed amendments will be presented for 
stockholder approval during the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting. 
 
ITEM 18.  OTHER PROPOSED ACTION 
 
Other than the matters indicated in the Notice and Agenda included in this Information Statement, there 
are no other actions proposed to be taken at the meeting.	
 
ITEM 19.  VOTING PROCEDURES 
 
Except as otherwise provided by law, each stockholder of  record shall be entitled at every meeting of  
stockholders to one vote for each share of  stock standing in his name on the stock books of  this Company, 
which vote may be given personally or by attorney or authorized in writing. In accordance with the process 
on proxy validation, the instrument authorizing an attorney or proxy to act shall be exhibited to the 
Corporate Secretary if  he shall so request. A majority vote of the shares present and constituting a quorum 
shall decide any matter submitted to the shareholders at the meeting, except in those cases where the law 
requires a greater number. 
 
 
 
There is no manner of voting prescribed in the By-laws of the Company.  
 
As discussed in Item 4, for this year’s meeting, the Board of Directors has adopted a resolution 
allowing stockholders to exercise their right to vote in absentia. Each common share of the 
Company is entitled to one (1) vote (each, a Voting Share/s) for each agenda item presented for 
stockholder approval, except in the election of directors where one (1) share is entitled to as many 
votes as there are directors to be elected.  Each stockholder may cast the vote to which the number 
of shares he owns entitles him, for as many persons as there are to be elected as directors, or he 
may accumulate or give to one candidate as many votes as the number of directors to be elected 
multiplied by the number of his shares shall equal, or he may distribute them on the same principle 
among as many candidates as he may see fit, provided that the whole number of votes cast by him 
shall not exceed the number of shares owned by him multiplied by the whole number of directors 
to be elected.  
 
The Corporate Secretary will be principally responsible for counting votes based on the number of shares 
entitled to vote owned by the stockholders who are present or represented by proxies at the Annual Meeting 
of the Stockholders. BDO Unibank – Trust and Investments Group, the Company’s stock transfer agent, 
in conjunction with P&A, the Company’s external auditor, both independent parties, are tasked to count 
votes on any matter property brought to the vote of the shareholders, including the election of directors.  
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For this year’s meeting, the Board of Directors approved the authority of stockholders to vote in absentia, 
the procedures for which are detailed in the “Guidelines for Participation via Remote Communication and 
Voting in Absentia” appended to this Information Statement. 
 
BDO Stock Transfer, the Company’s stock transfer agent, and P&A, specifically engaged for this meeting 
as third-party tabulator, will be present during the meeting. P&A, an independent party, is tasked to count 
and tabulate votes on any matter properly brought to the vote of  stockholders during the meeting. 

 
 
ITEM 20. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER 
MATTERS 
 
The principal market for the Company’s common equity is the Philippine Stock Exchange. 
 
The market prices of  the Company’s share are as follows: 
 

2020 High Low 2019 High Low 

January 24, 2020 
(Last trading 
date) 

3.35 
 

3.00 
 

1st  quarter 2.29 2.22 

   2nd quarter 2.42 2.32 

   3rd quarter 2.02 2.00 

   4th quarter 2.02 1.84 

2018 High Low 2017 High Low 

1st  quarter 3.21 2.23 1st quarter 3.96 3.95 

2nd quarter 2.84 2.83 2nd quarter 4.05 3.90 

3rd quarter 2.58 2.57 3rd quarter 4.08 4.05 

4th quarter 2.20 2.19 4th quarter 3.89 3.78 

 
As of  January 24, 2020 and December 27, 2019, the closing prices of  the Company’s shares was at 
P3.16 and P1.87, respectively.   
 
On February 13, 2020, the SEC issued an Order of  Suspension against BDOLF, suspending its 
Registration Statement (and Permit to Sell primary securities), the lifting of  which is subject to the 
submission of  an Amended Registration Statement (the Order). 
 
The Order was issued in light of  the Share Purchase Agreement dated 24 January 2020 entered into 
by BDO Unibank to sell its controlling stake in BDOLF to third parties and the subsequent 
amendment of  BDOLF’s primary business to a holding company. The SEC ruled that BDOLF’s 
Registration Statement as a leasing and financing company was no longer true and accurate. 
Hence, the SEC ordered the suspension and required the filing of  an Amended Registration 
Statement. The SEC furnished the PSE a copy of  the Order, and on this basis, the PSE imposed a 
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trading suspension of  BDOLF on February 14, 2020. 
 
As previously disclosed, BDOLF believes that there are no sufficient grounds for Order, especially 
since BDOLF does not have any ongoing offering to sell its securities to the public. On February 
24, 2020, the Company filed its request for reconsideration of  the Order and has sought guidance 
from the SEC on the requirement to amend its Registration Statement, if  so required and 
appropriate under applicable laws and regulations. To date, however, the request is still pending 
resolution by the SEC. 
 
In view of  the trading suspension by PSE, the total number of  stockholders of  the Company as of  
February 28, 2022 remains at one thousand one hundred three (1,103). Common shares outstanding 
in turn,  totaled 2,162,475,312. 
 
 
Holders 
 
  The Company's common stockholders, with their respective shareholdings as of  February 
28, 2021 are as follows:   
  

Name No. of  Shares Held % to Total 
BDO Unibank, Inc.1  1,914,711,807 88.542597% 
Various Stockholders (Public) 247,762,505 11.457403% 
 2,162,475,312 100.00000% 

 
The top 20 stockholders of  the Company as of  February 28, 2022 and December 31, 2021 

are as follows: 
 

Name of  Stockholders Securities Shares Held Total Outstanding 
BDO Unibank, Inc./Banco De Oro Unibank 
Inc.* 

Common 1,914,711,807 88.542597% 

PCD Nominee Corporation (Filipino) Common 247,643,223 11.129% 

PCI Leasing & Finance, Inc. Common 62,693,705 2.817% 
Samuel Uy Chua Common 21,000,000 0.944% 

Equitable Computer Services, Inc. A/C 
Cequit11 

Common 12,320,000 0.554% 

Marylen Castro Mateo Common 3,795,000 0.171% 
Jesselen Castro Verzosa Common 3,795,000 0.171% 

Samuel Uy Chua Common 3,011,150 0.135% 
Constantino Chua Common 2,497,200 0.112% 

Equitable Computer Services, Inc. Common 2,070,200 0.093% 

Mercury Group of  Companies, Inc. Common 1,089,165 0.049% 

 
1          *  Includes shares of affiliate, BDO 
Capital & Investment Corporation. Number of shares reflects both direct and indirect shareholdings 
 
 



	
23 

Name of  Stockholders Securities Shares Held Total Outstanding 

Constantino Chua &/or Willington Chua 
&/or George  W. Chua 

Common 1,020,000 0.046% 

Nardo R. Leviste Common 759,000 0.034% 

PCD Nominee Corporation (Foreign) Common 600,821 0.026% 

Willington/Constantino Chua Common 584,430 0.026% 

Willington Chua Common 508,530 0.023% 

Pablo Son Keng Go Common 455,400 0.02% 

Wilson Go Common 438,625 0.02% 

Lim Chin Ben Common 425,040 0.019% 

Sysmart Corporation Common 358,835 0.016% 

Abacus Capital & Investment Corp. Common 303,000 0.014% 
 
The top 20 stockholders of  the Company as of  December 31, 2021 are as follows: 
 

Name of  Stockholders Securities Shares Held Total Outstanding 

BDO Unibank, Inc./Banco De Oro Unibank 
Inc.* 

Common 1,914,711,807 88.542597% 

PCD Nominee Corporation (Filipino) Common 247,643,223 11.129% 

PCI Leasing & Finance, Inc. Common 62,693,705 2.817% 

Samuel Uy Chua Common 21,000,000 0.944% 

Equitable Computer Services, Inc. A/C 
Cequit11 

Common 12,320,000 0.554% 

Marylen Castro Mateo Common 3,795,000 0.171% 

Jesselen Castro Verzosa Common 3,795,000 0.171% 

Samuel Uy Chua Common 3,011,150 0.135% 

Constantino Chua Common 2,497,200 0.112% 

Equitable Computer Services, Inc. Common 2,070,200 0.093% 

Mercury Group of  Companies, Inc. Common 1,089,165 0.049% 

Constantino Chua &/or Willington Chua 
&/or 
 George  W. Chua 

Common 1,020,000 0.046% 

Nardo R. Leviste Common 759,000 0.034% 

PCD Nominee Corporation (Foreign) Common 600,821 0.026% 

Willington/Constantino Chua Common 584,430 0.026% 

Willington Chua Common 508,530 0.023% 

Pablo Son Keng Go Common 455,400 0.02% 

Wilson Go Common 438,625 0.02% 
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Lim Chin Ben Common 425,040 0.019% 

Sysmart Corporation Common 358,835 0.016% 

Abacus Capital & Investment Corp. Common 303,000 0.014% 
 *Includes shares of  affiliate, BDO Capital & Investment Corporation. Number of  shares reflects both direct and indirect shareholdings. 
 
There were no recent sales of  unregistered or exempt securities including recent issuance of  
securities constituting an exempt transaction. 
 
ITEM 21. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 
Corporate governance in BDOLF is about effective oversight, strict compliance with regulations, 
and sustainable value creation to promote the best interest of  its various stakeholders. 
 
BDOLF affirms its deep commitment to the highest standards of  corporate governance practice 
firmly anchored on the principles of  accountability, fairness, integrity, transparency and 
performance, consistently applied throughout the institution. BDOLF’s good market reputation 
has been built on the solid foundation of  an ethical corporate culture and responsible business 
conduct, underpinned by a well-structured and effective system of  governance. 
 
BDOLF complies, where appropriate, with the SEC Code of  Corporate Governance for Publicly-
Listed Companies and with the Enhanced Corporate Governance Guidelines for BSP-Supervised 
Financial Institutions. It follows, relevant international best practices of  corporate governance 
issued by globally recognized standards-setting bodies such as the Organization for Economic 
Cooperation and Development (OECD) and the ASEAN Corporate Governance Scorecard (ACGS) 
which serve as essential points of  reference. 
 
This report describes the highlights of  our corporate governance practices throughout the financial 
year ended December 31, 2021. 
 
Governance Structure 
 
Board of  Directors 
 
Responsibility for good governance lies with the Board. It is responsible for providing effective 
leadership and overall direction to foster the long-term success of  the Company. It oversees the 
business affairs of  the Company, reviews the strategic plans and performance targets, financial 
plans and budgets, key operational initiatives, capital expenditures, acquisitions and divestments, 
annual and interim financial statements, and corporate governance practices. It oversees 
management performance, the enterprise risk management, internal control systems, financial 
reporting and compliance, related party transactions, continuing director education, and 
succession plans for the Board and the Chief  Executive Officer (CEO)/Officer-in-Charge. It 
considers sustainability issues related to the environment and social factors as part of  its 
sustainable practices. 
 
The Board is composed of  eleven (11) seats with two vacancies as of  December 31, 20212 and aided 
by one Adviser.  The members of  the Board are all professionals with various expertise in fields 
relevant to BDOLF’s  strategic plans such as  marketing, strategy formulation, financing 
regulations, information technology, sustainability, and risk management. It is led by a Non-

 
Director Mr. Jeci Lapus passed away on July 11, 2021, while Mr. Antonio Cotoco resigned as Director effective December 31, 2021 
in view of his retirement from BDO.  
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Executive Chairperson with three (3) Independent Directors, three (3) Non-Executive Directors, 
and two (2) Executive Directors who are the Officer-in-Charge3 and Treasurer. 
 
The present composition of  the Board exceeds the minimum regulatory standards which require 
that independent and non-executive directors account for the majority. Independent and Non-
Executive Directors of  the Company comprise 64% (7 out of  11) of  the Board. With 3 seats 
allocated for Independent Directors or 27%,  the Company, a publicly-listed company, complies 
with Section 22 of  the Revised Corporation Code which prescribes that corporations vested with 
public interest shall have independent directors constituting at least 20% of  the Board of  Directors.   
Independent directors chair five (5) of  six (6) board committees, namely Risk Management, Board 
Audit, Corporate Governance, Related Party Transactions, and Nominations Committees. This 
provides independent and objective judgment on significant corporate matters and ensures that 
key issues and strategies are objectively reviewed, constructively challenged, thoroughly discussed 
and rigorously examined. 
 
The Board is aided by one Advisor who  is considered as integral part of  the Board and whose 
influence is akin to directors. His opinions and recommendations are taken into consideration by 
the Board members.  
 
The Board is responsible for the screening of  new directors through the Nominations Committee. 
The Nominations Committee Ieads the process of  identifying and evaluating the nominees for 
directors. It evaluates the balance, skills, knowledge and experience of  the existing Board and the 
requirements of  the Company. The result of  the evaluation determines the role and key attributes 
an incoming director should have. The Nominations Committee receives recommendations for 
potential candidates and uses, to the extent possible, external search firms or external databases 
in selecting the pool of  candidates for the new members of  the Board. The Nominations 
Committee recommends the most suitable candidate to the Board for appointment or election as 
director. 
 
For re-election of  incumbent directors, the Nominations Committee also considers the results of  
the most recent annual evaluation of  the performance of  the Board, Board Committees and peer 
evaluation made by the Board members and Advisor or by an independent third-party evaluator, 
attendance record in meetings, participation in Board activities and overall contribution to the 
functioning of  the Board. 
 
In evaluating the suitability of  an individual board member and promoting diversity in the 
composition of  the Board, the Nominations Committee annually reviews the Board and Board 
Committee composition to ensure appropriate balance of  skills, competencies, experience of  its 
members, and diversity to ensure the alignment with the new regulations.  The Committee 
recommends to the Board of  Directors the slate of  nominees for election to the Board of  Directors 
during the Company’s annual stockholders’ meeting.  The Committee takes into account the 
relevant qualifications of  every candidate nominated for election, with competence and integrity 
as the primary factors, including other criteria such as, among others, physical/ mental fitness, 
relevant educational and professional background, personal track record, experience/training, 
commitment to contribute, willingness to serve and interest to remain engaged and involved 
without regard to race, gender, ethnic origin, religion, age or sexual orientation. 
 
The Board is also responsible for approving the selection and appointment of  a competent 

 
3Mr. Roberto Lapid resigned as President and Vice-Chairman of the Board of the Company on April 30, 2021 and May 12, 2021, 
respectively upon his retirement from the Company. Mr Manuel Z. Locsin Jr. assumed the position as Officer-in-Charge effective 
May 1, 2021, and as Board member on May 12, 2021. 
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executive management led by the Officer-in-Charge including the heads of  units who exercise 
control functions i.e. Chief  Compliance Officer, Chief  Risk Officer, and Chief  Internal Auditor. 
Fit and proper standards are applied in the selection of  key officers and utmost consideration is 
given to their integrity, technical expertise, and industry experience. 
 
Considering the changes done, complexity and scope of  the Company’s business, the Board 
believes that its current size and composition provide sufficient diversity among its directors that 
fosters critical discussion and promotes balanced decision-making by the Board. It views diversity 
at the Board level which includes differences in skills, experience, gender, sexual orientation or 
preference, age, education, race, business and other related experience as an essential element in 
maintaining an effective board for strong corporate governance. 
 
During the year, the Board reviewed and approved the Company’s release of  the 2020 audited 
financial statements within 61 days from year end. Its oversight functions include the review of  
financial performance of  senior management and work of  the various committees in accordance 
with their Terms of  Reference. 
 
In 2021, the Board approved the appointment of  the new Officer-in-Charge Manuel Z. Locsin Jr., 
vice Roberto E. Lapid who retired from the Company. The Board also approved the appointment 
of  the new Compliance and Corporate Governance Officer Katherine U. Resari, vice Angelita C. 
Tad-y who was re-assigned as Comptrollership and Operations Head of  BDO Finance 
Corporation.  
 
The Board also appointed Mr. Vicente S. Perez Jr. as Nominations Committee member (vice 
Antonio N. Cotoco who retired from the Company), and Mr. Exequiel P. Villacorta, Jr. as Related 
Party Transactions Committee member, vice Mr. Jeci Lapus (who passed away in July 2021). 
 

2021 Board Meetings 
Name of  Director Position No. of  

Meetings 
Attended 

Total No. 
of  

Meetings 

% of  
Attendance 

Teresita T. Sy Chairperson 
 

8 8 100% 

Roberto E. Lapid *  Vice Chairman and President 5 5 100% 
Manuel Z. Locsin Jr. ** Executive Director and Officer-

in-Charge 
3 3 100% 

Jeci A. Lapus ***  Director 5 8 63% 
Nestor V. Tan Director 8 8 100% 
Antonio N. Cotoco**** Director 8 8 100% 
Exequiel P. Villacorta, Jr.  Director 8 8 100% 
Walter C. Wassmer Director 8 8 100% 
Luis S. Reyes, Jr.  Director and Treasurer 8 8 100% 
Ma. Leonora V. De Jesus Independent Director 8 8 100% 
Jesse H.T. Andres Independent Director 8 8 100% 
Vicente S. Pérez, Jr Independent Director 8 8 100% 
*Resigned as Director effective May 12, 2021 
**Appointed as Director effective May 12, 2021 
***Passed away on July 11, 2021 
****Resigned as Director effective December 31, 2021 
Improving Board Effectiveness 
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Board Performance 
 
A yearly self-assessment is conducted focusing on the performance of  the Board, directors, 
Committees and senior management, through the Corporate Governance Committee, using an 
approved set of  questionnaires. The performance evaluation process begins with sending out 
customized Board Evaluation Questionnaires to each director and advisor. They are required to 
complete the questionnaire and explain the rationale of  their response, the results of  which are 
tabulated and consolidated. The Corporate Governance Officer prepares the overall report and 
presents this to the Corporate Governance Committee for discussion and endorsement to the 
Board, including the recommended actions and focus areas to improve effectiveness. 
 
For 2021, the Company conducted its Board Effectiveness Evaluation, in compliance with the SEC 
Code of  Corporate Governance for an annual assessment of  Board performance. Part of  the 
engagement is to facilitate a peer and self-evaluation process on the Board, Board Committees, 
and individual directors. The results thereof  are then tallied and reported to the Board. BDOLF is 
considered as one of  the model enterprises for corporate governance in the Philippines. The results 
of  the 2021 Board evaluation and self-assessment showed positive feedback from the Board, Board 
Committees and individual directors and showed that the Board has been effective and is perceived 
to have a good mix or diversity given the wide range of  experience from various disciplines which 
enables the Board to function in accordance with its mandate. Priority areas were also identified to 
further improve the conduct of  its business.  
 
BDOLF likewise was a recipient of  the Golden Arrow recognition from the ICD based on the 2019 
ASEAN Corporate Governance Scorecard (ACGS). The Golden Arrow recognition is a vote of  
confidence and trust on BDOLF’s adherence to good corporate governance.  
Continuing Education for Directors 
 
The continuing education program for directors is an ongoing process to ensure the enhancement 
of  their skills and knowledge. Every year, all directors and key officers are given updates and 
briefings, and are required to attend a corporate governance seminar on appropriate topics to 
ensure that they are continuously informed of  the developments in the business and regulatory 
environments, including emerging opportunities and risks in the industry. All directors of  BDOLF 
complied with the annual corporate governance training requirement of  four (4) hours for 2021. All 
directors of  BDOLF attended the in-house corporate governance seminar facilitated by Gartner 
Executive Programs last September 1, 2021. It concentrated on the impact of  geopolitics on digital 
business, design and delivery for customer facing digital products and digital leadership.  
 
Succession Planning 
 
Succession planning for the Board and senior management is an important part of  the governance 
process. The Corporate Governance Committee reviews the succession framework and leadership 
development plans for senior management, which are subsequently approved by the Board. As part 
of  the periodic review, the succession framework is updated and training programs are conducted 
accordingly.  
 
Remuneration 
 
Our Remuneration policy is geared towards attracting, retaining and motivating employees and 
members of  the Board. The remuneration framework for senior management includes fixed pay, 
bonuses and the Employee Stock Option Plan (ESOP) as a long term incentive program. A claw 
back mechanism is in place, where the benefits and rights accruing from the ESOP can be revoked 
or forfeited, if  the eligible employee is terminated from service for cause or in the event of  
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imposition of  an administrative or disciplinary sanction or penalty against the eligible employee at 
any time during and after the vesting period prior to exercise. It is linked to corporate and individual 
performance, based on an appraisal of  senior management. The five (5) most highly compensated 
officers are the President, and four (4) First Vice Presidents. All qualified employees may be 
entitled to an annual merit increase in salary, based on their performance for the immediately 
preceding year. This has a long-term and compounding effect to the fixed pay, which serves as 
basis for their retirement benefit. Non-Executive Directors (NEDs) receive per diem for attending 
board and committee meetings. In addition, the Company grants director fees other than per diem 
in accordance with law to ensure that the remuneration is commensurate with the effort, time spent 
and responsibilities of  NEDs. There is no distinction on the director’s fee for a committee 
chairman or member. 
 
Dividends 
 
The Company recognizes the importance of  providing a stable and sustainable dividend stream 
consistent with its commitment to shareholders. The payment of  dividends entails prior board 
approval of  the amount, record and payment dates as recommended by Management based on the 
BSP, PSE, and SEC rules on declaration of  cash dividends. Upon Board approval, necessary 
disclosures are made in compliance with regulatory requirements. Upon disclosure of  a cash 
dividend declaration, a trading blackout on BDOLF shares is imposed upon BDOLF directors and 
officers. Dividends are paid within 30 days from date of  declaration. The full dividend policy 
statement is published in the corporate website. Since the company is still in transition, no dividend 
was paid in 2021. 
 
Related Party Transactions 
 
The Company has established policies and procedures on related party transactions (RPTs) in 
accordance with BSP and SEC regulations. These include definition of  related parties, coverage 
of  RPT policy, guidelines in ensuring arm’s-length terms, identification and prevention of  
management potential or actual conflicts of  interest, adoption of  materiality thresholds, internal 
limits for individual and aggregate exposures, whistle-blowing mechanisms, and restitution of  
losses and other remedies for abusive RPTs. The RPT Committee reviews and endorses to the 
Board for final approval all material RPTs. The Related Party Transactions policy  ensures that 
every related party transaction is conducted in a manner that will protect the Company from any 
potential conflict of  interest. The policy also covers the proper review, approval, ratification and 
disclosure of  transactions between the Company and any of  its related parties in compliance with 
legal and regulatory requirements. The policy also requires that any member of  the RPT 
Committee who has a potential interest in any related party transaction shall abstain from the 
discussion and endorsement of  the related transaction. Likewise, any member of  the Board who 
has interest in the transaction must abstain from the deliberation and approval of  such related 
party transaction. Related party transactions, whose value may exceed 10% of  the Company’s total 
assets, require review of  an external independent party to evaluate the fairness of  its terms and 
conditions and approval of  2/3 vote of  the Board, with at least a majority of  the independent 
directors voting affirmatively. The full version of  the Related Party Transactions Policy is published 
in our corporate website at  
https://www.bdo.com.ph/sites/default/files/pdf/corporate_governance/Related-Party-
Transaction%28RPT%29-Policy-as-of-October-2019.pdf. 
 
Chairperson of  the Board 
 
The Chairperson is primarily responsible for leading the Board and ensuring its effectiveness. She 
provides leadership to the Board, fosters constructive relationships between directors, promotes an 
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open environment for critical discussions and constructive debate on key issues and strategic 
matters, and ensures that the Board of  Directors exercises strong oversight over the Company’s 
business and performance of  senior management. She takes a lead role in ensuring that the Board 
provides effective governance of  the Company and continues to operate at a very high standard of  
independence with the full support of  the directors. 
 
Board Committees 
 
The Board has established six (6) committees to help in discharging its duties and responsibilities. 
These committees derive their authority from, and report directly to, the Board. Their mandates 
and scopes of  responsibility are set forth in their respective Terms of  Reference, which are 
subjected to annual review and may be updated or changed in order to meet the Board’s needs or 
for regulatory compliance. The number and membership composition of  committees may be 
increased or decreased by the Board as it deems appropriate, consistent with applicable laws or 
regulations specifically on the majority membership and chairmanship of  independent directors 
in various committees. As of  December 31, 2021, five (5) of  the six (6) board-level committees are 
chaired by independent directors. 
 
The standing committees of  the Board are as follows: 
 
Executive Committee 
 

• Exercises the power of  the Board in the management and direction of  the affairs of  the 
Company. 

• Acts as the main approving body for loans, credits, advances or commitments and property-
related proposals. 

• Reviews and recommends for Board approval major credit policies, including delegation 
of  credit approval limits. 

 
The Committee approved and adopted revisions in its Terms of  Reference (TOR). 
 
Audit Committee 
 

• Empowered by the Board to oversee the financial reporting process, system of  internal 
control and risk management systems, internal and external audit functions, and 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. 

 
Their oversight function covers the following areas: 
 

• On financial reporting, the committee reviews the integrity of  the reporting process to 
ensure the accuracy and reliability of  financial statements and compliance with financial 
reporting standards and disclosure requirements set for publicly listed companies; 

• On internal control and risk management, it monitors and evaluates the adequacy, 
soundness and effectiveness of  the Company’s established internal control and risk 
management systems, policies and procedures including implementation across all units 
of  the Company to provide reasonable assurance against fraud or other irregularities and 
material misstatement or loss; 

• On internal and external audit, it recommends the appointment, reappointment and 
removal of  the internal and external auditors, remuneration, approval of  terms of  audit 
engagement and payment of  fees. It reviews non-audit work of  external auditors, if  any, 
ensuring that it would not conflict with their duties or may pose a threat to their 
independence. It approves the annual audit plan and reviews audit results focusing on 
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significant findings with financial impact and its resolution. It reviews the implementation 
of  corrective actions to ensure that these are done in a timely manner to address 
deficiencies, non-compliance with policies, laws and regulations. Annually, it evaluates the 
performance of  the Chief  Internal Auditor and internal and external audit functions; 

• On compliance, it recommends the approval of  the Compliance Charter and reviews 
annually the performance of  the Chief  Compliance Officer and the compliance function. 
It also reviews the annual plans of  the Compliance Unit and evaluates the effectiveness of  
the regulatory compliance framework of  the Company to ensure that these are consistently 
applied and observed throughout the institution. It reviews the report of  examination of  
the BSP and other regulators including replies to such reports for endorsement to the Board 
for approval.   

 
In this context, the following were done during the year: 
 
On financial reporting, the Board Audit Committee (BAC) reviewed and recommended for 
approval to the Board the quarterly unaudited and annual audited financial statements ensuring 
compliance with accounting standards and tax regulations. On March 1, 2021, it endorsed for 
approval of  the Board the audited financial statements as of  December 31, 2020 including the 
Notes to the Financial Statements. This was approved by the Board and disclosed to the public on 
March 2, 2021, 61 days from the financial year-end. It believes that the financial statements are fairly 
presented in conformity with the relevant financial reporting standards in all material aspects. The 
related internal controls on financial reporting process and compliance with accounting standards,  
were likewise reviewed. 
 
In overseeing the internal audit function, it reviewed and approved the Internal Audit Charter and 
risk-based audit plan after a thorough review of  its scope, audit methodology, risk assessment and 
rating processes, financial budget, manpower resources, as well as changes to the plan during the 
year. It reviewed audit reports focusing on high and moderate risk findings relating to operational, 
financial and compliance controls including risk assessment systems with impact to financial, 
reputation and information security. It regularly tracked the timely resolution of  findings and 
asked for Management’s action plans on items that needed to be addressed. It ensured the Internal 
Audit’s independence and unfettered access to all records, properties and information to be able 
to fully carry out its function. It also assessed the performance of  the Chief  Internal Auditor and 
the internal audit function. The Committee is satisfied that the internal audit function has adequate 
resources to perform its function effectively. 
 
On external audit, it ensured the independence, qualification, and objectivity of  the appointed 
external auditor, which is accredited by the BSP and SEC. On April 28, 2021, it approved and 
endorsed for approval of  the Board the re-appointment of  the Bank’s external auditor. It reviewed 
and discussed the content of  the engagement letter, audit plan, scope of  work, focus areas, 
composition of  engagement team among others, prior to the commencement of  audit work. It 
comprehensively discussed the external audit reports, focusing on internal controls, risk 
management, governance and matters with financial impact particularly on the changes in 
accounting and reporting standards. It reviewed Management’s Letter as well as Management’s 
response and action taken on the external auditor’s findings and recommendations. 
 
On regulatory compliance, it  monitored the  submission of  regulatory and prudential reports,  It 
also reviewed regulatory compliance reports to ensure that the Company complies with the relevant 
regulatory requirements. 
 
As part of  its commitment to excellent corporate governance, the Committee conducted a self-
assessment for its 2020 performance based on its Terms of  Reference. The BAC likewise evaluated 



	
31 

the performance of  Internal Audit, Compliance and AML department, and External Audit to 
ensure the effectiveness and achievement of  objectives. The BAC also approved and adopted 
revisions to the Terms of  Reference (TOR) of  the Committee. 
 
The BAC reports its evaluation of  the effectiveness of  the internal controls, financial reporting 
process, risk management systems of  the Company based on the report and unqualified opinion 
obtained from the External Auditor, the overall assurance provided by the Chief  Internal Auditor 
and additional reports and information requested from Senior Management, and found that these 
are generally adequate across BDOLF. 
 
 
Corporate Governance Committee 
 

• Primarily tasked to assist the Board in formulating the governance policies and overseeing 
the implementation of  the governance practices of  the Company; 

• Annually, it also oversees the performance evaluation of  the Board of  Directors, its 
committees, executive management, peer evaluation of  directors, and conducts a self-
evaluation of  its performance. It provides an assessment of  the outcome and reports to the 
Board the final results of  the evaluation including recommendations for improvement and 
areas to focus on to enhance effectiveness; 

• Oversees the continuing education program for directors and key officers and proposes 
relevant training for them. 

 
During the year, the Corporate Governance Committee facilitated the compliance of  the directors 
of  the Company with the regulatory requirement for an annual corporate governance seminar for 
Directors as part of  their continuing education.  The seminar focused on the Impact of  Geopolitics 
on digital business, design and delivery for digital products and digital leadership.  The Committee 
continuously monitored  the Company’s compliance with local and international corporate 
governance standards.  It reviewed and endorsed for Board approval the Company’s 2020 
Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Report to the SEC, which documents the Company’s 
compliance with the SEC Code of  Corporate Governance. It also spearheaded the independent 
annual Board evaluation survey covering the performance in 2020 of  the Board of  Directors, Board 
Committees, Senior Management, each Director, and Board Advisor. 
 
The Committee also approved and adopted the Revised Corporate Governance Manual, the 
Corporate Governance Report and the Sustainability Report for the SEC Form 17-A Annual Report 
submission. The CGC also approved and adopted revisions to the Terms of  Reference (TOR) of  
the Committee. 
 
 
Risk Management Committee 
 

• Is responsible for the oversight of  the enterprise risk management program of  the 
Company. 

• Is responsible for approving risk appetite levels, risk management policies, and risk 
tolerance limits to ensure that current and emerging risk exposures are consistent with the 
Company’s strategic direction and overall risk appetite. It approves the appropriate 
strategies for managing and controlling risk exposures, including preventing and/or 
minimizing the impact of  losses if  risk becomes real. 

• Oversees the implementation and review of  the risk management plan, including the 
system of  limits of  discretionary authority delegated by the Board of  Directors to 
management under its purview and ensures that immediate corrective actions are taken 
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whenever limits are breached. 

• Is responsible for evaluating the continued relevance, comprehensiveness and effectiveness 
of  the risk management framework. 

• Is also responsible for the appointment/selection, remuneration, performance evaluation, 

and dismissal of  the Chief  Risk Officer, and shall ensure that the risk management 
function has adequate resources and effectively oversees the risk taking activities of  the 

Company. 

• Works with the Audit Committee in certifying in the Annual Report the adequacy of  the 
Company’s risk management systems and controls. 

 
During the year, the Committee also approved revisions to the Terms of  Reference (TOR) of  the 

Risk Management Committee. 
 

Nominations Committee 

 

• Leads the process of  identifying candidates for election and appointment of  Directors and 
all other positions requiring appointment of  the Board of  Directors, giving full 

consideration to succession planning and the leadership needs of  the Company. In 
particular, this process includes the profiling of  the skills and competencies of  the 

currently serving directors, the gaps in skills and competencies identified and the search 
for candidates who are aligned with the Company’s directions to fill the gaps. It then makes 

appropriate recommendations to the Board; 

• Makes recommendations to the Board on the composition and chairmanship of  the various 
committees; 

• Keeps under review the structure, size and composition of  the Board, including the balance 

of  skills, knowledge and experience and the independence of  the non-executive Directors, 

and makes recommendations to the Board with regard to any changes. 
 

During the year, the NomCom reviewed and endorsed to the Board the various Executive and 
Director appointments, and  approved revisions to the Committee’s Terms of  Reference (TOR). 

 
Related Party Transactions Committee 

 

• Assists the Board in its oversight of  the conduct of  all Related Party Transactions (RPTs) 
to protect the interests of  the Company and its stakeholders; 

• Ensures proper disclosure of  all approved material RPTs in accordance with applicable 

legal and regulatory requirements . 
 

During the year, the RPTC confirmed the non-material RPT transactions in 2020, and. also 

approved and adopted revisions to the Terms of  Reference (TOR) of  the Committee. 
 

Independent Control Functions 
 

Compliance 
 

BDOLF’s Compliance Unit, thru the Compliance Officer (CO), oversees the design of  the 

Compliance System and the overall compliance framework of  the Company executed through a 
Compliance Program, and promotes their effective implementation. BDOLF Compliance Unit 

reports to and is under the direct supervision of  the Board Audit Committee. It is responsible for 
overseeing, coordinating, monitoring and ensuring compliance of  the Company with existing laws, 

rules and regulations through the implementation of  the overall compliance system and program 
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in accordance with the requirements of  the BSP and other regulatory agencies, including but not 
limited to the identification and control of  compliance risks, prudential reporting obligations as 
well as compliance training. BDOLF’s Compliance System forms the processes, people, policies 
and other components that, as an integral unit, ultimately drive the Company’s initiatives to 
conform to industry laws, regulations and standards. In line with the Company’s initiatives is its 
commitment to ensure that activities of  the Company and its personnel are conducted in 
accordance with all applicable  laws and regulations and industry standards, and this commitment 
to compliance serves to protect the Company and its stakeholders.  
 
BDOLF Compliance Unit also focuses on the enforcement of  the Company’s Anti-Money 
Laundering (AML), Counter-Terrorist Financing (CTF) Program, and Combating Proliferation 
Financing (CPF), in accordance with the Anti-Money Laundering Law as amended; Terrorism 
Financing Prevention and Suppression Act, and Anti-Terrorism Act (ATA) and their respective 
Implementing Rules and Regulations (IRRs).  The Company also adheres with BSP and Anti-
Money Laundering Council (AMLC) Rules, Regulations and Directives. The AML Program of  the 
Company is articulated in the Company’s Board-approved Money Laundering and Terrorist 
Financing Prevention Program (MTPP) Manual, which covers AML/CTF/CPF policies and 
information such as: (i) customer on-boarding, (ii) customer risk assessment and due diligence, 
(iii) handling and monitoring of  clients and their transactions, (iv)Covered and Suspicious 
reporting,  (v) record-keeping, (vi) AML/CTF training (vii) AML System and technology 
platforms, and (vii) Institutional Risk Assessment. Compliance Unit likewise oversees the 
investigation of  suspicious transactions under the auspices of  the AML Committee that is 
comprised of  select key senior officers of  the Company.   
 
BDOLF Compliance Unit and its compliance program endeavors to protect the Company’s 
franchise, manage compliance risks and simultaneously supports the business goals and growth 
of  the Institution by providing appropriate compliance insights and regulatory guidance to 
safeguard the Company and its stakeholders. 
 
Internal Audit 
 
The Internal Audit Function covers the entire BDO Group including subsidiaries. It adheres to the 
principles required by the ISPPIA (International Standard for the Professional Practice of  Internal 
Auditing), COSO Internal Control -Integrated Framework, COBITS (Control Objectives for 
Information and Related Technology), the Internal Audit Definition and Code of  Ethics. 
 
It provides assurance and a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve effectiveness 
of  risk management, internal control, and governance processes. Upholding a commitment to 
integrity and accountability, Internal Audit provides value to senior management and governing 
bodies as objective source of  independent advice. 
 
Internal Audit reports to the Board of  Directors through the Board Audit Committee (BAC) (parent 
bank and respective subsidiaries). It seeks BAC approval for the annual audit plan, provides 
updates on accomplishments, reports results of  audit conducted and tracks resolution of  audit 
findings. 
 
Consumer Protection Practices 
 
BDOLF’s financial consumer protection framework is anchored on disclosure and transparency, 
protection of  client information, fair treatment, effective recourse, and financial education and 
awareness. The framework ensures that consumer protection practices are embedded in our 
business and considered in the development and implementation of  our products and services. 
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The Board is primarily responsible in maintaining an effective oversight on the Company’s 
consumer protection policies and programs. Senior management implements the Board-approved 
strategy and ensures that control mechanisms are in place. 
BDOLF’s Consumer Assistance Management System reflects the Company’s commitment that  
customers are treated fairly, honestly, and professionally at all stages of  their relationship with the 
Company.  
 
Since the leasing and financing business of  BDOLF already ceased in October 2020, there were no 
customer cases reported for 2021. 
 
 
Data Privacy 
 
The Company has in place a Data Privacy Management Program (DPMP), which serves as the 
framework for protecting the data privacy rights of  the Company’s data subjects, to ensure 
compliance with the Philippine Data Privacy Act (PDPA). The Company appointed a Data 
Protection Officer (DPO) who is registered with the National Privacy Commission (NPC). The 
Data Privacy Policy, Privacy Statement, and Breach Reporting Procedures were established, 
including the templates for Consent, Data Sharing Agreement, and Outsourcing Agreement.  
 
 
Compliance with the SEC Code of  Corporate Governance 
 
Publicly-listed companies are advised to disclose in their Annual Report the company’s compliance 
with the Code of  Corporate Governance and where there is non-compliance, to identify and explain 
the reason for such issue. We confirm that as of  December 31, 2021, the Company has substantially 
complied with the recommendations of  the Code except for the following: 1) Policy on retirement 
age of  directors; 2) Disclosure of  executive remuneration on an individual basis; 3)  voting system 
for majority of  non-related party shareholders to approve material related party transactions during 
shareholders meeting; 4)  voting mechanism such as  supermajority or “majority of  minority” to 
protect the minority shareholders against actions of  controlling shareholder; 5) Non-holding of  
executive sessions with the Heads of  the Control Functions (i.e. Internal audit, compliance and 
Risk management functions) by Non-Executive Directors; 6) Term Limit of  Independent 
Directors; 7) Ratification by the stockholders of  the re-appointment of  the external auditor.  
 
On the retirement age of  directors, the Board recognizes the fact that chronological age is not the 
main factor in determining effectiveness of  the director in discharging his duties and 
responsibilities. The wisdom of  senior directors is a valuable asset. The Board derives much 
benefit from their counsel and will continue to utilize them for the benefit of  all its Stakeholders. 
Age discrimination is discouraged by law, as once a director has been elected, removal due solely 
to age is prohibited. In this regard, the Board decided to hold in abeyance the implementation of  
a retirement age policy for directors and instead review the individual director’s potential 
contribution to the Company and its Stakeholders, and decide on that basis. 
 
On the voting system for material related party transactions by majority of  non-related parties, 
although a formal voting system is not in place,  material RPTs are presented during the annual 
stockholders meeting, together with the other acts of  the Board for ratification by stockholders.. 
The majority of  non-related party shareholders thereby are afforded the mechanism to exercise 
their votes on  material related party transactions. 
 
Similarly, the Company affirms the voting rights of  the minority shareholders relative to major 
corporate acts requiring the approval of  at least 2/3 of  the shareholders.  Moreover, in accordance 
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with law, the Company recognizes and respects the appraisal right of  any shareholder in case of  
dissenting vote on any approved major corporate actions as applicable. As additional mechanisms 
to protect minority shareholders, the Company has in place its  Related Party Transactions Policy 
to protect against improper conflict of  interest, Personal Trading Policy to prevent insider trading 
and Whistle Blower to provide a channel for reporting of  illegal practices, abuse of  authority and 
fraudulent activity, etc. without fear of  reprisal. 
 
In light of  the cessation of  the Company’s leasing and financial operations in 2020,  no executive 
sessions with the Heads of  Control Functions (i.e. Internal audit, compliance and Risk 
management functions) and the Non-Executive Directors were held for the year while the 
Company is in transition. 
 
On the Term Limit of  Independent Directors, Independent Directors Ma. Leonora de Jesus and 
Atty. Jesse Andres reached the tenor limit of  nine years on January 1, 2021. Ms. de Jesus and Atty. 
Andres are currently serving on holdover capacity in view of  the postponement of  the Company’s 
2021 Annual Stockholders’ Meeting due to the following as previously disclosed to the public: The 
ASM deferment is in consideration of  the following: 
1. Pending request for reconsideration of  the order of  suspension by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC); and 
2. The conversion of  BDOLF to a holding company and the pending request for the surrender of  
its secondary license with the SEC. 
 
The next election of  directors will be held on the 2022 Annual Stockholders’ Meeting scheduled on 
20 April 2022.  
 
Finally, the proposed ratification by the stockholders of  the re-appointment of  the external auditor 
will also be similarly presented during the upcoming ASM in view of  the above postponement of  
2021 Annual Meeting. 
 
 
Looking Ahead 
 
While the Company has already ceased its leasing and financing operations in October 2020 as 
approved by the Board of  Directors and stockholders, the Company’s strategic direction is to 
convert BDOLF into a holding company upon approval by regulators, for investment purposes or, 
depending on the terms of  outstanding offers, pursue the sale of  its shares with prospective buyers.  
As part of  the BDO Unibank Group, the Company plans to continue to look at ways to optimize 
the use of  new technologies to strengthen our corporate governance practices while remaining 
vigilant on the risk of  digitization to our business. We are focused on maximizing the effectiveness 
of  our corporate governance practices as a business enabler and driver of  our performance in the 
proper context of  risks and rewards, opportunities and prospects for the Company. This is essential 
going forward as we continue to compete and remain relevant to our various stakeholders. Globally, 
there is also an increasing call for companies to support the UN Sustainable Development Goals 
as part of  sustainable business performance with emphasis on strategies that promote economic 
growth, environmental protection, efforts that address a range of  social needs and a governance 
model that considers sustainability issues. The BDO Group continues to be mindful of  these and 
creating a positive impact on sustainability as it continues to report annually on its sustainability 
performance and contribution to the UN Sustainable Development Goals. 
 
The Company conducts regular monitoring of  its and its directors and officers’ compliance with 
its Revised Corporate Governance Manual embodying the pillars best practices of  corporate 
governance as described above. The Company submits every year its Integrated Annual Corporate 
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Governance Report, which shows that it has substantially complied with the recommendations 
under the Code of  Corporate Governance for Publicly-Listed Companies. The same is also 
discussed in detail in the Company’s Annual Report (SEC Form 17-A).  
 
The Company also keeps itself  abreast of  relevant regulatory issuances and requirements and 
global best practices and familiarizes itself  with updates and trends even before they are required 
by local regulations. This is part of  the continuing efforts to improve corporate governance of  the 
Company. 
 

 

NOTE:  BDOLF will provide to its stockholders free of  charge printed copies of  the Company’s Annual 

Report (SEC Form 17-A) upon written request addressed to the Office of  the Corporate Secretary at 21st 

Floor, BDO Towers Valero, 8741 Paseo de Roxas, Salcedo Village, Makati City. 
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E.  SIGNATURE PAGE 
 

After reasonable inquiry and to the best of  my knowledge and belief, I certify that the information set 
forth in this report is true, complete and correct. This report is signed in the City of  Makati on 14 
March 2022. 

 
      BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. 

  
By:  

 

 
JOSEPH JASON M. NATIVIDAD 
Corporate Secretary 
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Report of Independent Auditors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Board of Directors and the Stockholders 
BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc.   
(A Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.) 
39th Floor, BDO Corporate Center Ortigas 
12 ADB Avenue, Ortigas Center 
Mandaluyong City 
 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc., 
(the Company), which comprise the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2021 
and 2020, and the statements of income, statements of comprehensive income, statements of 
changes in equity and statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended  
December 31, 2021, and the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and its financial performance and 
its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021 in 
accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSA).  Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the $XGLWRUV¶�5esponsibilities  
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  We are independent of the 
Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines 
(Code of Ethics) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audits of the 
financial statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities  
in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics.  We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
 
Without qualifying our audit opinion, we draw attention to Notes 1 and 14(q) to the financial 
statements, which provides UHOHYDQW�LQIRUPDWLRQ�RQ�WKH�UHVWUXFWXULQJ�RI�%'2�8QLEDQN�*URXS¶V�
leasing business that led to the disposal and assignment of substantially all assets and liabilities 
of the Company to wind down its leasing and financing operations as of October 16, 2020 and 
transfer it to BDO Finance Corporation.  The disposal of substantially all the &RPSDQ\¶V assets 
and liabilities, and transfer of the leasing and financing business resulted in a material uncertainty 
DQG�VLJQLILFDQW�GRXEW�RQ�WKH�&RPSDQ\¶V�DELOLW\�WR�FRQWLnue as a going concern.  However, as 
stated also in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company will be re-purposed into a listed 
holding company of the BDO Unibank Group, upon approval by the regulators.  The Company 
has sufficient liquid assets (in the form of cash and investment in unit investment trust fund)  
to fund future investments.  As of December 31, 2021, the Company is still waiting for the 
approval of regulators for its application for a license as a holding company. In connection with 
RXU�DXGLW��ZH�KDYH�SHUIRUPHG�DXGLW�SURFHGXUHV�WR�HYDOXDWH�PDQDJHPHQW¶V�SODQV�DQG�DFWLRQV� 
as to likelihood of the situation and as to feasibility under the circumstances.  Accordingly,  
WKH�&RPSDQ\¶V�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�KDYH�EHHQ�prepared assuming that the Company will 
continue as a going concern entity which contemplates the realization of assets and the 
settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business.  Our opinion is not modified in respect  
to this matter. 
 
Other Information  
 
Management is responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises  
the information included in the Company¶s SEC Form 20-1S (Definitive Information Statement), 
SEC Form 17-A, and Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2021, but does not 
include the financial statements and our auditors' report thereon.  The SEC Form 20-IS,  
SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report are expected to be made available to us after the date  
of this auditors' report.  
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audits of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audits, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in accordance with PFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
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,Q�SUHSDULQJ�WKH�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��PDQDJHPHQW�LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�DVVHVVLQJ�WKH�&RPSDQ\¶V�
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseHLQJ�WKH�&RPSDQ\¶V�ILQDQFLDO�
reporting process. 
 
$XGLWRUV¶�5HVSRQVLELOLWLHV�IRU�WKH�$XGLW�RI�WKH�)LQDQFLDO�6WDWHPHQWV 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements  
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
DXGLWRUV¶�UHSRUW�WKDW�LQFOXGHV�RXU�RSLQLRQ���5HDVRQDEOH�DVVXUDQFH�LV�D�high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with PSA will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with PSA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 
 
x Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,  
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

x Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the &RPSDQ\¶V�LQWHUQDO�FRQWURO� 
 

x Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 

x &RQFOXGH�RQ�WKH�DSSURSULDWHQHVV�RI�PDQDJHPHQW¶V�XVH�RI�WKH�JRLQJ�FRQFHUQ�EDVLs of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
H[LVWV�UHODWHG�WR�HYHQWV�RU�FRQGLWLRQV�WKDW�PD\�FDVW�VLJQLILFDQW�GRXEW�RQ�WKH�&RPSDQ\¶V�
ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,  
ZH�DUH�UHTXLUHG�WR�GUDZ�DWWHQWLRQ�LQ�RXU�DXGLWRUV¶�UHSRUW�WR�WKH�UHODWHG�GLVFORVXUHV�LQ�WKH�
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to tKH�GDWH�RI�RXU�DXGLWRUV¶�UHSRUW���
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 

 
x Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

x Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the financial 
statements.  We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters.  We describe these matters in our auditors' 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh  
the public interest benefits of such communication.  
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial 
statements taken as a whole.  As discussed in Note 15 to the financial statements, the 
Company presented the supplementary information required by the Bureau of Internal Revenue 
(BIR) under the Revenue Regulations (RR) No. 15-2010 in a supplementary schedule filed 
separately from the basic financial statements.  RR No. 15-2010 requires the supplementary 
information to be presented in the notes to the financial statements.  The supplementary 
information for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 required by the Bangko Sentral 
ng Pilipinas (BSP) as disclosed in Note 19 to the financial statements is presented for purposes 
of additional analysis.  Such supplementary information required by the BIR and BSP is the 
responsibility of management and is not a required part of the basic financial statements 
prepared in accordance with PFRS; it is neither a required disclosure under the Revised 
Securities Regulation Code Rule 68 of the SEC.  The supplementary information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, 
in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements 
taken as a whole. 
 
7KH�HQJDJHPHQW�SDUWQHU�LQ�WKH�DXGLW�UHVXOWLQJ�LQ�WKLV�LQGHSHQGHQW�DXGLWRUV¶�UHSRUW�LV� 
Romualdo V. Murcia III. 
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The Board of Directors and the Stockholders  
BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc.  
(A Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.) 
39th Floor, BDO Corporate Center Ortigas 
12 ADB Avenue, Ortigas Center 
Mandaluyong City 
 
 
We have audited the financial statements of BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc., for the year ended 
December 31, 2021, on which we have rendered the attached report dated February 23, 2022. 
 
In compliance with the Revised Securities Regulation Code Rule 68, we are stating that  
the Company has 1,103 stockholders of the &RPSDQ\¶V common stock as of  
December 31, 2021. 
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Notes 2021 2020

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 6  15,204,057  P            115,984,914  P             

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS 7  5,877,689,641            5,752,692,212               

LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES - Net 8  127,392,155               127,404,781                 

OTHER ASSETS - Net  4,032                         13,688                          

TOTAL ASSETS  6,020,289,885  P       5,996,095,595  P          

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER LIABILITIES 10  8,157,623  P              27,504,751  P               

CAPITAL STOCK 11  2,225,169,030            2,225,169,030               

ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL  571,095,676               571,095,676                 

TREASURY SHARES 11 81,776,628 )(               81,776,628 )(                   

RETAINED EARNINGS 11  3,297,644,184            3,254,102,766               

Total Equity  6,012,132,262            5,968,590,844               

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  6,020,289,885  P       5,996,095,595  P          

A S S E T S

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

See Notes to Financial Statements.

(A Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)
BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. 

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)
DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION



Notes 2021 2020 2019

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Income

Unrealized fair value gain on unit investment 
trust fund (UITF) - net 7  54,997,429  P                 5,692,212  P                   -   

Interest and discounts 6, 14  30,666                            -    -   
Gain on redemption of UITF 7  -    123,808                          -   
Other income 12  2,069,009                       -    -   

 57,097,104                      5,816,020                        -   

Operating costs and expenses
Taxes and licenses 15  11,388,962                      -    -   
Directors’ fees  3,011,111                         -    -   
Litigation/assets acquired expenses  422,292                          -    -   
Occupancy and equipment-related expenses  68,000                            -    -   
Other expenses 14  4,365,249                       -    -   

 19,255,614                      -    -   

Profit before tax  37,841,490                      5,816,020                        -   

Tax income 15  5,699,928                       -    -   

Net profit from continuing operations  43,541,418                      5,816,020                        -   

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Income 

Interest and discounts 6, 8, 14  -    1,122,305,523                 1,984,197,637                
Gain on sale of loans and receivables 8, 14  -    509,971,258                    2,736,443                       
Other income - net 7, 12  -    140,421,331                    139,854,955                   

 -    1,772,698,112                 2,126,789,035                

Operating costs and expenses
Interest and financing charges  -    465,867,521                    1,276,576,934                
Impairment and credit losses - net 8 ,9  -    398,845,747                    63,121,104                     
Employee benefits 13  -    210,453,680                    238,589,906                   
Taxes and licenses 15  -    185,097,953                    286,403,561                   
Occupancy and equipment-related expenses  -    35,485,971                      53,423,253                     
Litigation/assets acquired expenses  -    7,965,922                        12,423,503                     
Director's fees  -    4,411,111                        5,633,333                       
Other expenses 14  -    70,528,672                      110,697,178                   

 -    1,378,656,577                 2,046,868,772                

Profit before tax  -    394,041,535                    79,920,263                     

Tax expense 15  -   147,408,072 )(                  33,190,029 )(                    

Net profit from discontinued operations  -    246,633,463                    46,730,234                     

NET PROFIT  43,541,418  P                 252,449,483  P               46,730,234  P                

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share 
for Continuing Operations 16  0.02  P                           0.01  P                            -   

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share 
for Discontinued Operations 16  -    0.11                                0.02                               

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share 16  0.02  P                           0.12  P                            0.02  P                           

See Notes to Financial Statements.

BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC.
(A Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)

STATEMENTS OF INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021, 2020 AND 2019

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

P

P



Notes 2021 2020 2019

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Net profit from continuing operations  43,541,418  P            5,816,020  P              -   

Other comprehensive income  -    -    -   

Total comprehensive income from continuing operations  43,541,418                5,816,020                  -   

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Net profit from discontinued operations  -    246,633,463              46,730,234               

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Fair valuation of equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI):

Fair value gains during the year 7  -    40,808,298                194,831,568             
Fair value losses on redemption/disposal of financial assets at FVOCI 7  -   71,036,187 )(              3,822,951 )(                

Remeasurements of post-employment defined benefit plan  -    102,696,179             15,694,116 )(              
Share in other comprehensive loss of an associate 

accounted for under equity method  -    -   413,403 )(                   
 -    72,468,290                174,901,098             

Tax income (expense) 15  -   27,103,605 )(               7,202,944                 

 -    45,364,685                182,104,042             

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Fair value gains on disposal of debt instruments at FVOCI 7  -   8,862,126 )(                 -   
Fair value losses (gains) of debt instruments during the year  -   5,725,850 )(                 42,464,563               

 -   14,587,976 )(               42,464,563               

Other Comprehensive Income - net of tax  -    30,776,709                224,568,605             

Total comprehensive income from discontinued operations  -    277,410,172              271,298,839             

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  43,541,418  P            283,226,192  P          271,298,839  P         

See Notes to Financial Statements.

BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. 
(A Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021, 2020 AND 2019

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

P



Net Financial Assets Accumulated 
Additional Treasury Accumulated at Other Share in Other 

Paid-in Shares, Actuarial Comprehensive Comprehensive
Notes Capital Stock Capital At Cost Losses Income Income of Associate Reserves Free Total Total Equity

Balance at January 1, 2021  2,225,169,030  P      571,095,676  P        81,776,628 )(  P           -    -    -    -    3,254,102,766  P      3,254,102,766  P      5,968,590,844  P     
Total comprehensive income from continuing operations  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    43,541,418               43,541,418               43,541,418              

Balance at December 31, 2021  2,225,169,030  P      571,095,676  P        81,776,628 )(  P          -    -    -    -    3,297,644,184  P      3,297,644,184  P      6,012,132,262  P     

Balance at January 1, 2020  2,225,169,030  P      571,095,676  P        81,776,628 )(  P          71,887,325 )(  P         41,110,617  P                        -    141,740,833  P         2,788,876,263  P      2,930,617,096  P      5,614,328,466  P     
Total comprehensive income from continuing operations 7  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    5,816,020                 5,816,020                 5,816,020                
From discontinued operations:

Total comprehensive income (loss)  -    -    -    71,887,325            41,110,617 )(                            -    -    246,633,463             246,633,463             277,410,171            
Gain on sale of equity securities classified under FVOCI 7  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    71,036,187               71,036,187               71,036,187              
Reversal of appropriation 11  -    -    -    -    -    -   141,740,833 )(             141,740,833             -    -   

Balance at December 31, 2020  2,225,169,030  P      571,095,676  P        81,776,628 )(  P           -    -    -    -    3,254,102,766  P      3,254,102,766  P      5,968,590,844  P     

Balance at January 1, 2019  2,225,169,030  P      571,095,676  P        81,776,628 )(  P          60,901,444 )(  P        194,857,272 )(  P                      413,403  P                    146,923,871  P         2,736,962,991  P      2,883,886,862  P      5,343,029,627  P     
From discontinued operations:

Total comprehensive income (loss)  -    -    -   10,985,881 )(             235,967,889                          413,403 )(                        -    46,730,234               46,730,234               271,298,839            
Reversal of appropriation 11  -    -    -    -    -    -   5,183,038 )(                 5,183,038                 -    -   

Balance at December 31, 2019  2,225,169,030  P      571,095,676  P        81,776,628 )(  P          71,887,325 )(  P         41,110,617  P                        -    141,740,833  P         2,788,876,263  P      2,930,617,096  P      5,614,328,466  P     

Retained Earnings

BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC.
(A Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021, 2020 AND 2019

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

Net Unrealized Fair Value 
Gains (Losses) on

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Notes 2021 2020 2019

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax  37,841,490  P                         5,816,020  P                           -   
Adjustments for unrealized fair value gain on unit investment trust fund  (UITF) - net 7 54,997,429 )(                           5,692,212 )(                               -   
Gain on redemption of UITF 7  -   123,808 )(                                  -   
Operating loss before changes in operating assets and liabilities 17,155,939 )(                             -    -   

Decrease in loans and other receivables  5,718,129                                -    -   
Decrease in other assets  9,655                                      -   
Decrease in accounts payable and other liabilities 19,347,128 )(                             -    -   

Cash used in operations 30,775,283 )(                            -    -   
Cash paid for final tax 5,574 )(                                     -    -   

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities 30,780,857 )(                            -    -   

Cash flows from investing activities
Placement in UITF 7 70,000,000 )(                           5,847,000,000 )(                        -   
Redemption of UITF 7  -    100,123,808                            -   

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities 70,000,000 )(                           5,746,876,192 )(                        -   

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents from 
continuing operations 100,780,857 )(                          5,746,876,192 )(                        -   

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax  -    394,041,535                            79,920,263                            

Adjustments for:
Interest and discounts 8, 14  -   1,122,305,523 )(                       1,984,197,637 )(                       

Interest received  -    1,178,675,357                         2,104,428,344                        

Gain on sale of loans and receivables 8  -   509,971,258 )(                          2,736,443 )(                              

Interest and financing charges paid  -   491,012,764 )(                          1,367,663,604 )(                       

Interest and financing charges  -    465,867,521                            1,276,576,934                        

Impairment and credit losses 7, 8  -    398,845,747                            63,121,104                            

Dividend income 7, 12  -   80,727,007 )(                            159,434,753 )(                          

Depreciation and amortization  -    22,308,328                             36,026,615                            

Equity share in net loss (gain) of a subsidiary and an associate  -   21,253,147 )(                             40,605,481                            

Gain on sale of investment in a subsidiary  -   9,496,552 )(                               -   

7  -   8,862,126 )(                               -   

Gain or loss on sale of property and equipment and investment properties  -   6,771,162 )(                              4,664,216 )(                              

Day-one gains - net 12  -    22,039                                    88,721                                   

Loss on sale of investment in an associate  -    -    27,636,973                            

Reversal of impairment losses  -    -   1,308,934 )(                              

Operating profit before changes in operating assets and liabilities  -    209,360,988                            108,398,848                           

Decrease in loans and other receivables  -    24,652,064,711                       9,221,933,511                        

Decrease in other assets  -    138,854,958                            5,224,907                              

Decrease in accounts payable and other liabilities  -   272,029,465 )(                          31,288,504 )(                            

Decrease in lease deposits  -   4,627,531,463 )(                       1,918,227,239 )(                       

Cash generated from operations  -    20,100,719,729                       7,386,041,523                        

Cash paid for final taxes  -   14,172,235 )(                            14,379,250 )(                            

Net Cash From Operating Activities  -    20,086,547,494                       7,371,662,273                        

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale and redemption of financial assets at FVOCI 7  -    3,215,413,313                         637,158,480                           

Proceeds from disposal of investment in a subsidiary  -    317,500,000                            -   

Receipt of cash dividends 7, 14  -    297,266,103                            174,985,575                           

Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment and investment properties  -    220,249,284                            5,891,115                              

Addition in investment properties  -   46,021,902 )(                            44,337,534 )(                            

Acquisitions of property and equipment  -   2,980,969 )(                              2,203,575 )(                              

Proceeds from disposal of investment in an associate  -    -    165,630,000                           

Net Cash From Investing Activities  -    4,001,425,829                         937,124,061                           

Cash flows from financing activities
Payments of bills payable  -   121,897,018,002 )(                    157,200,602,791 )(                    

Availments of bills payable  -    103,592,542,469                     148,781,189,911                    

Payments on lease liabilities  -   27,800,465 )(                            10,702,593 )(                            

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities  -   18,332,275,998 )(                     8,430,115,473 )(                       

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent from 
discontinued operations  -    5,755,697,325                        121,329,139 )(                          

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 100,780,857 )(                           8,821,133                              121,329,139 )(                          

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
 BEGINNING OF YEAR  115,984,914                            107,163,781                            228,492,920                           

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR  15,204,057  P                         115,984,914  P                       107,163,781  P                      

Supplemental Information on Non-cash Investing Activities from Discontinued Operations:

1.

2.

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021, 2020 AND 2019

BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. 

See Notes to Financial Statements. 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(A Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)

In 2019, the Company recognized Right of use assets as part of Property and Equipment, and Lease liabilities as part of Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities in accordance with PFRS 16, Leases , amounting to 
P26,958,366 and P27,800,465, respectively.  In 2020, all Right of Use assets and Lease liabilities were reversed due to pre-termination of leases.

In 2019, the Company reclassified certain items of Investment Property account to Non-current assets held for sale under Other Assets - net account amounting to P657,236. 

Gain on sale of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
     income (FVOCI)

P



   

BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. 
(A Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.) 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020 
(Amounts in Philippine Pesos) 

 
 
1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 

 
1.1 Corporate Information 
 
BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc. (the Company) is a domestic corporation incorporated in 
1981.  Its shares were listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) on January 6, 1997.   
It operates as a leasing and financing entity, which provides direct leases, sale and leaseback 
arrangements and real estate leases.  Financing products include amortized commercial 
loans, installment paper purchases, floor stock financing, receivables discounting, and 
factoring. 
 
The Company is a subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc. (BDO Unibank or Parent Company), 
a universal bank incorporated and doing business in the Philippines.  BDO Unibank offers 
a wide range of banking services such as traditional loan and deposit products, as well as 
treasury, remittance, trade services, credit card services, trust and others. 
 
As a subsidiary of BDO Unibank, the Company is considered a non-bank financial 
institution whose operations are regulated and supervised by the Bangko Sentral ng 
Pilipinas (BSP).  In this regard, the Company is required to comply with the rules and 
regulations of the BSP. 
 
The Company’s principal office is located at 39th Floor, BDO Corporate Center Ortigas,  
12 ADB Avenue, Ortigas Center, Mandaluyong City.   

 
1.2 Status of Operations 
 
On May 25, 2019, the Board of Directors (BOD) of BDO Unibank approved the 
restructuring of the leasing business of the BDO Unibank Group.  The restructuring of 
BDO Unibank Group’s leasing business was undertaken to optimize the financial needs  
of clients in light of new accounting standards covering lease transactions, PFRS 16, Leases, 
which took effect on January 1, 2019, requiring leases to be recognized on balance sheet 
similar to a loan facility.  As a result, this made lease transactions a less attractive financing 
option to corporate borrowers.  The volume of the leasing business is expected to be 
affected going forward, thus, no longer appropriate for a listed company. 
 
Under the restructuring process, BDO Finance Corporation (BDO Finance), a new  
privately held finance company, was incorporated on December 9, 2019 to provide 
customers continuing access to lease products and services.  BDO Finance started 
operations on October 19, 2020 and assumed the lease transactions booked in the  
Company to provide business continuity to existing clients. 
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Furthermore, the Company sold substantially all its assets to BDO Unibank, BDO Finance 
and other subsidiaries as part of the restructuring as approved by the Company’s BOD on 
January 31, 2020 and its shareholders on July 21, 2020. 
 
In various dates in 2020, the Company’s core loans and receivables and investments were 
disposed of to related parties as part of the Company’s action to address the widening 
liquidity gap as it winds down its operations during the first months of community 
quarantine brought by COVID-19 pandemic (see Notes 7 and 8).   
 
On October 16, 2020, the Company assigned irrevocably and absolutely to BDO Finance 
the Company’s residual assets and liabilities, including its ownership of 250,000,000 
common shares held in its subsidiary, BDO Rental becoming a wholly owned subsidiary of 
BDO Finance (see Note 14).   
 
The Company will be re-purposed into a listed holding company of the BDO Unibank 
Group.  The Company has sufficient liquid assets (in the form of cash and investment in 
unit investment trust fund) to fund future investments after the approval of regulators for its 
application for a license as a holding company.  Accordingly, the financial statements have 
been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern entity which 
contemplates the realization of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal course of 
business.  The Management has determined that no material uncertainty on the Company 
exists.  
 
1.3 Approval of Financial Statements 

 
The accompanying financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 
2021 (including the comparative financial statements as of December 31, 2020 and for the 
years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019) were authorized for issue by the Company’s 
BOD on February 23, 2022. 
 
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial 
statements are summarized below and in the succeeding pages.  These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

  
2.1 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements 

 
(a) Statement of Compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 

 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).  PFRS are adopted by the Financial 
Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) from the pronouncements issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board and approved by the Philippine Board of 
Accountancy.  

 
The financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified 
by PFRS for each type of asset, liability, income and expense.  The measurement 
bases are more fully described in the accounting policies in the succeeding pages.  
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(b) Presentation of Financial Statements 

 

The financial statements are presented in accordance with Philippine Accounting 
Standard (PAS) 1, Presentation of Financial Statements.  The Company presents the 
statement of comprehensive income separately from the statement of income. 
 
In relation to the effective transfer in 2020 of BDO Rental to BDO Finance, the 
Company has ceased to consolidate the balances from financial statements and has 
no longer presented consolidated financial statements and the segment reporting in 
the notes to the financial statements.  The amounts presented and the discussion in 
the succeeding notes pertain only to the financial condition and results of operations 
of the Company alone.   
 
In relation to the transition of the Company’s leasing and financing operations to 
BDO Finance, separate analyses of continuing operations and discontinued 
operations were presented in the financial statements particularly for statement of 
income, statement of comprehensive income and statement of cash flows.  
Moreover, all notes to the financial statements indicating 2021 balances pertain to 
continuing operations while the remaining amounts relate to discontinued operations  
(see also Note 2.7).  Further, in 2021 as discussed in the preceding paragraph, the 
Company has no longer presented consolidated financial statements given that its 
only subsidiary was already disposed in 2020.  
 

(c) Functional and Presentation Currency 

 
These financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, the functional and 
presentation currency, and all values represent absolute amounts except when 
otherwise indicated.   

 
Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the 
functional currency.  Functional currency is the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Company operates. 

 
2.2 Adoption of Amended PFRS 

 
The Company did not adopt amendments to PFRS, which are mandatorily effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021, as it is not applicable to the 
Company.  Discussed below and in the succeeding page are the relevant information about 
amendments to existing standards subsequent to 2021 which were not adopted early. 

 
(a) PAS 37 (Amendments), Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets – 

Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (effective January 1, 2022)  
 

(b) Annual Improvements to PFRS 2018-2020 Cycle.  Among the improvements, 
only PFRS 9 (Amendments), Financial Instruments – Fees in the ’10 per cent’ Test for 

Derecognition of Liabilities which are effective from January 1, 2022, is relevant to 
the Company 

 
(c) PAS 1 (Amendments), Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification of 

Liabilities as Current or Non-current (effective January 1, 2023)  
 

(d) PAS 1 (Amendments), Presentation of Financial Statements – Disclosure of Accounting 

Policies (effective January 1, 2023) 
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(e) PAS 8 (Amendments), Accounting Estimates – Definition of Accounting Estimates  
(January 1, 2023)  
 

2.3 Financial Instruments  
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the entity becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 
At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair 
value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value 
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are incremental or directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, such as fees and commissions.  
Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value through 
profit or loss are expensed in the profit or loss. 

 
(a) Classification, Measurement and Reclassification of Financial Assets 

 
The classification and measurement of financial assets is driven by the entity’s 
business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial assets.  The classification and measurement of financial 
assets are described below.  

 
(i) Financial Assets at Amortized Cost 

 
Financial assets are measured at amortized cost if both of the following 
conditions are met: 

 
 the asset is held within the Company’s business model whose objective is to 

hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows (“hold to 
collect”); and, 

 
 the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on specified dates, to cash 

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal 
amount outstanding. 

 
Financial assets meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus 
transaction costs.  They are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment in value. 

 
Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows, the 
Company assesses whether the financial instruments’ cash flows represent SPPI.   
In making this assessment, the Company considers whether the contractual cash 
flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement, i.e., interest includes only 
consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks 
and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement  
[see Note 3.1(b)].   

 
Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are 
inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is 
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 
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The Company’s financial assets at amortized cost are presented in the statement 
of financial position as Cash and Cash Equivalents and Loans and Other 
Receivables.  Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits 
and short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months 
or less, readily convertible to known amounts of cash. 

 
(ii) Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income  

 
The Company’s accounts for financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI) if the assets meet the following conditions: 

 
 they are held under a business model whose objective is to hold to collect  

the associated cash flows and sell (“hold to collect and sell”); and, 
 

 the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are 
SPPI on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
At initial recognition, the Company can make an irrevocable election (on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate equity investments as at FVOCI; 
however, such designation is not permitted if the equity investment is held by the 
Company for trading or as mandatorily required to be classified as FVTPL.  The 
Company has designated all its unit investment trust funds (UITF) as financial 
assets at FVTPL. 

 
Financial assets at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction 
costs.  Subsequently, they are measured at fair value, with no deduction for any 
disposal costs.  Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value, including the 
foreign exchange component, are recognized in other comprehensive income, net 
of any effects arising from income taxes, and are reported as Net Unrealized 
Gains (Losses) (NUGL) on Financial Assets at FVOCI account in equity.  When 
the asset is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in 
NUGL on Financial Assets at FVOCI account is not reclassified to profit or loss 
but is reclassified directly to Retained Earnings account, except for those debt 
securities classified as FVOCI wherein cumulative fair value changes are 
reclassified to profit or loss. 

 
Any dividends earned on holding equity instruments are recognized in profit or 
loss as part of Other Income account, when the Company’s right to receive 
dividends is established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with 
the dividend will flow to the Company, and, the amount of the dividend can be 
measured reliably, unless the dividends clearly represent recovery of a part of the 
cost of the investment. 
 

(iii) Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 
 

Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than  
“hold to collect” or “hold to collect and sell” are categorized at FVTPL, if any.  
Further, irrespective of business model, financial assets whose contractual cash 
flows are not SPPI are accounted for at FVTPL.  Also, equity securities are 
classified as financial assets at FVTPL, unless the Company designates an equity 
investment that is not held for trading as at FVOCI at initial recognition.   
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Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value with gains or losses 
recognized in the statement of income, if any.  The fair values of these financial 
assets are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a 
valuation technique where no active market exists. 

 
The Company can only reclassify financial assets if the objective of its business model 
for managing those financial assets changes.  Accordingly, the Company is required to 
reclassify financial assets: (i) from amortized cost to FVTPL, if the objective of the 
business model changes so that the amortized cost criteria are no longer met; and,  
(ii) from FVTPL to amortized cost, if the objective of the business model changes so 
that the amortized cost criteria start to be met and the characteristic of the 
instrument’s contractual cash flows meet the amortized cost criteria. 

 
A change in the objective of the Company’s business model will take effect only at the 
beginning of the next reporting period following the change in the business model. 
 

(b) Effective Interest Rate Method and Interest Income 
 
Interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR) method for all 
financial instrument measured at amortized cost and interest-bearing financial 
instruments at FVOCI.  The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 

 
The EIR is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition, 
fees and costs that are an integral part of EIR.  The Company recognizes interest 
income using a rate of return that represents the best estimate of a constant rate of 
return over the expected life of the loan.  Hence, it recognizes the effect of 
potentially different interest rates charged at various stages, and other characteristics 
of the product life cycle (including prepayments, penalty interest and charges). 
 
If expectations regarding the cash flows on the financial asset are revised for reasons 
other than credit risk, the adjustment is booked as a positive (negative) adjustment to 
the carrying amount of the asset in the statement of financial position with an 
increase (reduction) in Interest income.  The adjustment is subsequently amortized 
through interest and similar income in the statement of income. 

 
The Company calculates interest income by applying the EIR to the gross carrying 
amount of financial assets other than credit-impaired assets. 

 
For financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition 
[see Note 2.3(c)], interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to 
the net carrying amount of the financial assets (after deduction of the loss allowance).  
If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts 
to the gross basis.  For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, 
interest income is calculated by applying a credit-adjusted EIR to the amortized cost of 
the asset.  The calculation of interest income does not revert to a gross basis, even if 
the credit risk of the asset improves. 

  



   - 7 - 

(c) Impairment of Financial Assets 
 

At the end of the reporting period, the Company assesses its expected credit losses 

(ECL) on a forward-looking basis associated with its financial assets carried at 

amortized cost and debt instruments measured at FVOCI.  No impairment loss is 

recognized on equity investments.  The Company considers a broader range of 

information in assessing credit risk and measuring ECL, including past events, current 

conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect collectability of the future 

cash flows of the financial assets. 

 

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except 

for the following financial instruments for which they are measured as 12-month ECL: 

 

 debt securities that are identified to have ‘low credit risk’ at the reporting date; and, 

 

 other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on which credit risk has 

not increased significantly since their initial recognition. 

 

For these financial instruments, the allowance for credit losses is based on 12-month 

ECL associated with the probability of default of a financial instrument in the next  

12 months (referred to as ‘Stage 1’ financial instruments).  When there has been a 

significant increase in credit risk subsequent to the initial recognition of the financial 

asset, a lifetime ECL (which are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows, 

considering the potential for default at any point during the life of the financial asset)  

will be recognized (referred to as ‘Stage 2’ financial instruments).  ‘Stage 2’ financial 

instruments also include those loan accounts and facilities where the credit risk has 

improved and have been reclassified from ‘Stage 3’.  A lifetime ECL shall also be 

recognized for ‘Stage 3’ financial instruments, which include financial instruments that 

are subsequently credit-impaired, as well as purchased or originated credit impaired 

(POCI) assets. 

 

The Company’s definition of credit risk and information on how credit risk is 

mitigated by the Company are disclosed in Note 4.3. 

 
Measurement of ECL 
 

The key elements used in the calculation of ECL are as follows: 

 

 Probability of default (PD) – it is an estimate of likelihood of a borrower defaulting on 

its financial obligation (see Note 4.3) over a given time horizon, either over the 

next 12 months (12-month PD) or over the remaining lifetime (lifetime PD) of the 

obligation. 

 

 Loss given default (LGD) – it is an estimate of loss arising in case where a default  

occurs at a given time (either over the next 12 months or 12-month LGD, or over 

the remaining lifetime or lifetime LGD).  It is based on the difference between the 

contractual cash flows of a financial instrument due from a counterparty and those 

that the Company would expect to receive, including the realization of any 

collateral.  It is presented as a percentage loss per unit of exposure at the time of 

default. 
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 Exposure at default (EAD) – it represents the gross carrying amount of the financial 
instruments subject to the impairment calculation; hence, this is the amount that 
the Company expects to be owed at the time of default over the next 12 months 
(12-month EAD) or over the remaining lifetime (lifetime EAD).  In case of a loan 
commitment, the Company shall include the undrawn balance (up to the current 
contractual limit) at the time of default should it occur, unless the drawdown after 
default will be mitigated by the normal credit risk management actions and policies 
of the Company.   
 
The measurement of the ECL reflects: (i) an unbiased and probability-weighted 
amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes; (ii) the time 
value of money; and, (iii) reasonable and supportable information that is available 
without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current 
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.   

 
The Company’s detailed ECL measurement, as determined by the management, is 
disclosed in Note 4.3. 

 
(d) Derecognition of Financial Assets 
 

(i) Modification of Loans 
 

When the Company derecognizes a financial asset through renegotiation or 
modification of contractual cash flows of loans to customers, the Company 
assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially different to the original 
terms.  The Company considers, among others: 

 
 If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely 

reduces the contractual cash flows to amounts the borrower is expected to be 
able to pay; 
 

 Whether any substantial new terms are introduced that will affect the risk 
profile of the loan; 

 
 Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial     

difficulty; 
 

 Significant change in the interest rate; 
 

 Change in the currency the loan is denominated in; and/or,  
 

 Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that will 
significantly affect the credit risk associated with the loan. 

 
If the terms are substantially different, the Company derecognizes the financial 
asset and recognizes a “new” asset at fair value, and recalculate a new effective 
interest rate for the asset.  The date of renegotiation is consequently considered 
to be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation, including for the 
purpose of determining whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred.  
However, the Company also assesses whether the new financial asset recognized 
is deemed to be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances 
where the renegotiation was driven by the debtor being unable to make the 
originally agreed payments.   
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Differences in the carrying amount are recognized as gain or loss on 
derecognition of financial assets in profit or loss.  As to the impact on ECL 
measurement, the expected fair value of the “new” asset is treated as the final 
cash flow from the existing financial asset at the date of derecognition.  Such 
amount is included in the calculation of cash shortfalls from the existing 
financial asset that are discounted from the expected date of derecognition to 
the reporting date using the original EIR of the existing financial asset. 
 
If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification 
does not result in derecognition, and the Company recalculates the gross 
carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial asset and 
recognize a modification gain or loss in profit or loss.  The new gross carrying 
amount is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows of the original 
EIR (or credit-adjusted EIR for POCI financial assets).  As to the impact on 
ECL measurement, the derecognition of the existing financial asset will result in 
the expected cash flows arising from the modified financial asset to be included 
in the calculation of cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset. 

 
(ii) Derecognition of Financial Assets other than Modification 

 
A financial asset (or where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a 
group of financial assets) is derecognized when the contractual rights to receive 
cash flows from the financial instruments expire, or when the financial assets 
and all substantial risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to 
another party.  If the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, 
the Company recognizes its retained interest in the asset and an associated 
liability for amounts it may have to pay.  If the Company retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Company 
continues to recognize the financial asset and a collateralized borrowing for the 
proceeds received. 

 
(e) Classification and Measurement of Financial Liabilities 

 
Financial liabilities pertain to accounts payable and other liabilities (except tax-related 
payables). 

 
Financial liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual terms of the instrument.  All interest-related charges are included as part of 
Interest and Financing Charges under Operating Costs and Expenses in the statement 
of income. 

 
 Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities are initially recognized at their fair values and 

subsequently measured at amortized cost less settlement payments. 
 

 Dividend Distributions to Shareholders are recognized as financial liabilities upon 
declaration by the Company.  

 
(f) Derecognition of Financial Liabilities 
 

Financial liabilities are derecognized from the statement of financial position only 
when the obligations are extinguished either through discharge, cancellation or 
expiration.  The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 
derecognized and the consideration paid or payable is recognized in profit or loss. 
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2.4 Offsetting Financial Instruments 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the resulting net amount, considered 
as a single financial asset or financial liability, is reported in the statement of financial 
position when the Company currently has legally enforceable right to set-off the recognized 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.  The right of set-off must be available at the end of the reporting 
period, that is, it is not contingent on a future event.  It must also be enforceable in the 
normal course of business, in the event of default, and in the event of insolvency or 
bankruptcy; and, must be legally enforceable for both entity and all counterparties to the 
financial instruments. 
 
2.5 Provisions and Contingencies 

 
Provisions are recognized when present obligations will probably lead to an outflow of 
economic resources and they can be estimated reliably even if the timing or amount of the 
outflow may still be uncertain.  A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or 
constructive commitment that has resulted from past events.  

 
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at the end of the reporting period, 
including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation.  Where there 
are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  When time 
value of money is material, long-term provisions are discounted to their present values 
using a pretax rate that reflects market assessments and the risks specific to the obligation.  
The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.  
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the 
current best estimate. 

 
In those cases, where the possible outflow of economic resource as a result of present 
obligations is considered improbable or remote, or the amount to be provided for cannot 
be measured reliably, no liability is recognized in the financial statements.  Similarly, 
possible inflows of economic benefits to the Company that does not yet meet the 
recognition criteria of an asset are considered contingent assets, hence, are not recognized 
in the financial statements.  On the other hand, any reimbursement that the Company can 
be virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect to the obligation is recognized 
as a separate asset not exceeding the amount of the related provision. 

 
2.6 Equity 

 
Capital stock represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued. 
 
Additional paid-in capital includes any premiums received on the issuance of capital stock.  
Any transaction costs associated with the issuance of shares are deducted from additional 
paid-in capital, net of any related income tax benefits. 
 
Treasury shares are stated at the cost of reacquiring such shares. 
 
Net accumulated actuarial losses arise from the remeasurement of post-employment 
defined benefit plan. 
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NUGL losses on financial assets at FVOCI pertain to cumulative mark-to-market 

valuation.  

Accumulated share in other comprehensive income of an associate pertains to changes 

resulting from the Company’s share in other comprehensive income of associate or items 

recognized directly in the associates’ equity. 

 

Retained earnings reserves pertain to the appropriation of the Retained Earnings – Free 

account, brought about by cases when the ECL on ‘Stage 1’ loan accounts computed under 

the requirements of PFRS 9, Financial Instruments is less than the 1% General Loan Loss 

Provision (GLLP) required by the BSP.  This is in pursuant to BSP Circular No. 1011, 

Guidelines on the Adoption of PFRS 9, which requires financial institutions to set up GLLP 

equivalent to 1% of all outstanding ‘Stage 1’ on the statement of financial position.  As at 

December 31, 2020, the Company appropriately reversed such appropriation since all of its 

loans and receivables subject to 1% GLLP were already sold (see Note 11.5).   

 

Retained earnings free represents all current and prior period results as reported in the 

statement of income, reduced by the amounts of dividends declared. 

 

2.7 Other Income and Expense Recognition 
 

Revenue is recognized only when (or as) the Company satisfy a performance obligation by 

transferring control of the promised services to the customer.   

 

A contract with a customer that results in a recognized financial instrument in the 

Company’s financial statements may be partially within the scope of PFRS 9 and partially 

within the scope of PFRS 15, Revenues from Contracts with Customers.  In such case, the 

Company first applies PFRS 9 to separate and measure the part of the contract that is  

in-scope of PFRS 9, and then apply PFRS 15 to the residual part of the contract.  Expenses 

and costs, if any, are recognized in profit or loss upon utilization of the assets or services or 

at the date these are incurred.  All finance costs are reported in profit or loss on accrual 

basis. 

 

Before the restructuring, the Company also earns service fees related to the Company’s 

factoring receivables which are supported by contracts and approved by the parties 

involved.  These revenues are accounted for by the Company in accordance with PFRS 15.   

 

For revenues arising from various financing services which are to be accounted for under  

PFRS 15, the following provides information about the nature and timing of satisfaction of 

performance obligations in contracts with customers and the related revenue recognition 

policies: 

 

(a) Service fees – Service fees related to the factoring of receivables are recognized as 

revenue at the point when services are rendered, i.e., when performance obligation is 

satisfied.  This account is included under Other Income account in the statement of 

income. 

 

(b) Income from assets sold or exchanged – Income from assets sold or exchanged is recognized 

when the control and title to the properties is transferred to the buyer or when the 

collectability of the entire sales price is reasonably assured.  This account is included 

under Other Income account in the statement of income.  
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2.8 Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation 
 

The accounting records of the Company are maintained in Philippine pesos.  Foreign 
currency transactions during the period are translated into the functional currency at 
exchange rates which approximate those prevailing on transaction dates.   

 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and 
from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the statement of income. 

 
Changes in the fair value of monetary financial assets denominated in foreign currency 
classified as financial assets at FVOCI are analyzed between translation differences 
resulting from changes in the amortized cost of the security and other changes in the 
carrying amount of the security.  Translation differences related to changes in amortized 
cost are recognized in profit or loss, and other changes in the carrying amount are 
recognized in other comprehensive income. 
 
2.9 Employee Benefits 
 
The Company provides post-employment benefits to employees through a defined benefit 
plan, defined contribution plan and other employee benefits which are recognized as 
follows: 
 
(a) Termination Benefits 

 
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Company 
before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary 
redundancy in exchange for these benefits.  The Company recognizes termination 
benefits at the earlier of when it can no longer withdraw the offer of such benefits 
and when it recognizes costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of PAS 37, 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, and involves the payment of 
termination benefits.  In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary 
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of 
employees expected to accept the offer.  Benefits falling due more than 12 months 
after the reporting period are discounted to their present value. 
 

(b) Compensated Absences 
 

Compensated absences are recognized for the number of paid leave days  
(including holiday entitlement) remaining at the end of reporting period.  They are 
included in the Account Payable and Other Liabilities account in the statement of 
financial position at the undiscounted amount that the Company expects to pay as  
a result of the unused entitlement.  Compensated absences convertible to monetary 
consideration accruing to employees qualified under the retirement plan are now 
funded by the Company through its post-employment retirement fund.   Accordingly, 
the related Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities account previously set-up for the 
compensated absences is reversed upon contribution to the retirement fund. 
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(c) Employee Stock Option Plan 
 
BDO Unibank Group grants stock option plan to its senior officers (from vice 
president up), including the officers of the Company, for their contribution to the 
Company’s performance and attainment of team goals.  The stock option plan gives 
qualified employees the right to purchase BDO Unibank’s shares at an agreed strike 
price.  The amount of stock option allocated to the qualified officers is based on the 
performance of the individual officers as determined by the management and is 
determined based on the Company’s performance in the preceding year and 
amortized over five years (vesting period) starting from date of approval of the BOD.  
The number of officers qualified at the grant date is regularly evaluated (at least 
annually) during the vesting period and the amount of stock option is decreased in 
case there are changes in the number of qualified employees arising from resignation 
or disqualification.  
 
Liability recognized on the stock option plan for the amount charged by the BDO 
Unibank Group attributable to the qualified officers of the Company is included in 
Accrued taxes and other expenses under Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities 
account in the statement of financial position and the related expense is presented in 
Employee Benefits account under Operating Costs and Expenses in the statement of 
income (see Notes 10 and 13). 

 
2.10 Income Taxes 

 
Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises current tax and deferred tax not 
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, if any. 

 
Current tax assets or liabilities comprise those claims from, or obligations to, fiscal 
authorities relating to the current or prior reporting period, that are uncollected or unpaid 
at the end of the reporting period.  They are calculated using the tax rates and tax laws 
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year.  
All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense 
in profit or loss. 

 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the liability method, on temporary differences at the 
end of the reporting period between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes.  Under the liability method, with certain 
exceptions, deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences and 
deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences and the 
carryforward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can 
be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting 
period and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profit will be available to allow such deferred tax assets to be recovered. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in 
the period when the asset is realized, or the liability is settled provided such tax rates have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
and reduced to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. 
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The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that 

would follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of the reporting 

period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.  Most changes in 

deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense in profit or 

loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income 

or directly in equity.  In this case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income 

or directly in equity, respectively. 

 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if the Company has a legally 

enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred 

taxes relate to the same entity and the same taxation authority. 

 
2.11 Earnings Per Share  

 
Basic earnings per common share is determined by dividing net income attributable to 

equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares 

subscribed and issued during the year, adjusted retroactively for any stock dividend, stock 

split or reverse stock split declared during the current period.  The Company does not have 

dilutive common shares. 

 
2.12 Related Party Transactions and Relationships 
 

Related party transactions are transfer of resources, services or obligations between the 

Company and its related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged. 

 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or 

exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating 

decisions.  These parties include: (a) individuals owning, directly or indirectly through one 

or more intermediaries, control or are controlled by, or under common control with the 

Company; (b) associates; (c) individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the 

voting power of the Company that gives them significant influence over the Company and 

close members of the family of any such individual; and (d) the Company’s retirement plan. 

 

In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the 

substance of the relationship and not merely on the legal form. 

 

Transactions amounting to 10% or more of the total assets based on the latest audited 

consolidated financial statements that were entered into with related parties are considered 

material. 

 

All individual material related party transactions shall be approved by at least two-thirds 

vote of the board of directors, with at least a majority of the independent directors voting 

to approve the material related party transactions.  In case that a majority of the 

independent directors’ vote is not secured, the material related party transaction may be 

ratified by the vote of stockholders representing at least two-thirds of the outstanding 

capital stock.  For aggregate related party transactions within a 12-month period that 

breaches the materiality threshold of 10% of the Company’s total assets based on the latest 

audited consolidated financial statements, the same board approval would be required for 

the transaction(s) that meets and exceeds the materiality threshold covering the same 

related party. 
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2.13 Events After the End of the Reporting Period 
 
Any post-year-end event that provides additional information about the Company’s 
financial position at the end of the reporting period (adjusting event) is reflected in the 
financial statements.  Post-year-end events that are not adjusting events, if any, are 
disclosed when material to the financial statements. 

 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 
 

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires 
management to make judgements and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the 
financial statements and related notes.  Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated 
and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results may 
ultimately differ from these estimates. 

 
3.1 Critical Management Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 

 
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the 
following judgements, apart from those involving estimation, which have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements: 

 
(a) Evaluation of Business Model Applied in Managing Financial Instruments 

 
The Company developed business models which reflect how it manages its portfolio 
of financial instruments.  The Company’s business models need not be assessed at 
entity level or as a whole but shall be applied at the level of a portfolio of financial 
instruments (i.e., group of financial instruments that are managed together by the 
Company) and not on an instrument-by-instrument basis (i.e., not based on intention 
or specific characteristics of individual financial instrument). 

 
In determining the classification of a financial instrument under PFRS 9, the Company 
evaluates in which business model a financial instrument, or a portfolio of financial 
instruments belong to taking into consideration the objectives of each business model 
established by the Company (e.g., held-for-trading, generating accrual income, direct 
matching to a specific liability) as those relate to the Company’s investment and 
trading strategies. 

 
If more than an infrequent sale is made from a portfolio of financial assets carried at 
amortized cost, an entity should assess whether and how such sales are consistent with 
the objective of collecting contractual cash flows.  In making this judgment, the 
Company considers certain circumstances documented in its business model manual 
to assess that an increase in the frequency or value of sales of financial instruments in 
a particular period is not necessarily inconsistent with the HTC business model if the 
Company can explain the reasons for those sales and why those sales do not reflect a 
change in the Company’s objective for the business model. 

 
  



   - 16 - 

In relation to the BDO Unibank Group’s leasing business, in various dates in 2020,  
the Company disposed of all core loans and receivables as it wound down its 
operations (see Note 1.2).  Such disposal is not consistent with the HTC business 
model; however, since there were no remaining core loans and receivables as at  
December 31, 2020, further evaluation of the Company’s HTC business model is no 
longer done (see Note 7).  No similar transaction transpired in 2021.  

 
(b) Testing the Cash Flow Characteristics of Financial Assets and Continuing Evaluation of the 

Business Model 
 

In determining the classification of financial assets under PFRS 9, the Company 
assesses whether the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are SPPI on the principal outstanding, with interest 
representing time value of money and credit risk associated with the principal amount 
outstanding.  The assessment as to whether the cash flows meet the test is made in the 
currency in which the financial asset is denominated.  Any other contractual term that 
changes the timing or amount of cash flows (unless it is a variable interest rate that 
represents time value of money and credit risk) does not meet the amortized cost 
criteria.  In cases where the relationship between the passage of time and the interest 
rate of the financial instrument may be imperfect, known as modified time value of 
money, the Company assesses the modified time value of money feature to determine 
whether the financial instrument still meets the SPPI criterion.  The objective of the 
assessment is to determine how different the undiscounted contractual cash flows 
could be from the undiscounted cash flows that would arise if the time value of money 
element was not modified (the benchmark cash flows).  If the resulting difference is 
significant, the SPPI criterion is not met.  In view of this, the Company considers the 
effect of the modified time value of money element in each reporting period and 
cumulatively over the life of the financial instrument.   

 
In addition, PFRS 9 emphasizes that if more than an infrequent sale is made from 
portfolio of financial assets carried at amortized cost, if any, an entity should assess 
whether and how such sales are consistent with the objective of collecting contractual 
cash flows.  

 
In 2020, there were disposals made by the Company [see Notes 1.2, 3.1(a) and 7].   
No similar transaction transpired in 2021.  

 
(c) Recognition of Provisions and Contingencies 

 
Judgement is exercised by management to distinguish between provisions and 
contingencies.  Policies on recognition of provisions and contingencies are discussed 
in Note 2.5 and disclosures on relevant provisions are presented in Note 14. 

 
3.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

 
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period, that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next reporting period: 
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(a)  Estimation of Allowance for ECL 
 

The measurement of the allowance for ECL on financial assets at amortized cost is 
an area that requires the use of significant assumptions about the future economic 
conditions and credit behavior (e.g., likelihood of customers defaulting and the 
resulting losses).   

 
(b) Determining Realizable Amount of Deferred Tax Assets 

 
The Company reviews its deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting period and 
reduces the carrying amount to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
utilized.  In 2020, the management has derecognized all its deferred tax assets related 
to the tax bases of assets and liabilities sold and transferred as part of the 
restructuring of BDO Unibank Group’s leasing business.  As of December 31, 2021 
and 2020, there were unrecognized deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from 
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period as it is unlikely to be 
recovered in the future.  

 
 
4. RISK MANAGEMENT  
 

With its culture of managing risk prudently within its capacity and capabilities, the 
Company will pursue its strategy and business plans to achieve its desired long-term target 
returns to its shareholders and satisfy or abide by the needs of its other stakeholders, 
including its regulators. 

 
The Company believes that, as there are opportunities, there are associated risks and the 
objective is not to totally avoid risks, but to adequately and consistently evaluate, manage, 
control, and monitor the risks and ensure that the Company is adequately compensated for 
all the risks taken.  Good risk management involves making informed and rational 
decisions about the level of risks the institution wants to take, in the pursuit of its 
objectives, but with consideration to return commensurate with the risk-taking activity.   

 
The Company’s goal is to remain a strong company that is resilient to possible adverse 
events.  Hence, the Company ensures: 
 
 strong financial position by maintaining adequate capital ratios  

 
 sound management of liquidity; and, 

 
 ability to generate sustainable earnings commensurate with the risks taken.   

 
For credit risk, market risk, and liquidity risk, the Company ensures that these are within  
Board-approved operating limits.  For operational risk (which includes legal, regulatory, 
compliance risks), and reputational risks, these are invariably managed by the development 
of both a strong “control culture” and an effective internal control system that constantly 
monitors and updates operational policies and procedures with respect to the Company’s 
activities and transactions. 
 
Risk management begins at the highest level of the organization.  At the helm of the  
risk management infrastructure is the BOD who is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining a sound risk management system.  The BOD assumes oversight over the  
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entire risk management process and has the ultimate responsibility for all risks taken.   
 

It regularly reviews and approves the institution’s tolerance for risks, as well as, its  
business strategy and risk philosophy.  

 
The BOD has constituted the Risk Management Committee (RMC) as the Board-Level  
Committee responsible for the development and oversight of the risk management  
program.  Considering the importance of appropriately addressing credit risk, the  
BOD has also constituted the Executive Committee.  The Executive Committee is 
responsible for approving credit-specific transactions, while the RMC is responsible for 
approving risk appetite levels, policies and risk tolerance limits related to credit portfolio 
risk, market risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk,  operational risk (including business 
continuity risk, IT risk, information security and cyber-security risk, data privacy risk and 
social risk to ensure that current and emerging risk exposures are consistent with the 
Company’s strategic direction and overall risk appetite.  
 
Within the Company’s overall risk management system is the Assets and Liabilities 
Committee (ALCO), which is responsible for managing the Company’s statement of 
financial position, including its liquidity, interest rate and foreign exchange related risks.   
In addition, ALCO formulates investment and financial policies by determining the asset 
allocation and funding mix strategies that are likely to yield the targeted financial results. 
 
The Company operates an integrated risk management system to address the risks it faces in 
its activities..  The Risk Management Unit (RMU), which reports to the RMC, is mandated 
to adequately and consistently evaluate, manage, control, and monitor the overall risk profile 
of the Company’s activities across the different risk areas (i.e., credit, market, liquidity, 
interest rate and operational risks, including business continuity risk, IT risk, information 
security, cyber-security, and data privacy risk, to optimize the risk-reward balance and 
maximize return on capital.  RMU also has the responsibility for recommending to the 
appropriate body, risk policies across the full range of risks to which the Company is 
exposed.  
 
The evaluation, analysis, and control performed by the Risk Function, in conjunction with 
the Risk Takers, constitute the risk management process.  The risk management process is 
applied at three levels: the transaction level, the business unit level, and the portfolio level.  
This framework ensures that risks are properly identified, quantified, and analyzed, in the 
light of its potential effect on the Company’s business.  The goal of the risk management 
process is to ensure rigorous adherence to the Company’s standards for precision in risk 
measurement and reporting and to make possible, in-depth analysis of the deployment of 
capital and the returns that are delivered to the shareholders. 
 
4.1 Foreign Exchange Risk 

 
Most of the Company’s transactions are carried out in Philippine pesos, its functional 
currency.  Exposures to currency exchange rates on financial assets arise from a portion of 
the Company’s cash and cash equivalents which are denominated in United States (U.S.) 
dollars.  In August 2021, the Company sold all its dollar denominated cash in bank.  

 
The Company’s foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities 
translated into Philippine pesos at the closing rate at December 31, 2021 and 2020 pertains 
only to Cash and cash equivalents amounting to nil and P38,246,601 in 2021 and 2020, 
respectively.   
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On December 31, 2020, the currency exchange rates used to translate U.S. dollar 
denominated financial assets and financial liabilities to the Philippine pesos is  
approximately P48.02. 
 
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the year and equity with 
regard to the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities and the U.S. dollar – 
Philippine peso exchange rate.  It assumes a +/-19.7% change and +/-16.0% change of the 
Philippine peso/U.S. dollar exchange rate as on December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.  
These percentages have been determined based on the average market volatility in 
exchange rates in the previous 12 months at a 99% confidence level.   

 
The sensitivity analysis is based on the Company’s foreign currency financial instruments 
held at the end of 2020.  Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the year 
depending on the volume of foreign currency denominated transactions.  Nonetheless, the 
analysis above is considered to be representative of the Company’s currency risk. 

 
4.2 Interest Rate Risk 
 
On December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company has no material exposure to changes in 
interest rates since there are no outstanding loans and other receivables.  

 
4.3 Credit Risk 

 
As of December 31, 2021, the Company’s financial assets that are subject to credit risk are 
related only to cash and cash equivalents and other receivables, in the form of creditable 
withholding taxes.  In general, the Company regularly monitors the credit quality of these 
financial assets and incorporates this information into its credit risk controls and policies.   
 
In 2020, prior to the disposal of the Company’s loans and lease receivables, the Company’s 
financial assets subject to credit risk consisted of lease and loan portfolios, cash and cash 
equivalents and other receivables.  Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty in a 
transaction may default and arises from lending, treasury, and other activities undertaken by 
the Company.  For loans and lease receivables, the RMU undertakes several functions with 
respect to credit risk management including credit analysis, risk ratings for corporate 
accounts, and development and performance monitoring of credit risk rating and scoring 
models for both corporate and consumer loans.  It also ensures that Company’s credit 
policies and procedures are adequate to meet the demands of the business.  The Company 
structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk 
accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to industry segments.  
Such risks are monitored on a regular basis and subject to an annual or more frequent 
review.  Approval for credit limits is secured from the Executive Committee.  Exposure to 
credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential 
borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending 
limits when appropriate.  Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part by obtaining 
collateral or corporate and personal guarantees.   
 
Loan classification and credit risk rating are an integral part of the Company’s management 
of credit risk.  On an annual basis, loans are reviewed, classified as necessary, and rated 
based on internal and external factors that affect its performance.  On a monthly basis, loan 
classifications of impaired accounts are assessed, and the results are used as basis for the 
review of loan loss provisions.   
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In addition to the above, credit portfolio review is another integral part of the Company’s 
management of credit risk.  This exercise involves the conduct of periodic post approval 
review of individual credits whose main objective is to help monitor and maintain sound and 
healthy risk asset portfolio.  Parameters of the credit portfolio review are structured to 
reflect both sides of the risk management equation such as credit quality and process.  This 
function actuates the philosophy that credit quality is derived from sound risk management 
process.  The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Company using internal 
credit ratings. 
 

4.3.1    Credit Quality Analysis 
 

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of its Cash and Cash 
Equivalents and Loans and Other Receivables.  Unless specifically indicated, for 
financial assets, the amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts.  In 2021 
and 2020, the Company has no financial instruments that are purchased or originated 
credit impaired assets. 

 
The following table shows the exposure to credit risk as of December 31 for each 
internal risk grade and the related allowance for impairment:  

   

         Stage 1   Stage 2   Stage 3   Total  
2021 

 
Cash and cash equivalents  

 Grades AAA to B: Current*  P 15,204,057   P -    P -    P 15,204,057 
 

Other receivables  
 Grades AAA to B: Current*  P 127,392,155   P -    P -    P 127,392,155 

 
   2020 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 
 Grades AAA to B: Current*  P 115,984,914   P -    P -   P 115,984,914 
 

Other receivables  
 Grades AAA to B: Current*  P 124,759,367   P -    P 2,645,414   P 127,404,781 

 
 *No expected credit loss allowance 

 
 The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents is considered negligible since the 

counterparties are reputable institutions with high quality external credit ratings. 
 

4.3.2   Concentrations of Credit Risk 
 
The Company monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector and by geographic 
location.  An analysis of concentrations of credit risk (net of allowance) at the 
reporting date is shown below. 

   
     2021       2020   
    Cash and     Loans and      Cash and     Loans and  
    Cash     Other    Cash    Other  
   Equivalents     Receivables    Equivalents    Receivables  
 
 Concentration by sector: 
 Financial intermediaries  P 15,204,057   P -   P 115,984,914   P -   
 Other community, social 
 and personal activities   -     127,392,155   -     127,404,781 
 
   P 15,204,057   P 127,392,155  P 115,984,914   P 127,404,781 
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4.3.3 Amounts Arising from Expected Credit Losses 
 

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether Loans and Other Receivables 
are credit-impaired (referred to as Stages 2 and 3 financial assets).  A financial asset is 
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 
 
The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to 
the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of default 
correlations between counterparties.  The Company measures credit risk using PD, 
LGD and EAD. 

 
(a) Significant Increase in Credit Risk 

 
As outlined in PFRS 9, a ‘3-stage’ impairment model was adopted by the 
Company based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition of the 
financial asset. A financial asset that is not credit-impaired on initial 
recognition is classified as ‘Stage 1’, with credit risk continuously 
monitored by the Company as its ECL is measured at an amount equal to 
the portion of lifetime ECL that results from possible default events within 
the next 12 months.  If an SICR since initial recognition is identified, the 
classification will be moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to be  
credit-impaired.  Such assessment is based on the following criteria in 
determining whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk:  
(i) qualitative indicators, such as net losses, intermittent delays in payment 
or restructuring; and (ii) quantitative test based on movement in risk rating 
and PD.  The borrowers can be moved to Stage 1 upon completion of the 
seasoning period which shall be 6 months of continuous payment with no 
incident of past due. 

 
When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has 
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Company considers 
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available 
without undue cost or effort.  This includes both quantitative and 
qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical 
experience and expert credit assessment and including forward-looking 
information (FLI). 

 
The objective of the assessment is to identify whether a significant increase 
in credit risk has occurred for an exposure by comparing: 

 
 the remaining lifetime PD as at the reporting date; with  

 
 the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated at 

the time of initial recognition of the exposure (adjusted where relevant 
for changes in prepayment expectations). 

 
The Company uses the following criteria in determining whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk: (i) quantitative test based on 
movement in PD; and (ii) qualitative indicators, such as substantial decline 
in sales or intermittent delays in payment. 
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(i) Credit Risk Grading 
 

The Company allocates each exposure to a credit risk grade based on a 
variety of data that is determined to be predictive of the risk of default and 
applying experienced credit judgment.  Credit risk grades are defined using 
qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of risk of default.  
These factors vary depending on the nature of the exposure and the type 
of borrower. 
 
The credit grades are defined and calibrated such that the risk of default 
increases exponentially at each higher risk grade so, for example, the 
difference in the PD between an AAA and AA rating grade is lower than 
the difference in the PD between a B and B- rating grade. 

 
(ii)  Generating the Term Structure of PD 

 
Credit risk grades are a primary input into the determination of the term 
structure of PD for exposures.  The Company collects performance and 
default information about its credit risk exposures analyzed by jurisdiction 
or region and by type of product and borrower as well as by credit risk 
grading.  For some portfolios, information from external credit reference 
agencies is also used.  The Company employs statistical models to analyze 
the data collected and generate the term structure of PD estimates.  

 
(iii) Determining Whether Credit Risk has Significantly Increased 

 
The Company assesses whether credit risk has increased significantly since 
initial recognition at each reporting date.  Determining whether an increase 
in credit risk is significant depends on the characteristics of the financial 
instrument and the borrower.  What is considered significant varies across 
financial assets of the Company.  The credit risk may also be deemed to 
have increased significantly since initial recognition based on qualitative 
factors linked to the Company’s risk management processes that may not 
otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis on a timely basis.  
This will be the case for exposures that meet certain heightened risk 
criteria, such as net loss, significant drop in risk ratings, and intermittent 
delays in payments. 

 
If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk 
relative to initial recognition, then the loss allowance on an instrument 
returns to being measured as 12-month ECL. 

 
(b) Definition of Default 

 
The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when:  

 
 the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in 

full, without recourse by the Company to actions such as realizing 
security (if any is held);  
 

 the borrower is more than 90 days past due on any material credit 
obligation to the Company; or, 
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 it is becoming probable that the borrower will restructure the asset as a 
result of bankruptcy due to the borrower’s inability to pay its credit 
obligations.  

 
In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Company considers 
indicators that are qualitative (e.g., breaches of covenant) and, quantitative 
(overdue or non-payment). 

 
Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default as 
well as their significance may vary over time to reflect changes in 
circumstances. 

 
(c) Forward-looking Information 

 
The Company incorporates FLI into both the assessment of whether the 
credit risk of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial 
recognition and the measurement of ECL.   

 
The Company has identified and documented key drivers of credit risk and 
credit losses for each portfolio of financial instruments and, using an 
analysis of historical data, has estimated relationships between macro-
economic variables and credit risk and credit losses. 

 
The relevant macro-economic variables for selection generally include, but 
are not limited to, gross domestic product, growth rate, unemployment 
rate, foreign exchange rate, stock market index, oil prices and interest rates. 
Predicted relationships between the key macro-economic indicators and 
default and loss rates on various portfolios of financial assets have been 
developed based on analyzing historical data over the past 10 to 15 years.  

 
The significance of the selected macro-economic variables as predictors of 
default may change over time as historical information is added.  As such, 
the generated macroeconomic models are updated at least on an annual 
basis. 

 
Management has also considered other FLIs not incorporated within the 
above economic scenarios, such as any regulatory, legislative, or political 
changes, but are not deemed to have a significant impact on the calculation 
of ECL.  Management reviews and monitors the appropriateness of FLIs at 
least annually. 

 
(d) Measurement of ECL 

 
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of 
PD, LGD and EAD. 
 
ECL for exposures in Stage 1 is calculated by multiplying the 12-month 
PD by LGD and EAD.  Lifetime ECL is calculated by multiplying the 
lifetime PD by LGD and EAD.   
 
The methodology of estimating PDs is discussed in Note 4.3.3(a)(ii) 
under the heading “Generating the term structure of PD”. 
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LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default.  The Company 
estimates LGD parameters based on the history of recovery rates of claims 
against defaulted counterparties.  The LGD models consider the structure, 
collateral, seniority of the claim, counterparty industry and recovery costs 
of any collateral that is integral to the financial asset.  LGD estimates are 
recalibrated for different economic scenarios and, for real estate lending, to 
reflect possible changes in property prices.  They are calculated on a 
discounted cash flow basis using the effective interest rate as the 
discounting factor. 
 
EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default.  The 
Company derives the EAD from the current exposure to the 
counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed 
under the contract and arising from amortization.  The EAD of a 
financial asset is its gross carrying amount at the time of default.  EAD 
is determined by modelling the range of possible exposure outcomes at 
various points in time using scenario and statistical techniques. 
 
As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD 
for Stage 1 financial assets, the Company measures ECL considering the 
risk of default over the maximum contractual period (including any 
borrower’s extension options) over which it is exposed to credit risk, 
even if, for credit risk management purposes, the Company considers a 
longer period.  The maximum contractual period extends to the date at 
which the Company has the right to require repayment of an advance or 
terminate a loan commitment or guarantee.  
 
Where modelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis, the 
financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared risk 
characteristics.  The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that 
exposures within a particular group remain appropriately homogeneous. 

 
 For portfolios in respect of which the Group has limited historical data, 

external benchmark information (e.g., PD from external credit rating 
agencies, Basel LGD) is used to supplement the internally available data.  
The portfolios for which external benchmark information represents a 
significant input into measurement of ECL include exposures to foreign 
borrowers and low default borrower segments. 

 
(e) Loss Allowance 

 
In 2020, the Company performed recalibration of its existing ECL model to 
incorporate the most-recent default and recovery experience of the Company 
and developments in the macroeconomic environment.  Independent 
macroeconomic variables used to forecast the probability of default could 
either be dictated by their statistical significance in the model or economic 
significance.  Inputs are updated to ensure that models are robust, predictive, 
and reliable. 
 
The following tables show the reconciliation from the opening to the 
closing balance of the loss allowance by class of financial instrument in 
2020 (not applicable in 2021). 
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        Stage 1   Stage 2   Stage 3   Total  
 

Receivables from customers – corporate  

  Balance at January 1  P 44,467,353  P 11,404,611  P 418,366,178  P 474,238,142 

   Transfer to:       

   Stage 1    345,251 (   345,251)   -   -  
   Stage 2   (   600,344)    1,212,754  (  612,410)    -  
   Stage 3   (  5,623,861)  ( 10,949,041)   16,572,902    -  
  Net remeasurement of loss allowance (  5,108,516 )   2,945,516    253,235,908    251,072,908 
  New financial assets originated   6,041,601    1,513,566    7,712,735    15,267,902 
  Derecognition of financial assets (  39,521,484) ( 5,782,155)  (  675,875,785)  ( 721,179,424 ) 
  Write-offs     -     -    (  19,399,528)  ( 19,399,528) 

 
   Balance at December 31  P -   P -    P -    P -  

 

 

 

      Stage 1   Stage 2   Stage 3   Total  
 

Receivables from customers – consumer  

Balance at January 1  P 21,725,851  P  4,523,626 P 65,043,023 P 91,292,500 

Transfer to:      

Stage 1   1,510,692 ( 157,518)  ( 1,353,174)   -  

 Stage 2   ( 1,931,663 )   1,931,663    -     -  

 Stage 3   ( 4,408,764 ) (  3,500,717)   7,909,481    -  

Net remeasurement of loss allowance   69,041,166    56,850,097    79,616,481    205,507,744 

 New financial assets originated   7,004,312    3,002,261    -     10,006,573 

 Derecognition of financial assets ( 92,941,594)  ( 62,649,412 ) (  151,215,811) (  306,806,817) 

 

Balance at December 31  P -   P -    P -  P -  

 

  Other receivables  

Balance at January 1  (P  198,824)  P -   P 29,147,851 P 28,949,027 

   Derecognition of financial assets    198,824    -   ( 29,147,851) ( 28,949,027) 

 

Balance at December 31 P -   P -    P -   P  -  

 

As of December 31, 2020, the Company has written-off certain accounts 

amounting to P19,399,528 (see Note 8).  No similar transaction transpired  

in 2021.  

 

4.3.4 Liquidity Risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that there could be insufficient funds available to fulfill 

commitments to lend, or to meet any other liquidity commitments.  The Company 

manages its liquidity needs by holding sufficient liquid assets of appropriate quality to 

meet funding requirements, manage and control liquidity gaps through Maximum 

Cumulative Outflow (MCO) limits, regular liquidity stress testing to ensure positive 

cashflow across all identified stress scenarios, and establishment of a Liquidity 

Contingency Plan, to ensure adequate liquidity under both business-as-usual and stress 

conditions.  The Company carefully monitors scheduled debt servicing payments for 

short-term and long-term financial liabilities as well as cash outflows due in its day-to-

day activities. 

 

Presented below are the financial assets and financial liabilities as of December 31, 

2021 and 2020 analyzed according to when these are expected to be recovered or 

settled.   
               

    One to    Three   One to    More     
    Three   Months to   Three   Than Three    

    Months   One Year   Years   Years   Total  
 

2021 
 
  Financial assets 

  Cash and cash equivalents  P 15,204,057   P -    P -    P -    P 15,204,057 
  Financial assets at FVTPL   5,877,689,641   -     -     -     5,877,689,641 
  Loans and other receivables   127,392,155    -     -     -     127,392,155 

 

    P6,020,285,853   P -    P -    P -    P6,020,285,853 

  

  Financial liabilities  

  Accounts payable and     

   other liabilities  P 8,157,623   P -    P -    P -   P 8,157,623 
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    One to    Three   One to    More     
    Three   Months to   Three   Than Three    

    Months   One Year   Years   Years   Total  
 

2020 
 

  Financial assets  
  Cash and cash equivalents  P 115,984,914   P -    P -    P -    P 115,984,914 
  Financial assets at FVTPL   5,752,692,212   -     -     -     5,752,692,212 
   Loans and other receivables   127,404,781    -     -     -     127,404,781 

 
    P 5,996,081,907    P -    P -    P -    P5,996,081,907 
  
  Financial liabilities   
   Accounts payable and     

   other liabilities  P 27,504,751    P -    P -    P -    P 27,504,751 

 
4.3.5  Write-offs 

 
The Company writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all 
practical recovery efforts and has concluded that there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery of the financial asset.  Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery include: cessation of enforcement activity; and, where the Company’s 
recovery method is through foreclosure of collateral and the value of the collateral is 
less than the outstanding contractual amounts of the financial assets to be written-off.  
The Company still have enforceable right to receive payment even if the financial 
assets have been written off except in certain cases.   

 
4.4 Price Risk 
 
The Company is exposed to the changes in the market values of financial assets at FVTPL  
held as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.  The Company manages its risk by identifying, 
analyzing, and measuring relevant or likely market price risks.  To manage its price risk 
arising from its financial assets at FVTPL, the Company does not concentrate its 
investment in any single counterparty. 

 
If the prices of financial assets at FVTPL changed by +/0.08% at December 31, 2021,  
then profit or loss would have increased/decreased by P4,422,221 in 2021.  Moreover, if the 
prices of financial assets at FVTPL changed by +/0.09% at December 31, 2020, then profit 
or loss would have increased/decreased by P5,172,300 in 2020.  The analysis is based on the 
assumption on the change of the correlated equity indices, with all other variables held 
constant.  The analysis is based on the assumption on the change of the correlated equity 
indices, with all other variables held constant. 
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5. CATEGORIES AND OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
 
5.1 Carrying Amounts and Fair Values by Category 

 
The following table summarizes by category the carrying amounts and fair values of 
financial assets and financial liabilities.  Where fair value is presented, such fair value is 
determined based on valuation techniques described below. 

 
  Carrying     
  Amounts   Fair Values  

 2021 
 
 Financial Assets 
  At amortized cost:   

  Cash and cash equivalents P  15,204,057 P 15,204,057 
  Loans and other receivables  127,392,155  127,392,155 
      142,596,212     142,596,212 
 Financial assets at FVTPL  5,877,689,641  5,877,689,641 

 
    P 6,020,285,853 P 6,020,285,853 
 

Financial Liabilities 
 At amortized cost – 
  Accounts payable and 
   other liabilities P 8,157,623 P 8,157,623 

   
 

  Carrying     
  Amounts   Fair Values  

 2020 
 
 Financial Assets 
  At amortized cost:   

  Cash and cash equivalents P  115,984,914 P 115,984,914 
  Loans and other receivables  127,404,781  127,404,781 
      243,389,695     243,389,695 
 Financial assets at FVTPL  5,752,692,212  5,752,692,212 

 
    P 5,996,081,907 P 5,996,081,907 
 

Financial Liabilities 
 At amortized cost – 
  Accounts payable and 
   other liabilities P 27,504,751 P 27,504,751 

 
The methods and assumptions used by the Company in estimating the fair value of the 
financial instruments are as follow: 
 
(i) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

     
The fair values of cash and cash equivalents approximate carrying amounts given their  
short-term maturities. 
 

(ii) Loans and Other Receivables 
 
The estimated fair value of loans and other receivables represents the discounted amount 
of estimated future cash flow expected to be received.  Expected cash flows are 
discounted at current market rates to determine fair value. 
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(iii) Financial Assets at FVTPL  
 
The fair value of financial assets at FVTPL which is related to unit investment trust fund 
is determined based on the net asset value per unit as published by the related bank.   

 
(iv) Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities 

 
Fair values approximate carrying amounts given the short-term maturities of the liabilities. 
 

5.2 Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures 
 

5.2.1 Fair Value Hierarchy 
  

In accordance with PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, the fair value of financial assets 
and financial liabilities and non-financial assets which are measured at fair value on a 
recurring or non-recurring basis and those assets and liabilities not measured at fair 
value but for which fair value is disclosed in accordance with other relevant PFRS, are 
categorized into three levels based on the significance of inputs used to measure the 
fair value.   

 
The fair value hierarchy has the following levels. 

 
 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

 liabilities that an entity can access at the measurement date; 
 

 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
 observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly 
 (i.e., derived from prices); and, 

 
 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 

  market data (unobservable inputs).  
 

The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on 
the lowest level of significant input to the fair value measurement. 

 
For purposes of determining the market value at Level 1, a market is regarded as active 
if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, 
industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual 
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. 

 
For investments which do not have quoted market price, the fair value is determined 
by using generally acceptable pricing models and valuation techniques or by reference 
to the current market of another instrument which is substantially the same after taking 
into account the related credit risk of counterparties or is calculated based on the 
expected cash flows of the underlying net asset base of the instrument. 

 
When the Company uses valuation technique, it maximizes the use of observable 
market data where it is available and relies as little as possible on entity specific 
estimates.  If all significant inputs required to determine the fair value of an instrument 
are observable, the instrument is included in Level 2.  Otherwise, it is included in  
Level 3. 
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5.2.2 Financial Instrument Measured at Fair Value 

 
 The following table shows the fair value hierarchy of the Company’s class of financial 

assets measured at fair value in the statements of financial position on a recurring 
basis as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.  

  
   Note   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  

 
 December 31, 2021  

 
 Financial assets at FVTPL –   
 Unit investment trust fund  7  P -  P5,877,689,641  P -     P5,877,689,641 

   
 December 31, 2020  

 
 Financial assets at FVTPL –   
 Unit investment trust fund  7  P -  P5,752,692,212 P -     P5,752,692,212 
 

The Company have no financial liabilities measured at fair value as of  
December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

 
There were neither transfers made between Levels 1 and 2 nor changes in Level 3 
instruments in both years. 
 
5.2.3 Financial Instruments Measured at Amortized Cost for Which Fair 
 Value is Disclosed 

 
The following summarizes the fair value hierarchy of the Company’s financial assets  
and financial liabilities which are not measured at fair value in the statements of  
financial position but for which fair value is disclosed. 

       
   Notes   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  

 
    December 31, 2021 
   
     Financial assets: 
   Cash and cash equivalents  6  P 15,204,057 P -  P    -  P 15,204,057  
 Loans and other receivables  8   -   -   127,392,155  127,392,155 
  
      P 15,204,057 P -  P 127,392,155  P 142,596,212 

 
   Financial liabilities: 

   Accounts payable and other              
   liabilities  10  P -  P -  P 8,157,623  P 8,157,623 
    

  December 31, 2020 
   
     Financial assets: 
   Cash and cash equivalents  6  P 115,984,914  P -  P -  P 115,984,914 
 Loans and other receivables  8   -   -   127,404,781  127,404,781 
  
      P 115,984,914 P -  P 127,404,781 P 243,389,695 
 
     Financial liabilities: 
   Accounts payable and other  
    liabilities  10  P -  P -  P 27,504,751 P 27,504,751 
 

There have been no significant transfers among Levels 1 and 2 in the reporting    
periods. 
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 Summarized below are the information on how the fair values of the Company’s 
financial assets and financial liabilities are determined. 

 
(a) Financial Instruments in Level 1 

 
Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of funds in the form of Philippine 
currency notes and coins held in the Company’s bank.  Cash is measured at face 
value; hence, the carrying amount approximates the fair value given their short- 
term maturities.  Cash and cash equivalents are tagged under Level 1 since it is 
fungible and readily available for use.  

 
(b) Financial Instruments in Level 2  

 
The fair value of financial instruments not traded in an active market is 
determined by using valuation techniques or by reference to the current market 
value of another instrument which is substantially the same or is calculated based 
on the expected cash flows of the underlying net asset base of the investment.  
The Company has no financial instruments measured at Level 2.  

 
(c) Financial Instruments in Level 3 

 
The Company classifies financial instruments such as Accounts payable and other 
receivables, have no quoted prices or observable market data where reference of 
fair value can be derived; hence, fair value is determined based on their 
discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received or 
paid, or based on their cost which management estimates to approximate their 
fair values. 

 
5.2.4 Fair Value Measurement for Non-Financial Assets 

 
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 the Company’s non-financial asset pertains to 
Prepaid documentary stamp tax which is measured under Level 3.  

 
5.3 Offsetting of Financial Instruments 
 
Currently, all financial assets and financial liabilities are settled on a gross basis; however, 
each party of the lease agreement will have the option to settle such amount on a net basis  
in the event of default of the other party.  As such, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
the Company has no financial assets and liabilities with offsetting arrangement.  
 
 

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

The Company reported cash and cash equivalents amounting to P15,204,057 and 
P115,984,914 in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

 
Cash in banks earn interest at rates based on daily bank deposit rates.  Cash equivalents 
represent a special savings account and time deposit with maturity of 90 days and annual 
interest rates ranging from 0.05% to 0.06% in 2021, 0.13% to 0.25% in 2020 and 0.3% to 
2.0% in 2019. 
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7. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL AND FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVOCI 
 

In 2021 and 2020, the Company purchased P70,000,000 and P5,847,000,000 worth of unit 
investment trust fund (UITF) securities from BDO Unibank’s Trust & Investment Group 
(BDO TIG), respectively.  P100,000,000 of which was redeemed on December 29, 2020 
resulting in a gain on redemption amounting to P123,808 under Income in the 2020 
statement of income from continuing operations (see Note 14).  No similar transaction 
transpired in 2021.  For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, such investment 
earned unrealized fair value gain of P54,997,429 and P5,692,212, respectively, recognized  
as unrealized fair value gain on UITF account under Income in the statements of income 
from continuing operations.   

 
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company has no investments under FVOCI.  In 
various dates in 2020, the Company sold its financial assets at FVOCI as follows 
(see also Note 14): 
     

   Financial Asset         
    Date of Sale   at FVOCI    Counterparty     Proceeds     Carrying Value    Gain (Loss)  
 
   April 2, 2020  8990 Holdings Bonds BDO Unibank  P  945,434,641 P 937,220,000 P 8,214,641 
   April 6, 2020  Sta. Lucia Bonds BDO Unibank     200,647,485    200,000,000  647,485 
   July 22, 2020  Smart Notes BDO Life      1,471,656,187    1,400,000,000  71,656,187 
   October 15, 2020  SMC Shares BDO Finance     597,495,000    597,495,000  -  
   October 16, 2020  Others BDO Unibank      180,000     800,000 ( 620,000) 

 
In 2020, the Company realized P8,862,126 gain on sale from its debt securities (bonds) 
classified as FVOCI.  Such is presented as part of Other income under discontinued 
operations (see Note 12).  For equity securities classified as FVOCI, gains on sale 
amounting to P71,036,187 were reclassified directly to Retained Earnings account.   
No similar transaction transpired in 2021. 
 
Dividend income earned from these financial assets are recorded as Dividend income 
account under Other Income in the statements of income (see Note 12).  
 
The Company recognized fair value gains (losses) for FVOCI securities amounting to 
(P39,402,554) and P236,321,518, in 2020 and 2019, respectively (nil in 2021).  The fair 
values of these financial assets have been determined based on quoted prices in active 
markets and reported in Other income under discontinued operations (see Note 5). 

 
 
8. LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company has no outstanding loans and receivables 
from customers after it has sold and assigned its receivable after the complete restructuring 
that transpired in 2020.  The loans and receivables presented in the statements of financial 
position amounting to P127,392,155 and P127,404,781 for 2021 and 2020, respectively, 
pertains mostly to accumulated creditable withholding taxes receivable of the Company. 

  



   - 32 - 

In 2021, the Company reported interest income from Cash and cash equivalents amounting 
to P30,666 under Continuing operations.  Interest and discounts in the statements of 
income under Discontinued operations consist of interest on: 
 

            2020    2019  
 
Loans and receivables financed      P 595,458,462   P 1,019,341,522 
Finance lease receivables       505,957,993   890,983,575 
Financial assets at FVOCI       18,450,224   71,451,000 
Interest on defined benefit plan       918,370   1,965,727 
Cash and cash equivalents       1,520,474  455,813 

               
           P  1,122,305,523   P 1,984,197,637 

 
Interest income recognized under Discontinued operations on impaired loans and 
receivables amounted to P20,907,570 in 2020 and P16,814,054 in 2019 (nil in 2021). 

 
The changes in the allowance for impairment are summarized below.  

         
       2020   2019   
 
   Balance at beginning of year  P 594,479,669 P  550,622,724  
   Impairment losses during the year   400,553,810    63,474,733 
   Reversal of impairment losses  ( 975,633,951)    - 
   Accounts written-off ( 19,399,528)  (  19,617,788) 
   
   Balance at end of year  P  -  P  594,479,669  
    

The nil amount of allowance reported by the Company is due to the reversal of impairment 
losses in 2020 as a result of the disposal of related loans and receivables.   

 
As approved by the Company’s Related Party Committee and BOD, in various dates in 
2020, the Company disposed of its core loans and receivables to BDO Unibank, BDO Life 
and BDO Finance with aggregate amounts of P14,125,382,405, P1,276,081,451, and 
P7,669,959,699, respectively, to address the widening liquidity gap during the COVID-19 
pandemic and as it winds down operations (see Note 14).  Such disposal is not consistent 
with the Company’s HTC business model; however, since there were no remaining core 
loans and receivables as at December 31, 2021, further evaluation of the Company’s HTC 
business model is no longer performed.  The total resulting gain on disposal of core loans 
and receivables amounted to P509,971,258, which is presented as Gain on sale of loans and 
receivables under Discontinued operations in the 2020 statement of income (see Note 14).  
No similar transaction transpired in 2021.  

 
In 2020, the BOD approved the write-off of certain loans and receivable financed and 
finance lease receivables with a total amount P19,399,528. 
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9. ALLOWANCE FOR IMPAIRMENT 
 

Changes in the allowance for impairment in 2020 are summarized below. 
 
     Note      
 
 Balance at beginning of year   
  Loans and other receivables   8   P 594,479,669    
  Investment properties      23,626,575    
  Other assets      1,541,913    
             
         619,648,157    
  
 Impairment losses-net     400,553,810    
 Write-offs    (  19,399,528)   
 Reversals    ( 619,011,991)   
 Disposals    ( 381,790,448)   
            
       ( 619,648,157)   
   
 Balance at end of year:           
  Loans and other receivables  8    -     
  Investment properties      -     
  Other assets      -     
              
        P -     
          
 There was no impairment recognized in 2021. 
 
 
10. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER LIABILITIES 
 
  Accounts payable and other liabilities consist of the following: 
 

     2021     2020  
  
  
  Accounts payable  P 8,134,698   P 8,565,592 
  Accrued taxes and   
   other expenses    22,122    10,605,059 
  Withholding taxes payable   803    7,552,161 
  Other liabilities                -     781,939 
            
  
     P 8,157,623   P 27,504,751 

 
On October 16, 2020, the Company agreed to assign irrevocably and absolutely to BDO 
Finance certain accounts payables and other liabilities with total carrying amount of 
P244,591,355 (see Note 14).   
 
In 2020, Other liabilities include, among others, payroll related accounts (SSS payable, 
HDMF payable and Philhealth payable).  
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Accounts payable and other liabilities have maturities within one year.  Management 
considers the carrying amounts of accounts payable and other liabilities recognized in the 
statements of financial position to be a reasonable approximation of their fair values due to 
their short duration. 

 
 
11. EQUITY 
  

11.1 Capital Management Objectives, Policies and Procedures 
 
   The Company’s capital management objectives are: 

 
 to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products commensurately 

with the level of risk; and, 
 

 to ensure the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 

The Company sets the amount of capital in proportion to its overall financing structure and 
the Company manages the capital structure and adjusts it in light of changes in economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  In order to maintain or 
adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt. 

 
The Company’s capital and overall financing as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 are shown 
below.  
 
     2021     2020  
  
  Total equity  P 6,012,132,262   P 5,968,590,844 
  Cash and cash equivalents (  15,204,057 ) (  115,984,914 ) 
  
  Net capital  P 5,996,928,205   P 5,852,605,930 
  
   Overall financing (total equity)  P 6,012,132,262   P 5,968,590,844 
 
   Capital-to-overall financing ratio   1.00:1.00    0.98:1.00  

 
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company complies with this minimum paid-up 
capital requirement.  All branches were already closed and ceased its leasing and financing 
operations as of December 31, 2020 (see Note 1.2). 

 
11.2 Preferred Shares 

 
  The Company has 200,000 authorized preferred shares at P100 par value a share with the 

following features: 
 

(a) Issued serially in blocks of not less than 100,000 shares; 
(b) No pre-emptive rights to any or all issues on other disposition of preferred shares; 
(c) Entitled to cumulative dividends at a rate not higher than 20% yearly; 
(d) Subject to call or with rights for their redemption, either mandatory at a fixed or 

determinable date after issue; and, 
(e) Non-voting, except in cases expressly provided for by law. 
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  None of these authorized preferred shares have been issued as of December 31, 2021  
and 2020. 

 
11.3 Common Shares 

 
As of December 31, 2021, out of the total authorized capital stock of 3,400,000,000 
common shares with par value of P1.00 per share, 2,162,475,312 common shares,  
net of treasury shares of 62,693,718 are issued and outstanding.  

 
11.4 Retained Earnings – Free  

 
The Company’s retained earnings are restricted to the extent of the cost of the treasury 
shares amounting to P81,776,628, share in net earnings of subsidiary and an associate as  
of the end of the reporting periods. 

 
11.5 Retained Earnings – Reserves 

 
As at December 31, 2020, the Company appropriately reversed the appropriation for 
GLLP totaling P141,740,833 since all of its loans and receivables subject to 1% GLLP were 
already sold. 

 
11.6 Track Record of Registration of Securities 

 
On January 6, 1997, the Company was listed with the PSE with 106,100,000 additional 
common shares and 15,120,000 existing common shares with par value of P1.00 per share.  
The listing was approved by the SEC in May 1996.  As of December 31, 2021, the 
Company’s number of shares registered totaled 3,400,000,000 with par value of P1.00 per 
share and closed at a price of P1.87 in 2021. 
 
On January 27, 2020, the PSE approved the request of the Company for the voluntary 
trading suspension of its shares.  This is to allow the investing public an equal access to  
the information about the Share Purchase Agreement entered by BDO Unibank on  
January 24, 2020 for making informed decisions.  

 
As of December 31, 2021, the trading of the Company’s shares remains suspended due to 
the Order of Suspension issued by the SEC requiring amendment of Company’s registration 
statement.  The Company has contested the suspension order on the absence of grounds 
and has requested the lifting of such as early as February 24, 2020, immediately before the 
quarantines arising from the pandemic.  The Company’s request for lifting of the suspension 
or for guidance from the SEC is still pending resolution with the SEC as of date of release 
of the 2021 financial statements.   
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12. OTHER INCOME 
 

In 2021, the Company reported the realized foreign exchange translation gain amounting  
to P1,550,970, realized gain on sale of dollar-denominated currency amounting to P310,681 
(see Note 14), and miscellaneous income amounting to P207,358 reported as Other income 
under Continuing operations.  Other income presented under Discontinued operations for 
2020 and 2019 consists of the following:  

 
         Notes     2020    2019   

 
Dividend income   7   P 80,727,007   P 159,434,753 
Gain on sale of investment in  
 subsidiary         9,496,552     -  
Gain on sale of financial assets   7     8,862,126     -  
Gain on sale of  
 investment properties        6,771,162     4,664,216  
Day-one gains – net       22,039     88,721 
Loss on sale of investment in an 
 associate         -  (  27,636,973) 
Miscellaneous – net   14    34,542,445    3,304,238 

 
          P  140,421,331  P 139,854,955 
 

Dividend income pertains to income earned from investments in Smart Note and SMC 
shares. 

 
Day-one gains – net represent the fair value gains on initial recognition of lease deposits 
(representing excess of principal amount over fair value of leased deposits), net of the day  
one losses on initial recognition of the residual value receivables under finance lease. 

 
 
13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 

Expenses recognized for salaries and employee benefits for the Company under 
discontinued operations are presented below. 
 

       Note      2020     2019  
 
Salaries and wages     P 123,255,227    P 134,907,121 
Bonuses         42,555,095       46,237,348 
Retirement – defined  
 benefit plan        18,607,236          17,834,293 
Fringe benefits       12,481,875      13,980,197 
Social security costs       4,910,713          4,700,460 
Employee stock option plan 14     3,491,587        14,824,728 
Other benefits       5,151,947          6,105,759 

        
         P  210,453,680    P  238,589,906 

 
After the completion of restructuring in 2020, the Company has terminated its employees 
and transferred its former employees to BDO Finance.  In 2021, the Company did not incur 
any employee benefits expense.  
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14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

The Company’s related parties include BDO Unibank, related party under common 
ownership, key management personnel and the retirement benefit fund as described  
below. 

 
The summary of the Company’s transactions with its related parties in 2021, 2020 and 
2019 and is shown below.  

 
            Amount of Transaction   
   Related Party Category    Notes     2021     2020    2019  
 
Ultimate parent company  
 (BDO Unibank) 

  UITF placement   7, (n)    P 70,000,000  P  5,847,000,000 P - 
 Unrealized fair value gains   7, (n)     54,997,429    5,692,212   -  

  Realized gain on dollar-denominated 
  cash deposits   (r)     310,681    -     - 
 Service fees   (f)     124,900    125,200   124,600 
 Interest income on savings  
  and demand deposits   6, (a)      30,666    1,510,459   366,758 
 Interest expense on bills payable   (b)     -     11,477,345   34,420,535 
 Interest expense on lease liability   (c)     -     1,398,636    2,197,373 
 Depreciation   (c)    -     11,833,555  12,987,388 
 Gain on pre-termination of 
  lease contract   (c)     -      963,423   -  

  Management fees   (d)    -     14,685,000   16,020,000 
    Sale of receivables   (q)     -     14,125,382,405  5,801,302,702 
 Gain on sale of receivables   (q)     -     381,866,343    -  

 
Ultimate parent company  
 (BDO Unibank) 
 Service charges and fees   (e)     -     -      13,354,500 
 Sale of financial assets under FVOCI (q)     -     1,138,020,000    -  
 Gain on sale of debt securities  
  under FVOCI   (q)     -      8,862,126  -  
 Loss on sale of equity securities  
  under FVOCI   (q)     -    (  620,000)  -  

  Employee stock option plan   2.9, 13     -     3,491,587  14,824,728  
  Gain on redemption of UITF   7, (n)     -      123,808  -  
  Sale of foreclosed assets– net   (q)     -      212,801,131   -  
                

Subsidiary (BDORI)* 
 Dividend income   (j)     -     200,000,000    -  
 Management fees   (d)     -     330,000   360,000 
 Rent income   (c)     -     60,500   66,000 
 
Under common ownership 
 Service and charges fees   (g), (k)     -     2,147,655   3,671,102 
 Interest expense on bills payable   (l)     -     -     203,274,566  

  Insurance expense (m)   -  244,314 833,011 
   Sale of receivables (p), (q)    -   8,946,041,150 232,155,542 

  Gain on sale of receivables (p), (q)   -  128,104,914 2,736,443 
 Sale of financial assets under FVOCI (p), (q)     -    1,997,495,000    -  
 Gain on sale of equity securities  
  under FVOCI   (p), (q)     -     71,656,187    -  
 
Other related parties 
 Loans     (o)     -     40,045,801   198,710,788  
 
Key management personnel  
 Short-term benefits   (h)     -     47,221,000   57,406,000 
 Post-employment benefits   (h)     -     9,170,953   8,304,137  
 Loans to officers   (h)     -      1,909,534   3,713,735 
 
 
*Only until October 16, 2020 
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Below is the summary of the outstanding balances with each related party as of  
December 31, 2021 and 2020. 
 
     Outstanding Balance  
   Related Party Category   Notes    2021   2020  
 
 
 Ultimate parent company 
 (BDO Unibank)    
  Savings and demand deposits 6, (a) P 15,204,057  P 115,984,914  
  UITF  7,(n)  5,877,689,641 5,752,692,212 
 

 Under common ownership 
  Accounts payable (q)   - 5,240,246 
 
 Retirement benefit fund  
  Shares of stock (i)  -    1,642,931 
 

(a) The Company maintains savings and demand deposit accounts with BDO Unibank.  As of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, savings and demand deposit accounts maintained with BDO 
Unibank are reported as Cash and Cash Equivalents account in the statements of financial 
position.  These deposits generally earn interest at annual rates of 0.06% in 2021 and 0.13% 
in 2020 and 2019.  Interest income earned on these deposits in 2021, 2020 and 2019 is 
included as part of Interest and Discounts account under Revenues in the statements of 
income. 

 
(b) The Company obtains short-term bills payable from BDO Unibank with annual interest 

rates ranging from 3.0% to 4.8% and 4.6% to 6.8% in 2020 and 2019, respectively.   
Total bills availments and payments amounted to P1,527,350,000 and P1,521,455,000, 
respectively, in 2020, and P14,004,560,540 and P14,929,473,235, respectively, in 2019.   
No outstanding balance as of December 31, 2020.  Interest expense incurred on these  
bills payable in 2020 and 2019 is included as part of Interest and Financing Charges account 
under Operating Costs and Expenses in the statements of income.  The Company did not 
obtain bills payable in 2021. 

 
(c) The Company leases its head office premises and certain branch offices from BDO Unibank 

for terms ranging from three to five years, renewable for such period and under such terms 
and conditions as may be agreed upon with the Company and BDO Unibank.  The related 
interest expense incurred on lease liability and depreciation of Right-of-use are included as 
part of Interest and financing charges and Occupancy and equipment related expenses, 
respectively, under Operating Costs and Expenses account in the statements of income.  
Before the restructuring, the Company charges BDO Rental for the spaces that the latter 
occupies in the head office premises.  Rent charged to BDO Rental is presented as part of 
Other Income-net account in the Company’s statements of income (see Note 12).  In 2020, 
in line with the restructuring process, the Company pre-terminated all its leases with BDO 
Unibank which resulted in a recognition of gain on pre-termination as part of Miscellaneous 
income under Other Income account for the 2020 statement of income (see Note 12).   
There were no outstanding receivables and payables on these transactions as of the end of 
2021 and 2020. 
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(d) In 2019, the Company entered into a service level agreement with BDO Unibank wherein 
BDO Unibank will charge the Company for certain management services that the former 
provides to the latter.  Management fees paid by the Company to BDO Unibank are shown 
as part of Other Expenses account under Operating Costs and Expenses in the statements 
of income.  Also, the Company charges BDO Rental for the management services it renders 
to BDO Rental.  This is presented as part of Other Income-net account in the Company’s 
statements of income (see Note 12).  There are no outstanding receivables and payables on 
these transactions as of the end of 2021 and 2020.  
 
As part of the restructuring of Company’s leasing business, the service level agreement of 
Company with BDO Unibank was terminated in 2020.  Accordingly, the Company also 
terminated the service level agreement with BDO Rental. 

 
(e) In 2019, the Company sold portion of its receivables to BDO Unibank.  The Company 

charged BDO Unibank for service charges and fees which is presented as part of Other 
income account in the 2019 statement of income.  There were no outstanding receivable and 
payable on these transactions as of the end of 2021 and 2020. 

 
(f) The Company entered into an agreement with BDO Unibank on stock transfer services. 

Service fees paid by the Company to BDO Unibank are shown as part of Other Expenses 
account under Operating Costs and Expenses in the statements of income.  There were no 
outstanding receivable and payable on these transactions as of the end of 2021 and 2020. 

 
(g) The Company engaged the services of BDO Capital and Investment Corporation  

(BDO Capital), a wholly owned subsidiary of BDO Unibank for services related to the 
Company’s issuance of short-term commercial papers.  Service charges and fees paid by the 
Company to BDO Capital amounting to P94,777 for 2020 and P2,076,200 for 2019 are 
included as part of Other Expenses account under Operating Costs and Expenses in the 
statements of income.  No similar transaction in 2021 and no outstanding payables on this 
transaction as of the end of 2021 and 2020. 

(h) Compensation of key management personnel (covering officer positions starting from 
Assistant Vice President and up) is included as part of Employee Benefits under Operating 
Costs and Expenses in the statements of income of the Company.  In 2021, the Company 
has no longer recognized short-term employee benefits because it has no employees after 
the restructuring of the Company was completed in 2020.  On the other hand, the short-
term employee benefits amounting to P47,221,000 in 2020 and P57,406,000 in 2019 
include salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, profit sharing and bonuses, and  
non-monetary benefits.  Further, retirement benefits expense amounted to P9,170,953 in 
2020 and P8,304,137 in 2019 (nil in 2021). 

 
In 2020 and 2019, the Company also granted loans to officers, which are secured by 
mortgage on the property, bear interest at a range a 7.0% to 9.0% per annum, with terms 
ranging from three to five years.  There were no outstanding loans to officers as of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020.  

 
(i) On October 16, 2020, the Company's retirement fund was transferred to BDO Finance 

[see Notes 13 and 14(q)].  The retirement fund holds, as an investment, 519,915 shares of 
stock of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, which has a market value of 
P3.16 per share. 

 
(j) In 2020, BDO Rental declared cash dividends amounting to P200,000,000 (received in 

2020). 
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(k) The Company earned from BDO Insurance Brokers, Inc. (BDO Insurance) service charges 
and fees for accounts referred amounting to P2,052,878 in 2020 and P1,594,902 in 2019 and 
are included as part of Miscellaneous under Other Income account in the statements of 
income (see Note 12).  No similar transaction in 2021 and no outstanding payables on this 
transaction as of the end of 2021 and 2020. 

 
(l) The Company obtained unsecured, short-term bills payable from BDO Strategic Holdings 

Inc. and SM Prime Holdings, Inc with annual interest rates ranging from 4.9% to 6.4% and 
3.9% to 6.3%, respectively, in 2019 (nil in 2021 and 2020).  Total availments and payments 
amounted to P5,324,300,000 and P6,323,800,000, respectively, in 2019 (nil in 2021 and 
2020) for BDO Strategic Holdings Inc.  Total availments and payments amounted to 
P32,000,000,000 and P34,000,000,000 respectively, in 2019 (nil in 2021 and 2020) for SM 
Prime Holdings, Inc.  The amount outstanding from borrowings is presented under Bills 
Payable account in the statements of financial position.  Interest expense incurred on these 
bills payable is included as part of Interest and Financing Charges account under Operating 
Costs and Expenses in the statements of income. 
 

(m) In 2020, the Company paid BDO Life for group life insurance of the Company’s employees. 
Insurance paid by the Company is presented as part of Occupancy and Equipment Related 
Expense under Operating Costs and Expenses in the statements of income.  No similar 
transaction transpired in 2021.  There were no outstanding receivables and payables on this 
transaction as of the end of 2021 and 2020. 
 

(n) In 2021 and 2020, the Company purchased P70,000,000 and P5,847,000,000, worth of UITF 
from BDO TIG, respectively.  The P100,000,000 of the securities purchased in 2020 was 
redeemed on December 29, 2020 (see Note 7). 
 

(o) The Company also granted loans to other related parties, which bear interest with a range of 
4.2% to 11.0% per annum in 2020 and 2019 (nil in 2021).  There were no outstanding loans 
to other related parties as of December 31, 2021 and 2020. 
 

(p) In 2019, the Company sold portion of its receivables to BDO Life.  In various dates in 2020, 
in line with the restructuring of BDO Unibank Group’s leasing business to optimize the 
financial needs of clients in line with PFRS 16, the Company sold its core loans and 
receivables to BDO Life, BDO Finance and BDO Unibank.  The related gain on sale of 
loans and receivables is presented under Revenues in the 2020 statement of income  
[see Notes 8 and 14(q)].  There is no outstanding receivable on these transactions as of the 
end of 2020.  No similar transaction transpired in 2021. 
 
On various dates in 2020, the Company disposed portion of its financial assets at FVOCI 
to BDO Unibank and BDO Life.  The related gain on sale is presented separately under 
Revenues in the statements of income (see Note 7) for debt securities while for equity 
securities gains (losses) were booked to Retained Earnings.  
 
In October 2020, the Company agreed to assign, transfer and covey certain foreclosed assets 
to BDO Unibank with a total carrying value of P212,801,131 as of September 30, 2020.   
No gain or loss was recognized in this transaction.  There is no outstanding receivable on 
this transaction as of December 31, 2021 and 2020. 
 

(q) On various dates in 2020, the Company disposed portion of its core loans and receivables to 
BDO Finance with aggregate carrying amounts of P7,669,959,699 resulting to a recognition 
of gain on sale of loans and receivables totaling P89,493,034 which is presented separately 
under Revenues in the statements of income [see Notes 8 and 14(q)]. 
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On October 12, 2020, the Company sold its 100% ownership interest in BDO Rental to 
BDO Finance with a total equity value of P308,003,448 which resulted to a recognition of 
gain on sale of investment in subsidiary totaling P9,496,552 as part of Other income account 
in the statements of income (see Note 12).  On October 15, 2020, the Company sold its 
SMC preferred shares classified as FVOCI to BDO Finance with aggregate carrying 
amounts of P597,495,000 (see Note 7).  No gain or loss was recognized on the sale. 
On October 16, 2020, the Company agreed to assign irrevocably and absolutely to BDO 
Finance certain other assets and other liabilities with total proceeds equal to carrying value 
of P39,012,330 and P244,591,355 respectively.  The transaction resulted to outstanding 
payable to BDO Finance and is recorded as part of Accounts payable and other liabilities 
account in the statements of financial position. 
 
The table below summarizes the carrying amounts of other assets and other liabilities sold to 
BDO Finance on October 16, 2020. 
     
    Notes  
  Other Assets:     

   Accounts receivables − net  8 P 13,723,392    
   Prepaid expenses 3,963,200 
   Property and equipment – net  6,088,373 
   Retirement assets 13, 14(i) 14,358,936 
   Other intangible asset − net    773,234 
   Other assets   105,195 
 
     P 39,012,330 
 

  Other Liabilities:     
   Accounts payable  P 169,082,140    
   Accrued other expenses payable   13,648,196 
   Unapplied advance payments   15,301,329 
   Deferred income tax payable  (  36,161,681 ) 
   Other liabilities   82,721,371 
 
     P 244,591,355 
 

 Other liabilities include, among others, taxes, insurance, mortgage and other fees. 
 

(r) In 2021, the Company sold dollar-denominated cash deposits amounting to USD796,619  
at P50.36 exchange rate (Php40,117,733) to BDO Unibank.  This transaction resulted in a 
realized gain of P310,681 and is recorded as part of Other income account under 
Continuing operations in the 2021 statement of income (see Note 12). 
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15. TAXES 
 

15.1 Taxes and Licenses 
 

This account is composed of the following: 
 
            2021     2020     2019  
      
Local taxes       P 9,961,872   P 13,735,853   P 13,314,156 
Documentary stamp tax       520,470    88,463,570    173,366,260 
Gross receipts tax       29,089    76,759,057    87,651,428 
Others          877,531    6,139,473    12,071,717 
                 
           P 11,388,962   P 185,097,953  P 286,403,561 

 
15.2 Current and Deferred Taxes 

 
On March 26, 2021, Republic Act (R.A.) No. 11534, Corporate Recovery and Tax Incentives for 
Enterprises (CREATE) Act, as amended, was signed into law and shall be effective beginning 
July 1, 2020.  The following are the major changes brought about by the CREATE Act that 
are relevant to and considered by the Company. 
 
 regular corporate income tax (RCIT) rate was reduced from 30% to 25% starting 

July 1, 2020; 
 

 minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) rate was reduced from 2% to 1% starting 
July 1, 2020 until June 30, 2023; and, 

 
 the allowable deduction for interest expense is reduced from 33% to 20% of the 

interest income subjected to final tax. 
 
As a result of the application of the lower RCIT rate of 25% starting July 1, 2020, the 
current income tax expense and income tax payable, as presented in the 2020 annual 
income tax return (ITR) of the Company, would be lower by P5,726,192 than the amount 
presented in the 2020 financial statements and such amount was charged to profit or loss. 

 
The components of tax expense (income) from the discontinued operations for the years 
ended December 31 follow: 
         
            2021     2020     2019  

 
 Reported in statements of income 

 Current tax expense: 
  MCIT at 1% in 2021; 2% in 2020 and 2019  P 20,690   P 22,753,979   P 18,335,362 
  Adjustment in 2020 income taxes due to  (   5,726,192)  -     - 
   change in income tax rate 
  Final tax at 20%        5,574    14,172,235    14,379,250  
        (  5,699,928)    36,926,214    32,714,612 
 

 Deferred tax expense 
  relating to origination and reversal 
  of temporary differences       -    110,481,858     475,417  
 
        (P 5,699,928)  P 147,408,072   P 33,190,029  
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Reported in statements of comprehensive income 
 

            2021     2020     2019  
   
 Deferred tax income (expense) on:  
  Net actuarial losses     P -   ( P  30,808,854 )  P  4,708,235  
  Unrealized fair value gains on    
   financial assets at FVOCI       -     3,705,249    2,494,709 
        
 Net deferred tax income (expense)    P -   ( P 27,103,605 )  P  7,202,944

  

A reconciliation of tax on pretax profit computed at the applicable statutory rates to tax 
expense reported in the statements of income follows: 
                  
            2021   2020   2019  

 
Tax on pretax profit at 25% in 2021 and  
 30% in 2020 and 2019     P 9,460,373 P 119,957,266 P 23,976,079 
Adjustment for income subjected  
 to lower tax rate    (  2,092)  5,485,246 ( 7,192,794) 
Adjustment in 2020 income taxes due to 
  change in income tax rate.     ( 5,726,192)   -     -   
Tax effects of: 
 Deductible temporary differences 
  not recognized     -   ( 167,143,718) (  10,991) 

  Reversal of deferred tax liability      -    110,481,858  -  
 Unrecognized deferred tax assets on:      
  Net operating loss carry-over (NOLCO)    3,727,677 51,297,526  - 
       MCIT        20,690 22,753,979    
 Non-deductible interest expense          2,792,167 7,683,271 
 Non-deductible expense       568,973 4,272,394 34,985,015 
 Non-taxable income    ( 13,749,357) ( 2,488,646) ( 26,250,551) 
  
         (P 5,699,928) P 147,408,072  P 33,190,029 

 
In 2020, all net deferred tax assets were derecognized since the management assessed that 
these will not be realized in the future periods.   

 
The Company has no deferred income in profit or loss or other comprehensive income 
in 2021.  The components of deferred tax income in profit and loss and in other 
comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 follow: 
            
                2020     2019  
 

  In profit or loss: 
 

   Deferred tax assets: 
    Allowance for impairment on:  
     Loans and discounts        ( P 93,882,068) P 393,765 
     Accounts receivable       (   8,684,708) (  382,774) 
     Investment properties and  
      non-current assets held-for-sale      (   7,550,547) ( 394,088) 
     Retirement benefit obligation          -  (  726,407) 
      
              (  110,117,323) (  1,109,504)  
 
   Deferred tax liability – 
    Others        (   364,535)   634,087 
            
   Net deferred tax expense       (P 110,481,858)  (P 475,417)  
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 In other comprehensive income: 
                 2020    2019  
   
   Deferred tax income (expense) on:  
    Net actuarial losses         ( P 30,808,854) P  4,708,235  
    Unrealized fair value gains on    
     financial assets at FVOCI         3,705,249    2,494,709 
        
    Net deferred tax income (expense)       ( P 27,103,605) P 7,202,944 
 

The Company is subject to MCIT, which is computed at 1% of gross income, as defined 
under tax regulations or RCIT, whichever is higher.  In 2021, 2020 and 2019, the Company 
claimed itemized deductions in computing for its income tax due. 

 
In 2021 and in prior years, the Company has not recognized deferred tax assets on certain 
temporary differences, NOLCO and other tax credits since management believes that the 
future income tax benefits will not be realized within the availment period, as defined under 
the tax regulations. 

 
Presented below are the details of the Company’s remaining NOLCO, which can be claimed 
as deductions from taxable income within three to five years from the year the tax loss is 
incurred. 

        
  Year Original  Applied   Expired    Remaining  Valid 
   Incurred   Amount   Amount     Amount    Amount     Until  
 
     2021 P 14,910,709 P  -   P -    P 14,910,709  2026 
     2020   172,289,847     -     -    172,289,847  2025  
 
      P 187,200,556 P -   P  -   P187,200,556  
 

Presented below are the details of the Company’s remaining MCIT for the years 2021 and 
2020. 

 
  Year Original  Applied   Expired    Remaining  Valid 
   Incurred   Amount   Amount     Amount    Amount     Until  
 
     2021 P 20,690 P  -   P -    P 20,690  2024 
     2020   17,027,786     -     -    17,027,786  2023  
 
      P 17,048,476 P -   P  -   P 17,048,476  
 

15.3 Supplementary Information Required Under Revenue Regulation 
(RR) No. 15-2010  

 
The Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) issued RR No. 15-2010 which required certain 
supplementary information to be disclosed as part of the notes to financial statements.  The 
supplementary information is, however, not a required part of the basic financial statements 
prepared in accordance with PFRS; it is neither a required disclosure under the SEC rules and 
regulations covering the form and content of financial statements under the Revised 
Securities Regulation Code Rule 68. 
 
The Company presented this tax information required by the BIR as a supplementary 
schedule filed separately from the basic financial statements. 
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16. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

  Basic earnings per share were computed as follows: 

          
            2021     2020     2019   

 
 Net profit from: 

  continuing operations      P 43,541,418   P 5,816,020  P - 

  discontinued operations       -     246,633,463    46,730,234 

 Net profit        43,541,418    252,449,483    46,730,234 

 Divided by the weighted average number 

 of outstanding common shares – net*      2,162,475,312    2,162,475,312    2,162,475,312  

       

Basic earnings per share      P  0.02   P  0.12   P  0.02 

   

  * net of treasury shares 

 

There were no outstanding dilutive potential common shares as of December 31, 2021 

and 2020. 

 

 

17. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 
 

  In the ordinary course of business, the Company incurs contingent liabilities and commitments 

arising from normal business transactions which are not reflected in the accompanying financial 

statements.  As of December 31, 2021, management does not anticipate significant losses from 

these contingencies and commitments that would adversely affect the Company’s financial 

position and results of operations. 

 

 

18. MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 

The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analyzed according to contractual 

maturity and settlement dates. 

 
     2021        2020    
 
   Within   Beyond     Within   Beyond   
   One Year   One Year   Total   One Year   One Year   Total 

   
 

 Assets:              
 Cash and other cash items  P  15,204,057 P -  P 15,204,057 P 115,984,914 P -  P 115,984,914 

 Financial assets at FVTPL   5,877,689,641  -   5,877,689,641  5,752,692,212  -   5,752,692,212 

 Loans and other receivables –  

  Other receivables  127,392,155 -   127,392,155  127,404,781  -   127,404,781 

 Other assets   4,032  -    4,032  13,688  -   13,688 

 

     P   6,020,289,885  P -  P 6,020,289,885 P 5,996,095,595 P -  P 5,996,095,595 

 

 Liabilities:             
 Accounts payable and  

  other liabilities  P 8,157,623 P -  P 8,157,623 P 27,504,751 P -  P 27,504,751 

 

 

19. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION REQUIRED BY THE BSP 
 

Presented below are the supplementary information required by the BSP to be disclosed as  

part of the notes to financial statements based on BSP Circular 1075, Amendments to 
Regulations on Financial Audit of Non-Bank Financial Institutions. 
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(a) Selected Financial Performance Indicators 
 

The following are some indicators of the Company’s financial performance: 
   2021   2020  

 
 Return on average equity:           

 
  Net income after income tax     0.73%  4.46% 
  Average total capital accounts   

 
  Return on average assets:           
 
   Net income after income tax     0.72%  1.29% 
   Average total assets   
 
  Net interest margin:           
 
   Net interest income      0.01%   10.66% 
  Average interest earning assets   
 

(b) Capital Instruments Issued 
 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, out of the total authorized capital stock of 
3,400,000,000 common shares with par value of P1.00 per share, 2,162,475,312 
common shares, net of treasury shares of 62,693,718, are issued and outstanding.  

 
(c) Significant Credit Exposures for Loans 

 
 There were no outstanding receivables from customers as of December 31, 2021 and 
2020.  

(d) Credit Status of Loans  
 

There were no outstanding receivables from customers as of December 31, 2021 and 
2020.  

 
(e) Analysis of Loan Portfolio as to Type of Security 

 
There were no outstanding receivables from customers as of December 31, 2021 and 
2020. 

 
(f) Information on Related Party Loans 

 
There were no related party loans as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.  

 
There are no assets pledged by the Company as security for liabilities in 2021 and 2020. 

 
(g) Contingencies and Commitments Arising from Off-balance Sheet Items 

 
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, there were no material commitments and 
contingent accounts arising from transactions not given recognition in the statements 
of financial position.   
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Report of Independent Auditors 
to Accompany Supplementary  
Information Required by the  
Securities and Exchange Commission  
Filed Separately from the  
Basic Financial Statements 
 
 
The Board of Directors and the Stockholders  
BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc.  
(A Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.) 
39th Floor, BDO Corporate Center Ortigas 
12 ADB Avenue, Ortigas Center 
Mandaluyong City 
 
 
We have audited the financial statements of BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc. for the year ended 
December 31, 2021, on which we have rendered our report thereon dated February 23, 2022.  
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements 
taken as a whole.  The applicable supplementary information (see List of Supplementary 
Information) is presented for purposes of additional analysis in compliance with the requirements 
of Revised Securities Regulation Code Rule 68, and is not a required part of the basic financial 
statements prepared in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.  Such 
supplementary information is the responsibility of the Company¶V�PDQDJement.  The 
supplementary information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of 
the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation 
to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
 
      PUNONGBAYAN & ARAULLO 

 
 
 
 

 By: Romualdo V. Murcia III 
  Partner 
 
  CPA Reg. No. 0095626 
  TIN 906-174-059 
  PTR No. 8852339, January 3, 2022, Makati City 
  SEC Group A Accreditation 
   Partner - No. 0628-AR-4 (until Sept. 4, 2022) 
   Firm - No. 0002 (until Dec. 31, 2024)   
  BIR AN 08-002511-022-2019 (until Sept. 4, 2022) 
  )LUP¶V�%2$�35&�&HUW��RI�5HJ��1R��������XQWLO�$XJ����������� 
   
  
      February 23, 2022 
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Number of Shares 

 Amount shown on 

the balance sheet (ii) 

 Valued based on the 

market quotation at 

balance sheet date (iii) 

 Income received and 

accrued (should tally 

with AIR) 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

BDO Unibank Inc. Trust and Investment Group 5,817,000,000 5,877,689,641 5,877,689,641 -                                  

             GRAND TOTAL 5,877,689,641 5,877,689,641 -                                  

Total Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5,877,689,641 5,877,689,641 -                                  

BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. 

Schedule A - Financial Assets

December 31, 2021

Name of issuing entity and association of each issue 

(A Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)

(Amount in Philippine Pesos)
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Name and designation of debtor Type of Loan Balance at beginning 
of period Additions Amounts collected Amounts written 

off Current Not current Balance at end of 
period

3  Give reasons for write off.

BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
(A Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)

Schedule B - Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related Parties and Principal Stockholders (Other than Related Parties)
December 31, 2021

Deductions Ending Balance

 - nothing to report -

(Amount in Philippine Pesos)
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Name and Designation of debtor Balance at 
beginning of period Additions Amounts collected (i) Amounts written off 

(ii) Current Non-current Balance at end of 
period

BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. 
(A Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)

(Amount in Philippine Pesos)

 - nothing to report -

Deductions

Schedule C - Amounts Receivable from Related Parties which are eliminated during the consolidation of financial statements
December 31, 2021
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Title of issue and type of obligation 
Amount authorized by 

indenture

Amount shown under 

caption"Current portion 

of long-term debt" in 

related balance sheet 

Amount shown under 

caption"Long-Term Debt" in 

related balance sheet 

Interest Rate Maturity Date

 - nothing to report -

BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. 

(A Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)

Schedule D - Long-Term Debt

December 31, 2021

(Amount in Philippine Pesos)
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Name of related party Balance at beginning of 
period Balance at end of period 

Schedule E - Indebtedness to Related Parties
December 31, 2021

BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. 
(A Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)

 - nothing to report -

(Amount in Philippine Pesos)
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Name of issuing entity of 
securities guaranteed by the 

company for which this 
statement is filed

Title of issue of each 
class of securities 

guaranteed

Total amount 
guaranteed and 

outstanding

Amount owned by 
person for which 
statement is filed

Nature of 
guarantee

BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. 
(A Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)

Schedule F - Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers 
December 31, 2021

 - nothing to report -

(Amount in Philippine Pesos)
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Title of Issue (2) Number of shares 
authorized

Number of shares issued 
and outstanding as shown 
under the related balance 

sheet caption

Number of shares 
reserved for options, 

warrants, coversion and 
other rights

Related parties (3)
Directors, 

officers and 
employees

Others

Preferred Shares 200,000  -    -    -    -    -   

Common shares 3,400,000,000 2,162,475,312 1,914,711,807 152,915 247,610,590

            BDO Unibank Inc. 1,914,711,807

*Determination of number of shares and outstanding
Number of shares issued 2,225,169,030
Less shares held in treasury 62,693,718

2,162,475,312

BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC.

Schedule G - Capital Stock (1)

December 31, 2021

Number of shares held by

(A Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)

(Amount in Philippine Pesos)

8 of 8



Appendix I

Unappropriated Retained Earnings Available for 
Dividend declaration at beginning of Year  3,254,102,766  P           

Net Profit Per Audited Financial Statements 43,541,418                      

Unappropriated Retained Earnings Available for
Dividend Declaration at End of Year  3,297,644,184  P           

BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc.
Ortigas Center, Mandaluyong City

 Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration
December 31, 2021
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Certified Public Accountants 

Punongbayan & Araullo (P&A) is the Philippine member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd. 

 

Offices in Cavite, Cebu, Davao  

BOA/ PRC Cert of Reg. No. 0002 

SEC Accreditation No. 0002 
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Report of Independent Auditors  
on Components of 
Financial Soundness Indicators 
 
 
The Board of Directors and the Stockholders  
BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc. 
(A Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.) 
39th Floor, BDO Corporate Center Ortigas 
12 ADB Avenue, Ortigas Center 
Mandaluyong City 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the financial statements 
of BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc., for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 and for 
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, on which we have rendered 
our report thereon dated February 23, 2022.  Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an 
opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a whole.  The Supplementary Schedule on 
Financial Soundness Indicators, including their definitions, formulas, calculation, and their 
appropriateness or usefulness to the intended users, are the responsibility of the Company¶V�
management.  These financial soundness indicators are not measures of operating 
performance defined by Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) and may not be 
comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies.  This schedule is 
presented for the purposes of complying with the Revised Securities Regulation Code Rule 68 
issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission, and is not a required part of the basic 
financial statements prepared in accordance with PFRS.  The components of these financial 
soundness indicators have been traced to the &RPSDQ\¶V�financial statements as at      
December 31, 2021 and 2020 and for each of the three years in the period ended  
December 31, 2021 and no material exceptions were noted. 
 
 
 PUNONGBAYAN & ARAULLO 

 
 
 
 

 By: Romualdo V. Murcia III 
  Partner 
 
  CPA Reg. No. 0095626 
  TIN 906-174-059 
  PTR No. 8852339, January 3, 2022, Makati City 
  SEC Group A Accreditation 
   Partner - No. 0628-AR-4 (until Sept. 4, 2022) 
   Firm - No. 0002 (until Dec. 31, 2024)   
  BIR AN 08-002511-022-2019 (until Sept. 4, 2022) 
  )LUP¶V�%2$�35&�&HUW��RI�5HJ��1R��������XQWLO�$XJ����������� 
 
 
  
      February 23, 2022 
 



2021 2020 2021 2020

I. Current/liquidity ratios

Current ratio

6,020,305,395       5,996,095,595        738.00 218.00

8,157,623              27,504,751             

Acid Test Ratio

6,020,305,395       5,996,095,595        738.00 218.00

8,157,623              27,504,751             

II. Solvency ratios; debt-to-equity ratios

Solvency ratio

43,556,928            776,820,366           5.34                      28.24                     
8,157,623              27,504,751             

Debt-to-equity ratio

8,157,623              27,504,751             0.00                      0.00                       
6,012,147,772        5,968,590,844        

III. Asset-to-equity ratio

Asset-to-equity ratio

6,020,305,395       5,996,095,595        1.00                       1.00                       
6,012,147,772        5,968,590,844        

IV. Interest coverage ratio

Interest coverage ratio

37,841,490            934,539,829            -   1.78                       
 -   524,018,733           

V. Profitability ratios

Net profit margin

43,556,928            252,448,103           76.29% 10.67%
57,097,104            2,367,036,222        

Return on equity

43,556,928            252,448,103           0.73% 4.36%
5,990,369,308       5,791,459,655        

Return on assets

43,556,928            252,448,103           0.72% 1.37%
6,008,200,495       18,471,975,485      

BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc. 
Financial Ratios

December 31, 2021 and 2020
(Amounts Philippine Pesos)

Net Profit
Interest income + Other operating income

Net profit
Average equity

Net profit
Average assets

Total liabilities
Total equity

Total assets
Total equity

Earnings before interest and taxes
Interest expense

Total current liabilities

(After tax net profit + Depreciation)
Total liabilities

Total current assets

Total current liabilities

Quick assets



2021 2020 2021 2020
VI. Others

Total real estate investments to Assets

 -    -    -    -   
6,020,305,395       5,996,095,595        

Loans to Assets

127,407,665          127,404,781           2.12% 2.12%
6,020,305,395       5,996,095,595        

DOSRI to Net worth

 -    -    -    -   
6,012,147,772        5,968,590,844       

Amount of receivable from a single corporation to
Total receivables

 -    -    -    -   
127,407,665          127,404,781           

Total investment properties
Total assets

Total loans and other receivables
Total assets

Total loans and other receivables

Receivables from Directors, Officers, 
Stakeholders and Related Interests

Total equity

Loan to a single corporation



   

 

ANNEX B 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation  

 
2021 Compared to 2020 
  
As approved by its Board of Directors and stockholders, the Company implemented the sale of the 

Company’s assets to BDO Unibank and other affiliates as part of the restructuring of the leasing business 
of BDO Group and the conversion of the Company into a holding company. Following the effectivity of 
IFRS 16, the Company projected a decline in the volume of leasing transactions and a decline in revenue 
from the leasing and financing business. The Company has thus approved its transition into an investment 
holding company in order to afford the Company flexibility to pursue more financially viable businesses.  

 
As approved by the Company’s Related Party Committee and Board of Directors, in various dates 

in 2020, the Company sold for valuable consideration and on arms’ length basis its core loans and 
receivables to BDO Unibank, BDO Life and BDO Finance with aggregate amounts of P14.13 billion, P1.28 
billion, and P7.70 billion. The total resulting gain on disposal of core loans and receivables amounted to 
P509.97 million. 

 
In 2021, the Company generated Php55 million in investment income generated from the fair value 

gain of its investments in Unit Investment Trust Funds (UITFs). With total expenses P19.3 million, the 
Company ended the year with net income of Php43.54 Million.  Compared to 2020, net income dropped by 
83% from P252.4 million, as the previous year’s result was still based on a balance sheet prior to the full 
implementation of the Company’s restructuring of its leasing business.  
 

As of December 31, 2021, total assets remain the same at P6.0 billion, of which P5.8 billion was 
invested in UITFs. Stockholders’ equity stood at P6.0 billion. 
 

The Company’s five (5) key performance indicators are as follows:  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The Current Ratio (computed as current assets divided by current liabilities) and Quick Asset Ratio 

(quick asset divided by current liabilities) increased from last year's 218.01:1. Debt to equity ratio, 
computed as total liabilities divided by total equity, is nil in both years. Net Profit Margin which is computed 
as net income over gross revenue rose to 76.29%. Return on Equity, which is net income over average 
equity, dropped to 0.73% in 2021. 
 
2020 Compared to 2019 

  
Gross income for the year ended December 31, 2020 was P2,367.1 million, a decrease of P664.8  

million, or 21.9%, from P3,031.9 million in 2019. Interest and discounts were at P1,123.0 million, down by 
P861.5 million or 43.4% from P1,984.5 million in 2019. Rent Income in 2020 amounted to P583.0 million, a 
decline of P261.6 million or 31.0% from P844.6 million in 2019. The decrease in Interest Income and Rent 
Income was the result of the sale of substantially all of the Company’s assets to BDO Unibank, BDO 
Finance and other subsidiaries as part of the restructuring process of the Group’s leasing business.  As of 
December 31, 2020, substantially all of BDOLF’s lease and loan portfolio has already been sold.   

 
Meanwhile, Service fee and other income rose to P661.1 million, an increase of P458.3 million or 

226% from last year’s P202.8 million.  The increase was mainly due to the gain on sale of receivables to 
BDO Unibank, BDO Finance & other subsidiaries. 
 

Interest and financing charges for 2020 amounted to P526.0 million, consisting mainly of finance 
charges from borrowings of P517.6 million, interest expense on lease deposits of P6.4 million and interest 

December 2021 December 2020

Current Ratio 738.0:1 218.0:1
Quick asset ratio 738.0:1 218.0:1
Debt to Equity Ratio 0.00:1 0.00:1
Net Profit Margin 76.29% 10.66%
Return on Equity 0.73% 4.36%
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expense on lease liability of P1.4. The decrease of P871.7 million in financing charges is attributed to the 
restructuring of the company’s leasing business, where Bills Payable were paid off in October 2020. 
Interest expense on leased deposits in 2020 amounted to P6.4 million or a decrease of P1.3M from last 
year's P7.7 million. Interest expense on lease liability went down to P1.4 million from P2.2 million last year. 
 

Total provisions for impairment losses increased from P6.2 million in 2019 to P399.1 million in 
2020. This was due to the expected delinquencies as a result of pandemic. 
 

Taxes and licenses amounted to P199.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, a decline 
of P109.7 million, or 35.4% from the P309.5 million reported for the year ended December 31, 2019. The 
decrease was attributable to the reduction in Bills Payable in 2020 as a result of BDOLF’s restructuring. 
 

Salaries and employee benefits expense amounted to P214.9 million in 2020 as compared to 
P244.2 million in 2020. Occupancy and equipment related expenses for the year ended December 31, 
2020 amounted to P538.0 million, a decrease of P273.9 million, or 33.7% from December 2019’s P811.9 
million.  

  
Litigation/assets acquired expenses amounted to P8.0 million in 2020, a decrease of P4.4 million 

from P12.4 million in 2019.  
 

Other expenses decreased to P70.9 million in 2020 as compared to P111.1 million in 2019. 
 

The Company registered a net income of P252.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.  
 
Total assets amounted to P6.0 billion in December 31, 2020, a decrease of P24.9 billion from 

P30.9 billion as of December 2019. BDOLF sold substantially all of its assets to BDO Unibank, BDO 
Finance and other subsidiaries On the other hand, The Company purchased P5,747 million worth of unit 
investment trust funds (UITFs) in 2020. Other receivables balance amounting P127.3 million are mainly 
from Creditable withholding tax of P121.7 million to be applied to future income tax payments. 
 

The Company also assigned irrevocably and absolutely to BDO Finance certain accounts payable 
and other liabilities.  The remaining balance of Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities account amounting 
P27.5 million includes, among others, withholding taxes payable, accrued taxes and other expenses 
payable and payroll related accounts. 
 

Stockholders’ equity stood at P6.0 billion. 
 

The Company’s five (5) key performance indicators are as follows:  
 
 

 
 

The Current Ratio (computed as current assets divided by current liabilities) and Quick Asset Ratio 
(quick asset divided by current liabilities) increased from last year's 0.36:1 and 0.36:1, respectively. Debt to 
equity ratio, computed as total liabilities divided by total equity was 0 in 2020. Net Profit Margin which is 
computed as net income over gross revenue, went up due to higher income. Return on Equity, which is net 
income over average equity, rose to 4.36% in 2020. 
 
Policy on Revenue Recognition – Other Income 

Income that are one off such as gain on sale of dollar denominated cash deposit are recognized 
as Other Income. These are recognized as they are earned. 
 

December 2020 December 2019

Current Ratio 218.01:1 0.36:1
Quick asset ratio 218.01:1 0.36:1
Debt to Equity Ratio 0.00:1 4.88:1
Net Profit Margin 10.67% 1.54%
Return on Equity 4.36% 0.85%
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Key Variable and Other Qualitative and Quantitative Factors 

 
As approved by the Company’s Board of Directors (BOD) on January 31, 2020 and its 

shareholders on July 21, 2020, BDOLF’s core loans and receivables and investment were sold to related 
parties on various dates in 2020, as part of the Company’s restructuring process.  

 
The Company’s licenses to operate five branches were surrendered to and revoked by SEC 

effective October 2020.  The Company’s main certificate of authority to operate as a financing company 
was likewise surrendered to the SEC in November 2020, the effectivity of which is subject to the 
amendment of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation to reflect its new primary purpose as a holding 
company. 

  
The Company ceased to operate as a leasing and financing company effective October 19, 2020. 

 
Internal and Externals Sources of Liquidity 

 
From January to September 2020, the Company relied on revenue from operations and 

borrowings from creditor banks for its source of liquidity. 
 
The sale of substantially all assets of the Company was used to pay-off or retire all credit 

obligations.  The residual cash was placed in Unit Investment Trust Funds (UITFs). 
 

There are no events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is 
material to the Company, including any default or acceleration of an obligation. 

 
Financial Statements 
 

The financial statements of the Company which will be included in the 2021 Annual Report to 
Stockholders are incorporated herein by reference.  The schedules listed in the accompanying Index to 
Supplementary Schedules are filed as part of this Form. 

 
There are no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations 

(including contingent obligations), and other relationships of the Company with 
unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the reporting period. 
 

There are no material changes from period to period of the financial statements of 
the Company. 
 

 

Information On Independent Accountant 
 
Information on Independent Accountant and Other Related Matters 
 

(1) External Audit Fees and Services 
 

(a)  Audit and Audit-Related Fees 
   

The aggregate fees billed for each of the last two (2) fiscal years for professional services 
rendered by the external auditor was P0.319 million for the year 2021 and P0.854 million 
for the year 2020. These fees cover services rendered by the external auditor for audit of 
the financial statements and other services in connection with statutory and regulatory 
filings for fiscal year 2021 and 2020. 

 
 (b) Tax fees and other fees 
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No other fees were paid to the auditing firm of Punongbayan & Araullo, CPAs (P&A) for 
the last two (2) fiscal years. 

 
 (c) The Board Audit Committee has the oversight responsibility over the audit function and 

activities of Internal and External auditors. It provides assurance that (a) financial 
disclosures made by the management as presented in the Internal Auditor’s report 
reasonably reflect the financial condition; the results of operation; and the plans and long-
term commitments; and (b) internal controls are operating as intended and whether 
modifications are necessary. 

 
The Board Audit Committee has the responsibility to select and recommend to the Board 
the External Auditors. It reviews the audit coverage of the External Auditors and 
deliberates on their audit report prior to endorsement to the Board for approval. It reports 
to the Board audit-related matters requiring the Board’s action. 

 
(2) Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures 

In 2021 and 2020, the auditing firm of P&A has been appointed as the Company’s 
Independent Public Accountant. There was no event in the past where P&A and the 
Company had any disagreement with regard to any matter relating to accounting principles 
or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope and procedures. 
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BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. 
ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS' MEETING 

April 20, 2022 at 3:00 p.m. 
 

Guidelines for Participating via Remote Communication and Voting in Absentia 
 

The 2022 virtual Annual Stockholders' Meeting (ASM) of BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc. (BDOLF) is scheduled 
on April 20, 2022 (Wednesday) at 3:00 p.m. with the end of trading hours of the Philippine Stock Exchange 
on March 16, 2022 (Record Date) as the record date set by the Board of Directors for the determination of 
stockholders entitled to the notice of, to attend, and to vote at such meeting and any adjournment thereof. 
 
The ASM will be broadcasted via livestreaming accessible to registered participants. Stockholders will be allowed 
to register, attend, participate and vote via remote communication or in absentia pursuant to Sections 23 and 
57 of the Revised Corporation Code of the Philippines. 
 
Step 1. Pre- SSM Registration/Validation/Voting Procedures 
 
Stockholder must notify the Office of the Corporate Secretary of their intention to participate in the ASM via 
remote communication or to exercise their right to vote in absentia by sending the documentary requirements 
with transmittal letter addressed to the Office of the Corporate Secretary, 21st Floor, BDO Towers Valero, 8741 
Paseo de Roxas, Salcedo Village, Makati City VIA COURIER/PERSONAL DELIVERY OR scanned copies of these 
documents by EMAIL to <natividad.josephjason@bdo.com.ph> with return-receipt. 
 
The following complete/accurate documentary requirements with transmittal letter MUST BE SENT TO AND 
RECEIVED by the Office of the Corporate Secretary no later than April 10, 2022: 
 

• For Certificated Individual Stockholders 
1. A clear copy of the stockholder's valid government-issued ID (such as passport, driver's license, 

or unified multipurpose ID) showing photo, signature and personal details, preferably with 
residential address 

2. Stock certificate number/s 
3. A valid and active e-mail address and contact number of stockholder 
4. If appointing a proxy, duly accomplished and signed proxy indicating the votes on the agenda 

items. Proxy form can be downloaded from BDOLF's website 
<www.bdo.com.ph/leasing/2020proxyform>. 

 
If sending via email, attachments should be clear copies in JPG or PDF format. with each 
file size no larger than 2MB. 

 
• For Certificated Multiple Stockholders or Joint owners 

1. A clear copy of the ALL stockholders' valid government-issued IDs (such as passport, driver's 
license, or unified multipurpose ID) showing photo, signature and personal details, preferably 
with residential address 

2. Stock certificate number/s 
3. A valid and active email address and contact number of authorized representative 
4. Proof of authority of stockholder voting the shares signed by the other registered 

stockholders, for shares registered in the name of multiple stockholders (need not be 
notarized) 

5. If appointing a proxy, duly accomplished and signed proxy indicating the votes on the agenda 
items. Proxy form can be downloaded from BDOLF's website 
<www.bdo.com.ph/leasing/2022proxyform>. 

 
If sending via email, attachment/s should be clear copies in JPG or PDF format, with 
each file size no larger than 2MB. 
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•  For Certificated Corporate/Partnership Stockholders 
1. Secretary's Certification of Board resolution attesting to the authority of representative to 

participate by remote communication for, and on behalf of the Corporation/Partnership 
2. Stock certificate number/s 
3. A clear copy of the valid government-issued ID (such as passport, driver's license, or unified 

multipurpose ID) of stockholder's authorized representative showing photo, signature and 
personal details, preferably with residential address 

4. A valid and active email address and contact number of authorized representative 
5. If appointing a proxy, duly accomplished and signed proxy indicating the votes on the agenda 

items. Proxy form can be downloaded from BDOLF's website 
<www.bdo.com.ph/leasing/2022proxyform>. 

 
If sending via email, attachment/s should be clear copies in JPG or PDF format, with 
each file size no larger than 2MB. 

 
•  For Stockholders with Shares under PCD Participant/Broker Account 

1. Certification from broker as to the number of shares owned by stockholder 
2. A clear copy of the stockholder's valid government-issued ID (such as passport, driver's license, 

or unified multipurpose ID) showing photo. signature and personal details,  
3. Secretary preferably with residential address 
4. A valid and active email address and contact number of stockholder or proxy 
5. If appointing a proxy. duly accomplished and signed proxy indicating the votes on the agenda 

items. Proxy form can be downloaded from BDOLF's website 
<www.bdo.com.ph/leasing/2022proxyform>. 

 
If sending via email, attachment/s should be clear copies in JPG or PDF format, with 
each file size no larger than 2MB. 

 
Stockholders will receive an e-mail reply from BDOLF's Office of the Corporate as soon as practicable. The Office 
of the Corporate Secretary's email reply will either confirm successful registration and provide the link/meeting 
details to BDOLF's 2022 ASM OR require submission of deficient documents. If you have not received any email 
reply, please call tel. no. 8840-7694. 
 

 
Step 2: Voting in Absentia Procedure 
 
Stockholders who have successfully registered shall be notified via email from the Office of the Corporate 
Secretary of their log-in credentials for the ASM. Registered stockholders can then cast their votes for specific 
items in the agenda by accomplishing the BDOLF's 2022 ASM Ballot Form. The ballot form can be accessed and 
downloaded from BDOLF's website <www.bdo.com.ph/leasing/ASMballot>. 
 

1. Upon accessing and downloading the ballot, the stockholder can vote on each agenda item on the 
ballot print-out. A brief description of each item for stockholders' approval are appended as Annex 
A to the Notice of Meeting. 

 
1.1 A stockholder has the option to vote "Yes", "No", or "Abstain" on each agenda item for approval. 

 
2. Once the stockholder has finalized his vote, he can proceed to submit his ballot by sending in JPG 

or PDF format to <natividad.josephjason@bdo.com.ph> no later than April 10, 2022. 
  

Important Reminder: Please refrain from sending duplicate and inconsistent 
information/documents as this can result in failed registration. All documents/information 
shall be subject to verification and validation by BDOLF. 
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If sending via email, attachment/s should be clear copies in JPG or PDF format, with 
each file size no larger than 2MB. 

 
Step 3: Virtual ASM 
 
The ASM will be broadcasted live and stockholders who have successfully registered can participate via remote 
communication. Details of the meeting will be sent to stockholders in the emails provided by BDOLF. Instructions 
on how to access the broadcast will also be posted at <www.bdo.com.ph/2022ASM>. 
 
Video recordings of the ASM will be adequately maintained by the Company and will be made available to 
participating stockholders upon request. Stockholders may access the recorded webcast of the ASM by sending 
an email request addressed to <natividad.josephjason@bdo.com.ph>. 
 
Open Forum 
 
During the virtual meeting, the Company will have an Open Forum, during which, the meeting's moderator will 
read and where representatives of the Company shall endeavor to answer as many of the questions and 
comments received from stockholders as time will allow. 
 
Stockholders may send their questions in advance by sending an email bearing the subject "ASM 2022 Open 
Forum" to <natividad.josephjason@bdo.com.ph>. A section for stockholder comments/questions or a "chatbox" 
shall also be provided in the broadcasting platform. 
 
The Company will endeavor to address separately via email those questions/comments received but not 
entertained during the Open Forum due to time constraints. 
 
For any clarifications, please contact our Office of the Corporate Secretary through 
<natividad.josephjason@bdo.com.ph>. 
 

 



Leasing 
REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES ) 
CIT)' OF MAKATI ) SS. 

CERTIFICATION 

I, JOSEPH JASON M. NATIVIDAD, Filipino, of legal age and with office address at the 21st 
Floor, BDO Towers Valero, 8741 Paseo de Roxas, Salcedo Village, Makati City, under oath, do hereby 
certify that: 

1. I am the duly appointed Corporate Secretary of BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. 
(BDOLF), a corporation duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the Republic of 
the Philippines, with business address at 39th Floor, BOO Corporate Center Ortigas, 12 ADB Avenue, 
Ortigas Center, Mandaluyong City, and in that capacity, I have custody of the corporate records of 
BDOLF; 

2. As Corporate Secretary and based on the corporate records on file, I hereby certify that none 
of the Directors, Independent Directors, Officers and Employees of BDOLF, and none of the nominees 
for election as Directors and Independent Directors of BDOLF, has been elected to any Government 
position, or appointed to any Government department, agency, bureau or office, that would disqualify 
them from serving as director, independent director, officer or employee of the company. 

3. I am executing this certificate for whatever legal purpose it may serve. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto affixed my signature this __ day MAR 1 0 2022 at 
CITY OF MAKATI , Philippines. 

, Doc. No. .I:"'I{, 
Page No. Jet' 
Book No. t 
Series of 2022. 

g ~ (l /1. ~~// 
JOSEPH ~- NATIVIDAD 
Corporate Secretary 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this  da  ofMAR 1 U 2022 at Makati Cit  affiant 
exhibiting to me his 

Atty.CHRI~ 
Appointment No. r-,;JJ6 

Notary Public until · JUN j O 2022 
21/F 800 Towers Valero, 87411'a:.eo de ~oxas 

Salcedo VIiiage, Makati City I 226 
Roll No. 57195 

IBP No. 1'15381, 08 Janu~ry 2021, MakatI City 
PTR No. 8535989, 06 January 2021, Makati City 

MCtE Compliance No. VJ-OOJS458. 20 November 2QII 

BOO Leasing and Finance, Inc. 
39/F BDO Corporate Center Ortigas 
12 ADB Avenue, Ortigas Center 
Mandaluyong City 1554 
Tel +632 8688-1288 loc. 65819/ 65175/ 45303 

bdo.com.ph We find ways® 
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CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR 

I, VICENTE S. PEREZ, JR., Filipino, of legal age and a resident o after having 
been duly sworn to in accordance with law do hereby declare that: 

1. I am a nominee for independent director of BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. 
("BDOLF") and have been its independent director since April 7, 2017. 

2. I am affiliated with the following companies or organizations (including Government- 
Owned and Controlled Corporations): 

COMPANY /ORGANIZATION POSITION/RELATIONSHIP PERIOD OF SERVICE 

PLEASE SEE ATTACHED 

3. I possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications to serve as an 
independent director of BDOLF, as provided for in Section 38 of the Securities 
Regulation Code, its Implementing Rules and Regulations and other SEC issuances. 

4. I am related to the following director/officer/substantial shareholder of BDOLF and its 
subsidiary/ies, other than the relationship provided under Rule 38.2.3 of the 
Securities Regulation Code. (where applicable) 

NAME OF DIRECTOR/OFFICER/ NATURE OF 
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER COMPANY RELATIONSHIP 

NONE/NA 

5. To the best of my knowledge, I am not subject of any pending criminal or 
administrative investigation or proceeding / I disclose that I am the subject of the 
following criminal/administrative investigation or proceeding (as the case maybe): 

OFFENSE TRIBUNAL OR AGENCY 
CHARGED/INVESTIGATED INVOLVED STATUS 

NONE/NA 



6. (For those in government service/affiliated with a government agency or GOCC) I 
have the required written permission or consent from the (head of the 
agency/department) to be an independent director in BDOLF, pursuant to Office of 
the President Memorandum Circular No. 17 and Section 12, Rule XVIII of the Revised 
Civil Service Rules. 

7. I shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilities as 
independent director under the Securities Regulation Code and its Implementing 
Rules and Regulations, Code of Corporate Governance and other SEC issuances. 

8. I shall inform the Corporate Secretary of BDOLF of any changes in the 
abovementioned information within five (5) days from its occurrence. 

Done, this day of MAR 11 2022 at CITY Of IM¥ATI --- 

v~ 
VICENTE S. PER~ 

Affiant EZ, JR. u 
MAR 11 2022 SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this __ day of at CITY OF ~TI 

 me and exhibited to me his 

Doc. No. -ti( 
Page No. IDC, 
Book No. T 
Series of 2022. 

Atty. CHRIS1 
Appoint t No. 36 

Notary Public until . JUN 3 0 2027 
21/F BDO Towers Valero, 874 l Paseo de floxas 

Salcedo Village, Makatl City 1226 
Roll No. 57195 

IBP No. 145381, OB January 2021, Makatt City 
PTR No. 8535989, 06 January 2021, Makatl City 

MCLE Compliance No. VI-0015◄ 58, 20 November 2018 
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ANNEX A 

Corripany 

..... ... 
Director,s~ips of Vi~~r,i~_e ?..:. P~rez_Jr 

Position 
...... ...... . ... ,. ... , 

Period of Service ·········"•· ., .. , . 
(1Jp to present) 

:Alternergy Group of Companies 
,. ~lt~r~~;QY. Phj1ip:pir1e HCJlcji~g~_C?rporatiCJ_~ ..... 

Alterner~JY Philippine Investments C::orporatio_r1 
Al!ernE:!r9y !~nay":'ind C,()rp_or~~ior1 

. Alterne,rgy _Holdings Corporation 
Pililla AVPC Corporation 

.<\lterner9x_ Mini -~ydro Holdings Corpora!ion 

.<\ltern~rgy Hydro Partners Corporation 
Ibulao Mini Hydro Corporation 

.. K_iangan_ ~_ir1i Hydro Cor,p<:>rat_iCl_l1 
Gree_r1_ Energy Supply SCJluti<Jns, Inc. 
Alterner9)' Holdings Ltd. 
So_lar,~ac_if.ic Ener,gy Corporati°._11 
Kirahon Sol_ar Energy Corporation 
Solar Pacific CitySun Corporation 

.... lv1er_r_i~~-A_9v,i5.<:>_ry P.~rtr1_:r.5., I_r1c_: . 
f:'.ler.ritt_P.~~ne_r,~P,_t_:. Ltd (Sir1ga,p<>re,) . 

__ lv1~rri~_H<:>ldin9s_Pte Ltd 
_ r-JCP ,t\?,visClrs Philippi_nes, Inc 

_ 9BL EC:O C::orpora_ti<:rn 
Kadluan Man_agement Corpor_ation 
Ka,_cjluar1 .. Prop_e_rties, Inc. 
Clean Climate Professionals, Inc. 
Ve~p~r~ H_olcjir1gs Corporation 

'Independent Directorships 
_ SingapC>r: Technoloqies Telemedi~ P~~ Ltd. (Singa,pa.re) 

....... S'fT. _C::_om1T1Lmicatior1s Ltd_. _(_Singap(}re). 
. __ pou_?le _Dra9on Prop:rtie.s co,r,p. 

BDO Unibank, Inc. 
. _ BD.C? .. L_:a,si11g ~_nd _F.i11a,nce'.. Inc: 

BDO Finance Corporation 

NGOs Foundations 
Worldwide Fund for Nature (WWF) - China 
Worldwide Fund for Nature (WWF) - U.S. 

,,,, .. ,, .. , ..... ·••······ ... .... . ,,, .... 
Asian Conservation Foundation, Inc 
Bhutan Foundation 
Ph,_il_ippine __ Map Collectors S<>c_i:~L 

.. 
President 
President 
President 
Chairman ....... , .... 
President 
Chairman 
Chairman 
Chairman 
Chairman 
Chairman 
Director 
President 
Chairman & President 
President 
Chairman 
Chairman 
Director ... 
Chairman 
President 
Chairman 
Chairman 
Chairman 
President 
President 

Non-Executive Director 
Non-Executive Direct~; " 

...... ,:., .. ,. 
. ~ndepender1t [:)ir,:~tor, 
.. Independent. Director .. 
Indep:ndent [:)irecto,r, 
Independent Director 

'"". 

Trustee 
Board Member .. . 
President .......... 
National Council 
Treasurer 

.. ,{ .. 

.tlug_us~.2.~i .. 2008 .. __ 
i\LJgust 2,8, 2009. 

...... J\Llgu_~_tJS..'. 2,01 .. ~ .... 
June 18, 2009 
August 22, 2013 
January 30, 201_3 
December 18, 2013 
April 19, _2016 
November 14, 2014 
November 10, 2016 
December 19, 2017 
January 3.o,, 201_3. 
November 5, 2013 
June 26, 2015 
ALJ_Q LJSt_2,2:. 20,9,S,. 
November 18, 2005 

F:b_rLJary_ 14'.. 2,020 __ 
December 18, 1996 ... . •··•· 

August_26, _201 ~- 
May 2005 
April 23, 1993 

. .. J\LJ9LJst 115, 2.0..~? 
Febru_ary_ 13, 2018 ... 

. .<\pril 16, 2.0~? . 

_ Se,pt,em?e_r \ .. 2006 
5.~ptE:!r:r:ib.e_r_ \. 20,0.6 
F:br.ua,r.y .. 17, 2,0_11 

.. April 22,_2019 
_ April!'. 201! .. 

December 9, 2019 

April 19, 2017 
Oct 2017-Oct 2020 
Ma)' 22'. 2_00.~ ... 
April 2, 2,014, 
Ja,n_ua,_ry_1,_?,0.~ 5_ 

Advisory Boards 
Center for Business & Environment at Yale (CBEY) 

,,.... . ,.,, ,.,. ,,. ,, . .. .. . 
Ne\l>I _z~~l_a_r1~.!_rad.~ Enterpri_5.e (8.~_ach,~e~ds Net\l>/ork) 
Pictet .. S.,~a~. Ener9y_Fund 

Adv,isory_ Boar,d 
Advisor 
J\dv_isory Boar,d. 

March 25 2009 . .. ,,,., ,.,, .. 
November 1, 2016 
October 2010 



REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES ) 
CITY OF MAKATI ) SS. 

CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR 

I, ISMAEL G. ESTELA, JR., Filipino, of legal age and residing at , after 
having been duly sworn to in accordance with law do hereby declare that: 

1. I am a nominee for independent director of BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. 
("BDOLF"). 

2. I am affiliated with the following companies or organizations: 

COMPANY/ORGANIZATION POSITION/RELATIONSHIP PERIOD OF 
SERVICE 

BOO Foundation, Inc. Independent Trustee June 3, 2020 up to 
oresent 

3. I possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications to serve as an 
independent director of BDOLF, as provided for in Section 38 of the Securities 
Regulation Code, its Implementing Rules and Regulations and other SEC issuances. 

4. I am related to the following director/officer/substantial shareholder of BDOLF and its 
subsidiary/ies, other than the relationship provided under Rule 38.2.3 of the Securities 
Regulation Code. (where applicable) 

NAME OF DIRECTOR/OFFICER/ NATURE OF 
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER COMPANY RELATIONSHIP 
NONE NONE NONE 

5. To the best of my knowledge, I am not subject of any pending criminal or 
administrative investigation or proceeding / I disclose that I am the subject of the 
following criminal/administrative investigation or proceeding (as the case maybe): 

OFFENSE TRIBUNAL OR AGENCY 
CHARGED/INVESTIGATED INVOLVED STATUS 

NONE NONE NONE 

6. (For those in government service/affiliated with a government agency or GOCC) I have 
the required written permission or consent from the to be an 
independent director in BDOLF, pursuant to Office of the President Memorandum 
Circular No. 17 and Section 12, Rule XVIII of the Revised Civil Service Rules. 



7. I shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilities as 
independent director under the Securities Regulation Code and its Implementing Rules 
and Regulations, Code of Corporate Governance and other SEC issuances. 

8. I shall inform the Corporate Secretary of BDOLF of any changes in the 
abovementioned information within five (5) days from its occurrence. 

Done, this 10th day of March 2022, at Makati City 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this __ day of MAR 1 1 2022 at 
CITY OF MAKA.Tj affiant personally appeared before me and exhibited to me his Passport No. 

wi - issued at on 

Doc. No. ljzf 
Page No.~ 
Book No. ~ 
Series of 2022. 

~~ 
Atty. MARIA FELICIA T. ZANTUA 

Appointment No. M-36-4 
Notary Public extended until JUN 3 0 2022 

per Supreme Court En Sane Resolution dati:d 21 lunt 2021 
(B.M. NO. 3795) 

21/F BOO Towers Valero, 874 l Paseo d~ Roxas 
Salcedo Villaoe, Male.at! City 1226 

Roll No. 58016 
IBP Lifetime Member No. 12S7~. Laguna 

PTR No. 8535993, 06 January 2021, Makati City 
MCLE Compliance No, Vl·OOJ4839. l3 November 2018 
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REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES ) 
CITY OF MAKATI ) SS. 

CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR 

I, LUIS MA. G. URANZA, Filipino, of legal age and residing at after having 
been duly sworn to in accordance with law do hereby declare that: 

1. I am a nominee for independent director of BOO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. 
("BDOLF"). 

2. I am affiliated with the following companies or organizations: 

COMPANY /ORGANIZATION POSITION/RELATIONSHIP PERIOD OF SERVICE 

Law Firm of Uranza & Associates Partner 1989 up to present 
Victorias Milling Co., Inc. Rehabilitation Receiver 2003 up to present 
Pinoy Care Health System Inc. Rehabilitation Receiver 2012 up to present 
C.U.Y. Hauling Services Rehabilitation Receiver 2016 up to present 
BDO Life Assurance Company, Inc. Independent Director 2018 up to present 
BDO Insurance Brokers, Inc. Independent Director 2020 up to present 
BDO Capital & Investment Independent Director 2020 up to present 
Corporation 
BDO Private Bank, Inc. Independent Director 2021 up to present 

3. I possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications to serve as an 
independent director of BDOLF, as provided for in Section 38 of the Securities 
Regulation Code, its Implementing Rules and Regulations and other SEC issuances. 

4. I am related to the following director/officer/substantial shareholder of BDOLF and its 
subsidiary/ies, other than the relationship provided under Rule 38.2.3 of the 
Securities Regulation Code. (where applicable) 

NAME OF DIRECTOR/OFFICER/ NATURE OF 
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER COMPANY RELATIONSHIP 

NONE NONE NONE 

5. To the best of my knowledge, I am not subject of any pending criminal or 
administrative investigation or proceeding / I disclose that I am the subject of the 
following criminal/administrative investigation or proceeding (as the case maybe): 

OFFENSE TRIBUNAL OR AGENCY 
CHARGED/INVESTIGATED INVOLVED STATUS 

NONE NONE NONE 



6. (For those in government service/affiliated with a government agency or GOCC) I 
have the required written permission or consent from the NOT APPLICABLE 
to be an independent director in BDOLF, pursuant to Office of the President 
Memorandum Circular No. 17 and Section 12, Rule XVIII of the Revised Civil Service 
Rules. 

7. I shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilities as 
independent director under the Securities Regulation Code and its Implementing 
Rules and Regulations, Code of Corporate Governance and other SEC issuances. 

8. I shall inform the Corporate Secretary of BDOLF of any changes in the 
abovementioned information within five (S) days from its occurrence. 

Done, this --- day of ~AR 1 0 1022 , at __ C_tT_Y_O_f_M_A_-K_A_n __ 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this __ da  of ~AR l O 2022at CITY OF MAK.All 
ffi n  r n ll  r  f r  m  n  xhi i   m  

Doc. No.~\.:} 
Page No. (cxj, 
Book No. ii' 
Series of 20L2. 

~ Atty. HOPE JAN O. CASTILLO-CANDIDO 
Appointment No. M-331 

Notary Public extended until JUN 3 0 2022 
per Supreme Court En Banc Rt~olution <latea n June 2021 

(B.M. No. 3795) 
21/F BOO Towers Va•erG. 87'tl F'?~~;) de Ro11a, 

Salcedo Village, l~i:fA! Ci\y l n6 
Roll 1,o. :,3~(-~, 

IBP No. 145369, 08 Janucrv 2J2l, Mauti City 
PTR No. 8S359 71, 06 January 2'0ll, M~hH Cit't 

MCLE Compliance No. V1·0020CM, 06 H~rch 2011 
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SDVVHG�DQG�DGRSWHG����

����� � ����������
6WRFNKROGHUV¶�5HVROXWLRQ�1R����������

�
� 5(62/9('��7KDW�WKH�6WRFNKROGHUV�RI�%'2�/HDVLQJ�DQG�)LQDQFH��
,QF�� DSSURYH�� DV� WKH\� KHUHE\� DSSURYH�� WKH� 0LQXWHV� RI� WKH� $QQXDO�
6WRFNKROGHUV¶�0HHWLQJ�KHOG�RQ�$SULO�����������

�
7KH� &KDLUPDQ� RI� WKH� PHHWLQJ� WKHQ� LQVWUXFWHG� WKH� &RUSRUDWH� 6HFUHWDU\� WR� KDYH� WKH�

PLQXWHV�RI�WKH�PHHWLQJ�UHIOHFW�WKH�WDEXODWLRQ�RI�DOO�YRWHV�FDVW��LQFOXGLQJ�SUR[LHV�WKDW�KDYH�FDVW�
WKHLU�YRWHV� LQ�IDYRU�RI� WKH�DSSURYDO�RI� WKH�PLQXWHV�RI� WKH� ODVW�DQQXDO�VWRFNKROGHUV¶�PHHWLQJ��
DQG� WR�QRWH� WKH� VWRFNKROGHUV� WKDW� KDYH� FKRVHQ� WR� DEVWDLQ�RQ� YRWLQJ� IRU�� RU� KDYH� FKRVHQ� WR�
YRWH�DJDLQVW��WKH�DSSURYDO�RI�WKH�VDLG�PLQXWHV��

�
%DVHG� RQ� 3	$¶V� WDEXODWLRQ�� WKH� IROORZLQJ� ZHUH� WKH� UHVXOWV� RI� WKH� YRWLQJ� E\� SROO��

VKRZLQJ�WKH�QXPEHU�RI�YRWHV�FDVW�DQG�UHFHLYHG�RQ�WKH�DSSURYDO�RI�WKH�0LQXWHV�RI�WKH�$QQXDO�
6WRFNKROGHUV¶�0HHWLQJ�KHOG�RQ�$SULO�����������

�



�����

�
7RWDO�2XWVWDQGLQJ�

6KDUHV�
7RWDO�9RWHV�

&DVW�
�

9RWHV�LQ�IDYRU�
�

9RWHV�DJDLQVW�
�

$EVWHQWLRQV�
�������������� �������������� ��������������

�������
�� ��

�
$FFRUGLQJO\�� VKDUHKROGHUV� RZQLQJ� �������������� YRWLQJ� VKDUHV� RU� ����� RI� WKH� WRWDO�

QXPEHU� RI� YRWLQJ� VKDUHV� UHSUHVHQWHG� DW� WKH�PHHWLQJ�� DSSURYHG� WKH� 0LQXWHV� RI� WKH� $QQXDO�
6WRFNKROGHUV¶�0HHWLQJ�KHOG�RQ�$SULO�����������QR�VKDUHKROGHU�YRWHG�DJDLQVW�RU�DEVWDLQHG�LQ�WKH�
DSSURYDO��
�
�
,9�� 3UHVLGHQW¶V�5HSRUW�DQG�$SSURYDO�RI�WKH�$XGLWHG�)LQDQFLDO�6WDWHPHQWV�RI�WKH�

&RUSRUDWLRQ�DV�RI�'HFHPEHU����������
�

7KH�&KDLUPDQ�RI�WKH�PHHWLQJ�WKHQ�JDYH�WKH�IORRU�WR�WKH�9LFH�&KDLUPDQ�DQG�3UHVLGHQW��
0U��5REHUWR�(��/DSLG��WR�SUHVHQW�KLV�UHSRUW�RQ�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ¶V�UHVXOWV�RI�RSHUDWLRQV�IRU�WKH�
\HDU�������DQG�WKH�SURJUDPV�DQG�SURVSHFWV�IRU�������

�
0U�� 5REHUWR� (�� /DSLG�� 9LFH� &KDLUPDQ� DQG� 3UHVLGHQW�� UHQGHUHG� KLV� UHSRUW� WR� WKH�

6WRFNKROGHUV���
�
3KLOLSSLQH�(FRQRP\�LQ������

�
0U��/DSLG�UHSRUWHG�WKDW� LQ�������3KLOLSSLQH�*'3�JUHZ�DW�������:KLOH� WKLV�ZDV� ORZHU�

WKDQ� WKH�*'3�SRVWHG� LQ������ DQG������� LW�ZDV� VWLOO� DPRQJ� WKH�KLJKHVW� JURZWK� UDWHV� LQ� WKH�
UHJLRQ��$FFRPSDQ\LQJ�WKLV�JURZWK�ZHUH�FHUWDLQ�JOREDO�DQG�GRPHVWLF�HYHQWV�WKDW�DIIHFWHG�WKH�
HFRQRP\� OLNH� WKH� KLNH� LQ� 86� LQWHUHVW� UDWHV� WKDW� UHVXOWHG� LQ� FDSLWDO� IOLJKW�� WKH� WLJKWHQLQJ� LQ�
GRPHVWLF�OLTXLGLW\��GHSUHFLDWLRQ�RI�WKH�SHVR��DQG�GHFOLQH�RI�WKH�ORFDO�VWRFN�PDUNHW��,Q�DGGLWLRQ��
JOREDO� RLO� SULFHV� ZHQW� XS� DQG� IRRG� VKRUWDJHV�� SDUWLFXODUO\� RQ� WKH� EDVLF� VWDSOH� ULFH�� ZHUH�
H[SHULHQFHG���,W�ZDV�DOVR�LQ������ZKHQ�WKH�75$,1�/DZ�WRRN�HIIHFW��$OO�RI�WKHVH�UHVXOWHG�LQ�D�
VSLNH�LQ�LQIODWLRQ��FDXVLQJ�WKH�%DQJNR�6HQWUDO�QJ�3LOLSLQDV��%63��WR�LQFUHDVH�SROLF\�UDWHV�E\�����
EDVLV�SRLQWV��7KH�&RUSRUDWLRQ��LQ�SDUWLFXODU��ZDV�DIIHFWHG�E\�WKH�UDSLG�LQFUHDVH�LQ�WKH�OHQGLQJ�
UDWHV� RI� EDQNV� DQG� WKH� KLJKHU� GRFXPHQWDU\� VWDPS� WD[HV� �'67��� ZKLFK� UHVXOWHG� LQ� WKH�
DFFHOHUDWHG�LQFUHDVH�LQ�IXQGLQJ�FRVWV�DV�FRPSDUHG�WR�WKH�SRUWIROLR�\LHOGV��
�

5HYLHZ�RI�&RPSDQ\�3HUIRUPDQFH�
�

0U�� /DSLG� ZDV� SOHDVHG� WR� UHSRUW� WKDW� GHVSLWH� WKH� FKDOOHQJHV� PHQWLRQHG�� WKH�
&RUSRUDWLRQ�KDG�DQRWKHU�VXFFHVVIXO�UXQ�LQ�������
�

%\�OHYHUDJLQJ�%'2�8QLEDQN¶V�H[WHQVLYH�QHWZRUN�DQG�WDNLQJ�DGYDQWDJH�RI�WKH�PXOWLWXGH�
RI�RSSRUWXQLWLHV�DVVRFLDWHG�ZLWK�UHJLRQDO�HFRQRPLF�H[SDQVLRQ��SDUWLFXODUO\�ZLWKLQ�WKH�WUDQVSRUW�
LQGXVWU\�� WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQ� UHJLVWHUHG� D� QHW� LQFRPH� RI� 3������0LOOLRQ� ZKLFK�ZDV� DW� SDU� ZLWK�
ZKDW� WKH� WDUJHW� IRU� ������ &RPSDUHG� WR� WKH� SUHYLRXV� \HDU� KRZHYHU�� WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQ¶V� QHW�
LQFRPH�ZDV�ORZHU�PDLQO\�GXH�WR�WKH�LPSDFW�RI�WKH�DGGLWLRQDO�GRFXPHQWDU\�VWDPS�WD[HV�XQGHU�
WKH�7UDLQ�/DZ�DQG�WKH�LQFUHDVH�LQ�%'2/)¶V�LQWHUHVW�H[SHQVH�E\�������
�

'HVSLWH� WKHVH� FKDOOHQJHV�� WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQ� ZDV� DEOH� WR� VXVWDLQ� WKH� WRWDO� OHDVH�ORDQ�
SRUWIROLR� DW� 3��� %LOOLRQ� DQG� NHSW� WKH� 7RWDO� $VVHWV� DERYH� 3��� %LOOLRQ�� ,Q� SDUWLFXODU�� %'2/)¶V�
ILQDQFH�OHDVHV�JUHZ�E\����DQG�WKH�SURYLQFLDO�SRUWIROLR�LQFUHDVHG�E\�����\HDU�RQ�\HDU��LQ�OLQH�
ZLWK�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ¶V�VWUDWHJ\�WR�WDS�IDVW�JURZLQJ�DQG�UDSLGO\�XUEDQL]LQJ�DUHDV�RXWVLGH�0HWUR�
0DQLOD��
�

'XULQJ�WKH�\HDU��%'2/)�ZDV�JLYHQ�DQ�DERYH�DYHUDJH� LVVXHU�FUHGLW�UDWLQJ�RI�³356�$D�
PLQXV´� IURP� WKH� 3KLOLSSLQH� 5DWLQJV� 6HUYLFHV� &RUSRUDWLRQ� LQ� UHFRJQLWLRQ� RI� WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQ¶V�
FRQWLQXLQJ�VWUHQJWK�DQG�ILQDQFLDO�VWDELOLW\��
�

,Q�-XO\������� WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ�ZDV�DOVR�DZDUGHG�DV�RQH�RI� WKH�7RS����SXEOLFO\�OLVWHG�
FRPSDQLHV� LQ� WKH� 3KLOLSSLQHV� WKDW� HDUQHG� KLJK� VFRUHV� LQ� WKH� ����� $6($1� &RUSRUDWH�
*RYHUQDQFH�6FRUHFDUG�EDVHG�RQ�WKH�ORFDO�DVVHVVPHQW�FRQGXFWHG�E\�WKH�,QVWLWXWH�RI�&RUSRUDWH�



�����

'LUHFWRUV��,&'���DQ�6(&�DSSRLQWHG�GRPHVWLF�UDQNLQJ�ERG\��2I�WKH���SXEOLFO\�OLVWHG�FRPSDQLHV�
ZKLFK� JDUQHUHG� DZDUGV� IURP� WKH� EDQNLQJ� VHFWRU�� %'2/)� ZDV� WKH� RQO\� ILQDQFLQJ� FRPSDQ\�
ZKLOH�WKH���RWKHUV�ZHUH�XQLYHUVDO�EDQNV�OHG�E\�%'2�8QLEDQN��
�

3URJUDPV�DQG�3URVSHFWV�IRU������
�

0U��/DSLG�LQIRUPHG�WKH�VKDUHKROGHUV�WKDW�DV�D�VXEVLGLDU\�RI�%'2�8QLEDQN��WKH�QDWLRQ¶V�
ODUJHVW� EDQN�� %'2/)� ZDV� ZHOO� SRLVHG� IRU� IXWXUH� JURZWK�� � +H� WKHQ� SUHVHQWHG� WR� WKH�
VKDUHKROGHUV�WKH�IROORZLQJ�VWUDWHJLHV�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ�IRU��������

�
¾� 7KH�&RUSRUDWLRQ�ZLOO�VWUHQJWKHQ�UHODWLRQVKLSV�E\�SDUWQHULQJ�ZLWK�FRUSRUDWH�FOLHQWV�

WR�VHFXUH�WKHLU�ILQDQFLDO�DQG�HTXLSPHQW�QHHGV��
¾� 0D[LPL]H�OHQGLQJ�RSSRUWXQLWLHV�IURP�WHFK�FRPSDQLHV�ZLWK�OHDVH�UHTXLUHPHQWV�IRU�

,7�DQG�KDUGZDUH�LQIUDVWUXFWXUH��
¾� 2SWLPL]H�WKH�EDODQFH�VKHHW�ZKLOH�PDLQWDLQLQJ�EDODQFHG�SRUWIROLR�JURZWK�DQG�JRRG�

FUHGLW�TXDOLW\��
¾� ,QFUHDVH�HIILFLHQFLHV�FRYHULQJ�WUDQVDFWLRQDO�DQG�SRVW�WUDQVDFWLRQDO�SURFHVVHV��DQG�
¾� 'HYHORS�DQG�HQJDJH�WHDP�PHPEHUV�WKUX�FRQWLQXRXV�WUDLQLQJ�LQ�RUGHU�WR�LPSURYH�

RYHUDOO�FXVWRPHU�H[SHULHQFH��
�

7KH�UHSRUW�LV�KHUHWR�DWWDFKHG�DV�$QQH[�³$´�DQG�PDGH�DQ�LQWHJUDO�SDUW�KHUHRI���
�
�
9�� 2SHQ�)RUXP�
�

$IWHU� WKH� 9LFH� &KDLUPDQ� 	� 3UHVLGHQW¶V� SUHVHQWDWLRQ�� WKH� &KDLUPDQ� RI� WKH� PHHWLQJ�
RSHQHG�WKH�IORRU�WR�JLYH�WKH�VWRFNKROGHUV�WKH�RSSRUWXQLW\�WR�DVN�TXHVWLRQV�RU�JLYH�FRPPHQWV�
UHJDUGLQJ� WKH� 3UHVLGHQW¶V� 5HSRUW�� WKH� )LQDQFLDO� 6WDWHPHQWV� RI� WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQ�� RU� UHODWHG�
PDWWHUV����

�
$WW\�� 9LQD� 0DULH� 6�� 9LOODUUR\D�� SUR[\� KROGHU�� LQTXLUHG� RQ� WKH� ZLWKGUDZDO� RI� WKH�

&RUSRUDWLRQ�IURP�LWV�MRLQW�YHQWXUH�ZLWK�0LWVXELVKL�$XWRPRWLYH�)LQDQFH�6HUYLFHV��,QF��0U��/DSLG�
UHSOLHG�WKDW�WKH� MRLQW�YHQWXUH�ZDV�QRW�JHQHUDWLQJ�VXIILFLHQW�VFDOH�DV�ZDV�H[SHFWHG�ZKHQ�WKH�
DJUHHPHQW� ZDV� VLJQHG�� � 7KXV�� %'2/)� PDGH� WKH� GHFLVLRQ� WR� H[LW� WKH� MRLQW� YHQWXUH�� � 7KH�
&RUSRUDWLRQ�ZRXOG�LQVWHDG�IRFXV�RQ�LWV�FRUH�EXVLQHVV�RI�HTXLSPHQW�OHDVLQJ�DQG�ILQDQFH��

�
$QRWKHU�SUR[\�KROGHU��$WW\��%HWWLQD�5D\RV�GHO�6RO��LQTXLUHG�RQ�ZKDW�VSHFLILF�VWUDWHJLHV�

RU�PHDVXUHV�ZHUH� EHLQJ�GRQH� E\�0DQDJHPHQW� WR� LPSURYH� %'2/)¶V�SURILWDELOLW\�� �0U�� /DSLG�
H[SODLQHG�WKDW�0DQDJHPHQW�ZDV�WU\LQJ�WR�PDQDJH�WKH�FRPELQHG�LPSDFW�RI�ULVLQJ�IXQGLQJ�FRVWV�
DQG�DGGLWLRQDO�WD[HV�RQ�FRPPHUFLDO�SDSHU�LVVXDQFHV��ZKLFK�DGYHUVHO\�DIIHFWHG�WKH�PDUJLQV�RI�
%'2/)�� �7KH�&RUSRUDWLRQ¶V� ORDQ� WUDQVDFWLRQV�FDUULHG� IL[HG� LQWHUHVW� UDWHV� IRU����� \HDUV�ZKLOH�
IXQGLQJ� VRXUFHV� ZHUH� PRVWO\� VKRUW�WHUP� LQ� QDWXUH�� :LWK� ULVLQJ� LQWHUHVW� UDWHV� LQ������ WKH�
&RUSRUDWLRQ¶V�IXQGLQJ�FRVW�LQFUHDVHG�DW�D�PXFK�IDVWHU�SDFH�WKDQ�LWV�HDUQLQJ�DVVHWV��UHVXOWLQJ�LQ�
WKH� FRPSUHVVLRQ� RI� PDUJLQV�� 0U�� /DSLG� DGGHG� WKDW� %'2/)� ZDV� WU\LQJ� WR� JURZ� LWV� EXVLQHVV�
YROXPHV�DW�D� IDVWHU�SDFH� WR�EH�DEOH� WR�ERRN�HDUQLQJ�DVVHWV�DW� WRGD\
V�KLJKHU� LQWHUHVW� UDWHV��
DQG�ZDV�DOVR�DSSO\LQJ�KLJKHU�LQWHUHVW�UDWHV�RQ�UHSULFLQJ�PDWXULQJ�WUDQVDFWLRQV��

�
$WW\�� 1LFROH� 9�� .DOLQJNLQJ�� SUR[\� KROGHU�� LQTXLUHG� LI� WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQ� ZRXOG� PRYH�

DJJUHVVLYHO\�WR�JHW�D�VKDUH�RI�WKH�JRYHUQPHQW¶V�MHHSQH\�PRGHUQL]DWLRQ�SURJUDP�ZKLFK�ZRXOG�
RSHQ�RSSRUWXQLWLHV� WR�EDQNV�DQG� ILQDQFH�FRPSDQLHV�� �0U��/DSLG�UHSOLHG� WKDW� WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ�
ZDV�WKH�ILUVW� OHDVLQJ�DQG�ILQDQFH�FRPSDQ\�WR�KDYH�JUDQWHG�DQ�DSSURYDO�WR�D�SULYDWH�ILUP�IRU�
WKLV� SXUSRVH�� � ,Q� D� PHHWLQJ� ZLWK� WKH� 'HSDUWPHQW� RI� 7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ� �'27U�� DQG� WKH� /DQG�
7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ� )UDQFKLVLQJ� DQG� 5HJXODWRU\� %RDUG� �/7)5%�� LQ� -DQXDU\� ������ WRJHWKHU� ZLWK�
VHYHUDO�RWKHU�ILQDQFLDO�LQVWLWXWLRQV��0DQDJHPHQW�SRLQWHG�RXW�VHYHUDO�FRQFHUQV�DQG�LVVXHV�ZLWK�
HPSKDVLV�RQ�/7)5%
V�LVVXDQFH�RI�D�SURYLVLRQDO�DXWKRULW\�RU�WHPSRUDU\�IUDQFKLVH�ZKLFK�ZRXOG�
EH�D�SUHOXGH�WR�WKH�JUDQWLQJ�RI�D�UHJXODU�IUDQFKLVH���)XUWKHUPRUH��WKH�'27U� LV�VWLOO� ILQDOL]LQJ�
WKH� �URXWH� UDWLRQDOL]DWLRQ�� ZKLFK� LV� YLWDO� LQ� WKH� LVVXDQFH� RI� /7)5%� IUDQFKLVH� WR� MHHSQH\�
FRRSHUDWLYHV� DQG� FRUSRUDWLRQV�� � 8QOHVV� WKHVH� DUH� DGGUHVVHG� E\� WKH� JRYHUQPHQW�� %'2/)�
FDQQRW�DJJUHVVLYHO\�XQGHUZULWH�ORDQ�DSSOLFDWLRQV��

�
�



�����

$IWHU�WKH�GLVFXVVLRQV�ZHUH�FRQFOXGHG��WKHUH�EHLQJ�QR�RWKHU�TXHVWLRQV�IURP�WKH�IORRU��
0U��(UZLQ�'��,ORVR��SUR[\�KROGHU��PRYHG�IRU� WKH�QRWDWLRQ�DQG�DSSURYDO�RI� WKH�5HSRUW�RQ�WKH�
5HVXOWV�RI�WKH�2SHUDWLRQV�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ�IRU�WKH�\HDU�HQGHG�'HFHPEHU�����������DQG�WKH�
$XGLWHG�)LQDQFLDO�6WDWHPHQWV�IRU�WKH�VDPH�SHULRG���

�
0U��'DZQ�&��&UX]��SUR[\�KROGHU��VHFRQGHG�WKH�PRWLRQ���7KHUH�EHLQJ�QR�REMHFWLRQ��WKH�

6WRFNKROGHUV�DGRSWHG�WKH�IROORZLQJ�UHVROXWLRQ��
�

6WRFNKROGHUV¶�5HVROXWLRQ�1R����������
�

5(62/9('��7KDW�WKH�6WRFNKROGHUV�GR�KHUHE\�QRWH�DQG�DSSURYH�
WKH�5HSRUW�RQ�WKH�5HVXOWV�RI�WKH�2SHUDWLRQV�RI�%'2�/HDVLQJ�DQG�)LQDQFH��
,QF�� �%'2/)�� IRU� WKH� \HDU� HQGHG�'HFHPEHU� ���� ������ DQG� WKH�$XGLWHG�
)LQDQFLDO�6WDWHPHQWV�DV�RI�'HFHPEHU�����������

�
7KH�&KDLUPDQ�RI� WKH�PHHWLQJ� GLUHFWHG� WKH�&RUSRUDWH� 6HFUHWDU\� WR�KDYH� WKH�PLQXWHV�

UHIOHFW�WKH�WDEXODWLRQ�RI�DOO�YRWHV�FDVW�� LQFOXGLQJ�SUR[LHV�WKDW�KDYH�FDVW�WKHLU�YRWH� LQ�IDYRU�RI�
WKH�DSSURYDO�RI� WKH�5HSRUW�RQ� WKH�5HVXOWV�RI�2SHUDWLRQV�RI�%'2/)� IRU� WKH� ILVFDO� \HDU�HQGHG�
'HFHPEHU�����������DQG�WKH�$XGLWHG�)LQDQFLDO�6WDWHPHQWV� IRU� WKH�VDPH�SHULRG�� WR�QRWH� WKH�
VWRFNKROGHUV�WKDW�KDYH�FKRVHQ�WR�DEVWDLQ�RQ�YRWLQJ�IRU��RU�KDYH�YRWHG�DJDLQVW��WKH�DSSURYDO�RI�
WKH�DIRUHVDLG�5HSRUWV�DQG�WKH�$XGLWHG�)LQDQFLDO�6WDWHPHQWV��
�

%DVHG� RQ� 3	$¶V� WDEXODWLRQ�� WKH� IROORZLQJ� ZHUH� WKH� UHVXOWV� RI� WKH� YRWLQJ� E\� SROO��
VKRZLQJ�WKH�QXPEHU�RI�YRWHV�FDVW�DQG�UHFHLYHG�RQ�WKH�DSSURYDO�RI�WKH�5HSRUW�RQ�WKH�5HVXOWV�
RI� 2SHUDWLRQV� RI� %'2/)� IRU� WKH� ILVFDO� \HDU� HQGHG� 'HFHPEHU� ���� ������ DQG� WKH� $XGLWHG�
)LQDQFLDO�6WDWHPHQWV�IRU�WKH�VDPH�SHULRG��
�
7RWDO�2XWVWDQGLQJ�

6KDUHV�
7RWDO�9RWHV�

&DVW�
�

9RWHV�LQ�IDYRU�
�

9RWHV�DJDLQVW�
�

$EVWHQWLRQV�
�������������� �������������� ��������������

�������
�� ��

�
$FFRUGLQJO\�� VKDUHKROGHUV� RZQLQJ� ��������������YRWLQJ� VKDUHV�RU� �����RI� WKH� WRWDO�

QXPEHU� RI� YRWLQJ� VKDUHV� UHSUHVHQWHG� DW� WKH� PHHWLQJ�� QRWHG� DQG� DSSURYHG� WKH� 3UHVLGHQW¶V�
5HSRUWV� DQG� WKH�$XGLWHG�)LQDQFLDO� 6WDWHPHQWV� RI� WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQ� IRU� WKH� ILVFDO� \HDU� HQGLQJ�
'HFHPEHU�����������QR�VKDUHKROGHU�YRWHG�DJDLQVW�RU�DEVWDLQHG�LQ�WKH�DSSURYDO��

�
�
9,�� $SSURYDO� DQG� 5DWLILFDWLRQ� RI� $OO� $FWV� DQG� 3URFHHGLQJV� RI� WKH� %RDUG� RI�

'LUHFWRUV�� WKH�%RDUG�&RPPLWWHHV�DQG�0DQDJHPHQW�GXULQJ�WKHLU�5HVSHFWLYH�
7HUPV�RI�2IILFH���

�
7KH� QH[W� LWHP� LQ� WKH� DJHQGD� ZDV� WKH� DSSURYDO� DQG� UDWLILFDWLRQ� RI� DOO� DFWV� DQG�

SURFHHGLQJV� RI� WKH� %RDUG� RI� 'LUHFWRUV�� WKH� %RDUG� &RPPLWWHHV� DQG� 0DQDJHPHQW�� LQFOXGLQJ�
VLJQLILFDQW� UHODWHG� SDUW\� WUDQVDFWLRQV�� IRU� WKH� \HDU� ����� XQWLO� WKH� GDWH� RI� WKH� ����� $QQXDO�
6WRFNKROGHUV¶�0HHWLQJ���

�
0U�� $UOR� &�� $WHQWDU�� SUR[\� KROGHU�� PRYHG� WKDW� DOO� WKH� DFWV�� LQFOXGLQJ� DSSURYDOV� RI�

VLJQLILFDQW�UHODWHG�SDUWLHV¶�WUDQVDFWLRQV��SURFHHGLQJV�RI�WKH�%RDUG�RI�'LUHFWRUV��WKH�DFWV�RI�WKH�
GXO\�FRQVWLWXWHG�FRPPLWWHHV��WKH�DFWV�RI�WKH�0DQDJHPHQW��DQG�WKH�DFWV�RI�WKH�RIILFHUV�RI�WKH�
&RUSRUDWLRQ�� XS� WR� WKH� GDWH� RI� WKH� ����� $QQXDO� 6WRFNKROGHUV¶� 0HHWLQJ� EH�� LQ� DOO� UHVSHFWV��
FRQILUPHG��UDWLILHG�DQG�DSSURYHG���

�
7KHUHDIWHU��0V��0HODQLH�$QQ� &�� &XHYDV�� SUR[\� KROGHU�� VHFRQGHG� WKH�PRWLRQ�� � 7KHUH�

EHLQJ�QR�IXUWKHU�TXHVWLRQV�RU�REMHFWLRQ��WKH�6WRFNKROGHUV�DGRSWHG�WKH�IROORZLQJ�UHVROXWLRQ��
�

6WRFNKROGHUV¶�5HVROXWLRQ�1R����������
�

5(62/9('��7KDW� DOO� WKH� DFWV�� LQFOXGLQJ�DSSURYDOV� RI� VLJQLILFDQW�
UHODWHG�SDUWLHV¶� WUDQVDFWLRQV��DQG�SURFHHGLQJV�RI� WKH�%RDUG�RI�'LUHFWRUV��
WKH�DFWV�RI�WKH�GXO\�FRQVWLWXWHG�FRPPLWWHHV��WKH�DFWV�RI�WKH�0DQDJHPHQW�



�����

DQG�WKH�RIILFHUV�RI�%'2�/HDVLQJ�DQG�)LQDQFH��,QF���WKH�³&RUSRUDWLRQ´��LQ�
FDUU\LQJ� RXW� DQG�SURPRWLQJ� WKH� SXUSRVHV�� REMHFWV�� DQG� LQWHUHVWV� RI� WKH�
&RUSRUDWLRQ�� XS� WR� WKH� GDWH� RI� WKH� $QQXDO� 6WRFNKROGHUV¶�0HHWLQJ� �$SULO�
���� ������� DUH� FRQILUPHG�� UDWLILHG� DQG� DSSURYHG� DQG� KHUHE\�PDGH� WKH�
DFWV�DQG�GHHGV�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ��

�
7KH�&KDLUPDQ�RI� WKH�PHHWLQJ� GLUHFWHG� WKH�&RUSRUDWH� 6HFUHWDU\� WR�KDYH� WKH�PLQXWHV�

UHIOHFW�WKH�WDEXODWLRQ�RI�DOO�YRWHV�FDVW��LQFOXGLQJ�SUR[LHV�WKDW�KDYH�FDVW�WKHLU�YRWHV�LQ�IDYRU�RI�
WKH�UDWLILFDWLRQ�DQG�FRQILUPDWLRQ�RI�DOO�WKH�DFWV�DQG�SURFHHGLQJV�RI�WKH�%RDUG�RI�'LUHFWRUV��LWV�
GXO\� FRQVWLWXWHG� FRPPLWWHHV�� WKH� DFWV� RI� 0DQDJHPHQW� DQG� RIILFHUV� RI� %'2/)�� LQFOXGLQJ�
DSSURYDOV� RI� VLJQLILFDQW� UHODWHG� SDUWLHV¶� WUDQVDFWLRQV�� XS� WR� WKH� GDWH� RI� WKH� $QQXDO�
6WRFNKROGHUV¶�0HHWLQJ��DQG�WR�QRWH�WKH�SUR[LHV�WKDW�KDYH�FKRVHQ�WR�DEVWDLQ�RQ�YRWLQJ�IRU��RU�
KDYH� YRWHG�DJDLQVW�� WKH� UDWLILFDWLRQ� DQG� FRQILUPDWLRQ�RI� DOO� WKH�DFWV� DQG�SURFHHGLQJV�RI� WKH�
%RDUG�RI�'LUHFWRUV�� LWV�GXO\�FRQVWLWXWHG�FRPPLWWHHV�� WKH�DFWV�RI�0DQDJHPHQW�DQG�RIILFHUV�RI�
%'2/)�� LQFOXGLQJ� DSSURYDOV� RI� VLJQLILFDQW� UHODWHG� SDUW\� WUDQVDFWLRQV�� XS� WR� WKH� GDWH� RI� WKH�
$QQXDO�6WRFNKROGHUV¶�0HHWLQJ��$SULO������������
�

%DVHG� RQ� 3	$¶V� WDEXODWLRQ�� WKH� IROORZLQJ� ZHUH� WKH� UHVXOWV� RI� WKH� YRWLQJ� E\� SROO��
VKRZLQJ�WKH�QXPEHU�RI�YRWHV�FDVW�DQG�UHFHLYHG�RQ�WKH�UDWLILFDWLRQ�DQG�FRQILUPDWLRQ�RI�DOO�WKH�
DFWV�� LQFOXGLQJ� DSSURYDOV� RI� VLJQLILFDQW� UHODWHG� SDUWLHV¶� WUDQVDFWLRQV�� DQG� SURFHHGLQJV� RI� WKH�
%RDUG�RI�'LUHFWRUV�� LWV�GXO\�FRQVWLWXWHG�FRPPLWWHHV�� WKH�DFWV�RI�0DQDJHPHQW�DQG�RIILFHUV�RI�
%'2/)�XS�WR�WKH�GDWH�RI�WKH�$QQXDO�6WRFNKROGHUV¶�0HHWLQJ��

�
7RWDO�2XWVWDQGLQJ�

6KDUHV�
7RWDO�9RWHV�

&DVW�
�

9RWHV�LQ�IDYRU�
�

9RWHV�DJDLQVW�
�

$EVWHQWLRQV�
�������������� �������������� ��������������

�������
�� ��

�
$FFRUGLQJO\�� VKDUHKROGHUV� RZQLQJ� ��������������YRWLQJ� VKDUHV�RU� �����RI� WKH� WRWDO�

QXPEHU�RI�YRWLQJ�VKDUHV�UHSUHVHQWHG�DW�WKH�PHHWLQJ��DSSURYHG�DQG�UDWLILHG�DOO�WKH�DFWV�RI�WKH�
%RDUG�RI�'LUHFWRUV��LWV�GXO\�FRQVWLWXWHG�FRPPLWWHHV��DQG�0DQDJHPHQW�� LQFOXGLQJ�DSSURYDOV�RI�
VLJQLILFDQW� UHODWHG�SDUW\� WUDQVDFWLRQV��GXULQJ� WKHLU� UHVSHFWLYH� WHUPV�RI�RIILFH��QR� VKDUHKROGHU�
YRWHG�DJDLQVW�RU�DEVWDLQHG�LQ�WKH�DSSURYDO��

�
�
9,,�� (OHFWLRQ�RI�WKH�%RDUG�RI�'LUHFWRUV�
�

7KH�&KDLUPDQ�RI�WKH�PHHWLQJ�WKHQ�DQQRXQFHG�WKDW�WKH�QH[W�LWHP�RQ�WKH�DJHQGD�ZDV�
WKH�HOHFWLRQ�RI�WKH�UHJXODU�DQG�LQGHSHQGHQW�PHPEHUV�RI�WKH�%RDUG�RI�'LUHFWRUV�IRU�WKH�HQVXLQJ�
\HDU� DQG� XQWLO� WKH� QH[W� VXFFHHGLQJ� DQQXDO� VWRFNKROGHUV� PHHWLQJ� RI� WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQ�� 7KH�
&KDLUPDQ�RI� WKH�PHHWLQJ�DOVR� LQIRUPHG�DOO� WKH�VWRFNKROGHUV� LQ�DWWHQGDQFH�RI� WKH�PDQGDWRU\�
UHTXLUHPHQW�RI�HOHFWLQJ�LQGHSHQGHQW�GLUHFWRUV��
�
� $WW\�� -HVVH� +�� 7�� $QGUHV�� ,QGHSHQGHQW� 'LUHFWRU� DQG� &KDLUPDQ� RI� WKH� 1RPLQDWLRQV�
&RPPLWWHH��WKH�³&RPPLWWHH´��RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ��LQIRUPHG�WKH�VWRFNKROGHUV�WKDW�WKH�IROORZLQJ�
QRPLQDWLRQV� KDYH� EHHQ� UHFHLYHG� DQG�SDVVHG�XSRQ� E\� WKH� &RPPLWWHH� GXULQJ� WKH� SUHVFULEHG�
QRPLQDWLRQ� SHULRG� IURP� )HEUXDU\� ���� ����� WR� )HEUXDU\� ���� ������ DQG� WKDW� WKH� &RPPLWWHH�
IRXQG�WKH�IROORZLQJ�QRPLQHHV�WR�SRVVHVV�DOO�WKH�TXDOLILFDWLRQV�DQG�QRQH�RI�WKH�GLVTXDOLILFDWLRQV�
IRU�HOHFWLRQ�DV�UHJXODU�DQG�LQGHSHQGHQW�GLUHFWRUV��UHVSHFWLYHO\��RI�%'2/)��
�

1RPLQHHV�IRU�5HJXODU�'LUHFWRUV�
�
��� $QWRQLR�1��&RWRFR� � � � �
��� 5REHUWR�(��/DSLG�
��� -HFL�$��/DSXV� � � � �
��� /XLV�6��5H\HV��-U��
��� 7HUHVLWD�7��6\�
��� 1HVWRU�9��7DQ�
��� ([HTXLHO�3��9LOODFRUWD��-U��
��� :DOWHU�&��:DVVPHU�� �
�



�����

1RPLQHHV�IRU�,QGHSHQGHQW�'LUHFWRUV��
�
��� -HVVH�+��7��$QGUHV�
�����0D��/HRQRUD�9��'H�-HVXV� � � �
����9LFHQWH�6��3pUH]��-U��

�
� %'2� 8QLEDQN� QRPLQDWHG� WKH� UHJXODU� GLUHFWRUV�� ZKLOH� 0V�� 0DQQHWWH� '�� 9LFHQWH�� D�
VWRFNKROGHU�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ��QRPLQDWHG�WKH�WKUHH�����,QGHSHQGHQW�'LUHFWRUV��
�
� 0V��-R\FH�5��/DFVLQWR��SUR[\�KROGHU��PDQLIHVWHG�WKDW�VLQFH�WKH�QRPLQDWLRQ�SHULRG�KDG�
H[SLUHG� DQG� FORVHG�� DQG� WKHUH�ZHUH� HOHYHQ� ����� QRPLQHHV� IRU� WKH� HOHYHQ� ����� VHDWV� LQ� WKH�
&RUSRUDWLRQ¶V�%RDUG�RI�'LUHFWRUV��KH�PRYHG�WKDW�WKH�&RUSRUDWH�6HFUHWDU\�EH�GLUHFWHG�WR�FDVW�DOO�
XQTXDOLILHG�YRWHV� LQ� IDYRU�RI� WKH�IRUHJRLQJ� LQGLYLGXDOV�UHVSHFWLYHO\�QRPLQDWHG�DV�UHJXODU�DQG�
LQGHSHQGHQW�GLUHFWRUV���
�
� 0U��*HUDUG�/��6RQJFR��SUR[\�KROGHU��VHFRQGHG�WKH�PRWLRQ���7KHUHDIWHU��WKHUH�EHLQJ�QR�
IXUWKHU�TXHVWLRQ�RU�REMHFWLRQ��WKH�6WRFNKROGHUV�DGRSWHG�WKH�IROORZLQJ�UHVROXWLRQ��

�
6WRFNKROGHUV¶�5HVROXWLRQ�1R����������

�
5(62/9('�� 7KDW� WKH� IROORZLQJ� EH�� DV� WKH\� DUH� KHUHE\� HOHFWHG�

GLUHFWRUV�RI�%'2�/HDVLQJ�DQG�)LQDQFH��,QF��IRU�D�SHULRG�RI�RQH�����\HDU��
DQG�WR�DFW�DV�VXFK�XQWLO�WKHLU�VXFFHVVRUV�DUH�GXO\�HOHFWHG�DQG�TXDOLILHG��

�
5HJXODU�'LUHFWRUV��
��� $QWRQLR�1��&RWRFR� � � � �
��� 5REHUWR�(��/DSLG�� � � �
��� -HFL�$��/DSXV�
��� /XLV�6��5H\HV��-U��
��� 7HUHVLWD�7��6\�
��� 1HVWRU�9��7DQ�
��� ([HTXLHO�3��9LOODFRUWD��-U��
��� :DOWHU�&��:DVVPHU� � �
�
,QGHSHQGHQW�'LUHFWRUV��
��� -HVVH�+��7��$QGUHV�
���� 0D��/HRQRUD�9��'H�-HVXV�
���� 9LFHQWH�6��3pUH]��-U��

�
7KH�&KDLUPDQ�RI�WKH�PHHWLQJ�FRQJUDWXODWHG�DOO�WKH�HOHFWHG�'LUHFWRUV�DQG�GLUHFWHG�WKH�

&RUSRUDWH�6HFUHWDU\�WKDW�WKH�PLQXWHV�UHIOHFW�D�WDEXODWLRQ�RI�DOO�YRWHV�FDVW��LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�YRWHV�
RI�WKH�VWRFNKROGHUV�ZKR�KDYH�FKRVHQ�WR�YRWH�IRU��RU�DEVWDLQ�RQ�YRWLQJ�IRU��RU�KDYH�FKRVHQ�WR�
YRWH�DJDLQVW��WKH�DERYH�QDPHG�QRPLQHHV�DV�UHJXODU�DQG�LQGHSHQGHQW�GLUHFWRUV��UHVSHFWLYHO\��
RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ����

�
%DVHG�RQ�WKH�WDOO\�PDGH�E\�3	$��WKH�IROORZLQJ�ZHUH�WKH�UHVXOWV�RI�WKH�YRWLQJ�E\�SROO��

VKRZLQJ�WKH�QXPEHU�RI�WKH�YRWHV�FDVW�DQG�UHFHLYHG�E\�WKH�QRPLQHHV��
�
�
1RPLQHHV�

7RWDO�2XWVWDQGLQJ�
6KDUHV�

9RWHV�LQ�
IDYRU�

9RWHG�
DJDLQVW�

�
$EVWHQWLRQV�

7HUHVLWD�7��6\� �������������� �������������� �� ��
5REHUWR�(��/DSLG� �������������� �������������� �� ��
-HVVH�+��7��$QGUHV� �������������� �������������� �� ��
$QWRQLR�1��&RWRFR� �������������� �������������� �� ��
0D��/HRQRUD�9��'H�-HVXV� �������������� �������������� �� ��
-HFL�$��/DSXV� �������������� �������������� �� ��
9LFHQWH�6��3pUH]��-U�� �������������� �������������� �� ��
/XLV�6��5H\HV��-U�� �������������� �������������� �� ��
1HVWRU�9��7DQ� �������������� �������������� �� ��
([HTXLHO�3��9LOODFRUWD��-U�� �������������� �������������� �� ��
:DOWHU�&��:DVVPHU� �������������� �������������� �� ��
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9,,,�� $SSRLQWPHQW�RI�([WHUQDO�$XGLWRU�
�

7KH�QH[W�LWHP�LQ�WKH�DJHQGD�ZDV�WKH�DSSRLQWPHQW�RI�WKH�H[WHUQDO�DXGLWRU�RI�%'2/)�IRU�
WKH�\HDU����������

�
7KH� &KDLUPDQ� RI� WKH� PHHWLQJ� LQIRUPHG� WKH� VWRFNKROGHUV� WKDW� WKH� %RDUG� $XGLW�

&RPPLWWHH�RI�%'2/)�KDG�UHFRPPHQGHG�WKH�UH�DSSRLQWPHQW�RI�WKH�$FFRXQWDQF\�DQG�$XGLWLQJ�
)LUP�RI�3XQRQJED\DQ�	�$UDXOOR��*UDQW�7KRUQWRQ��3	$��DV�H[WHUQDO�DXGLWRU�RI�%'2/)�IRU� WKH�
\HDU���������

�
0V��-XOLHQHO�(��7HRGRUR��SUR[\�KROGHU��PRYHG�WKDW�WKH�$FFRXQWDQF\�DQG�$XGLWLQJ�)LUP�

RI�3XQRQJED\DQ�DQG�$UDXOOR��*UDQW�7KRUQWRQ��3	$��EH�DSSRLQWHG�DV� WKH�H[WHUQDO�DXGLWRU�RI�
%'2/)� IRU� WKH� \HDU� ������ DQG� WKDW� WKH� %RDUG� RI�'LUHFWRUV� EH� DXWKRUL]HG� WR� GHWHUPLQH� WKH�
WHUPV�RI�VDLG�H[WHUQDO�DXGLWRU¶V�SURIHVVLRQDO�HQJDJHPHQW��
�
� $WW\�� 9LQD�0DULH� 6�� 9LOODUUR\D�� SUR[\� KROGHU�� VHFRQGHG� WKH�PRWLRQ�� � 7KHUH� EHLQJ� QR�
REMHFWLRQ��WKH�6WRFNKROGHUV�DGRSWHG�WKH�IROORZLQJ�UHVROXWLRQ��

�
6WRFNKROGHUV¶�5HVROXWLRQ�1R����������

�
� 5(62/9('�� 7KDW� WKH� $FFRXQWDQF\� DQG� $XGLWLQJ� )LUP� RI�
3XQRQJED\DQ� 	� $UDXOOR�� *UDQW� 7KRUQWRQ� �3	$��� EH�� DV� LW� LV� KHUHE\�
DSSRLQWHG�DV�WKH�H[WHUQDO�DXGLWRU�RI�%'2/)�IRU�������
�
� 5(62/9('�)857+(5��7KDW�WKH�%RDUG�RI�'LUHFWRUV�RI�%'2/)�RU�
VXFK� SHUVRQ� RU� SHUVRQV� GXO\� DXWKRUL]HG� E\� WKH� %RDUG�� EH�� DV� LW�KH� LV�
KHUHE\�DXWKRUL]HG�WR�GHWHUPLQH�WKH�WHUPV�RI�HQJDJHPHQW�RI�WKH�H[WHUQDO�
DXGLWRU��WR�VLJQ��H[HFXWH�DQG�GHOLYHU�WKH�DJUHHPHQW�DQG�RWKHU�GRFXPHQWV�
SHUWDLQLQJ� WR� VXFK� HQJDJHPHQW�� DQG� JHQHUDOO\�� WR� SHUIRUP� DOO� DFWV�
QHFHVVDU\� RU� DSSURSULDWH� WR� FDUU\� RXW� WKH� IRUHJRLQJ� UHVROXWLRQ� DQG� WKH�
LQWHQW�KHUHRI��

�
7KH� &KDLUPDQ� RI� WKH� PHHWLQJ� WKHQ� GLUHFWHG� WKH� &RUSRUDWH� 6HFUHWDU\� WR� KDYH� WKH�

PLQXWHV� UHIOHFW� WKH� WDEXODWLRQ� RI� YRWHV� FDVW�� LQFOXGLQJ� SUR[LHV� WKDW� KDYH� FDVW� WKHLU� YRWHV� LQ�
IDYRU�RI�WKH�DSSRLQWPHQW�RI�3XQRQJED\DQ�	�$UDXOOR��*UDQW�7KRUQWRQ��3	$��DV�H[WHUQDO�DXGLWRU�
RI� %'2/)� IRU� WKH� \HDU� ������ DQG� WR� QRWH� WKH� VWRFNKROGHUV� WKDW� KDYH� FKRVHQ� WR� DEVWDLQ� RQ�
YRWLQJ�IRU��RU�KDYH�YRWHG�DJDLQVW��WKH�DSSRLQWPHQW�RI�3XQRQJED\DQ�	�$UDXOOR��&3$��3	$���DV�
H[WHUQDO�DXGLWRU�RI�%'2/)�IRU�WKH�\HDU�������
�

%DVHG� RQ� 3	$¶V� WDEXODWLRQ�� WKH� IROORZLQJ� ZHUH� WKH� UHVXOWV� RI� WKH� YRWLQJ� E\� SROO��
VKRZLQJ� WKH� QXPEHU� RI� YRWHV� FDVW� DQG� UHFHLYHG� RQ� WKH� DSSRLQWPHQW� RI� 3XQRQJED\DQ� 	�
$UDXOOR��&3$��3	$���DV�H[WHUQDO�DXGLWRU�RI�%'2/)�IRU�WKH�\HDU�������

�
7RWDO�2XWVWDQGLQJ�

6KDUHV�
7RWDO�9RWHV�

&DVW�
�

9RWHV�LQ�IDYRU�
�

9RWHV�DJDLQVW�
�

$EVWHQWLRQV�
�������������� �������������� ��������������

�������
�� ��

�
$FFRUGLQJO\�� VKDUHKROGHUV� RZQLQJ� ��������������YRWLQJ� VKDUHV�RU� �����RI� WKH� WRWDO�

QXPEHU� RI� YRWLQJ� VKDUHV� UHSUHVHQWHG� DW� WKH� PHHWLQJ�� DSSURYHG� WKH� DSSRLQWPHQW� RI�
3XQRQJED\DQ�	�$UDXOOR��*UDQW�7KRUQWRQ��3	$��DV�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ¶V�H[WHUQDO�DXGLWRU�IRU�������
QR�VKDUHKROGHU�YRWHG�DJDLQVW�WKH�DSSURYDO��
�
�
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,;�� $GMRXUQPHQW�
�

7KHUH�EHLQJ�QR�IXUWKHU�EXVLQHVV�WR�WUDQVDFW��0U��$UOR�&��$WHQWDU��SUR[\�KROGHU��PRYHG�
WR�DGMRXUQ�WKH�PHHWLQJ��
�
� 0V��0HODQLH�$QQ�&��&XHYDV��SUR[\�KROGHU��VHFRQGHG�WKH�PRWLRQ��
�

7KHUH�KDYLQJ�EHHQ�QR�REMHFWLRQ�WR�WKH�PRWLRQ��WKH�PHHWLQJ�ZDV�WKHUHXSRQ�DGMRXUQHG�
DW�������LQ�WKH�PRUQLQJ��

�
� � � � &(57,),('�&255(&7��

� �
� �
�
� � � � � � � -26(3+�-$621�0��1$7,9,'$'�
� � � � � � � &25325$7(�6(&5(7$5<�
�
$77(67('��
�
�
�
7(5(6,7$�7��6<�
&+$,53(5621�



�

0,187(6�2)�7+(��
63(&,$/�0((7,1*�2)�7+(�72&.+2/'(56�2)�

�
%'2�/($6,1*�$1'�),1$1&(��,1&��

�
+HOG�RQ�7XHVGD\�����-XO\������DW�������DP�

�YLD�5HPRWH�&RPPXQLFDWLRQ��
�
�

�
180%(5�2)�6+$5(6�+(/'�%<�6+$5(+2/'(56��
�
1XPEHU�RI�7RWDO�2XWVWDQGLQJ�6KDUHV�� �� ��������������
�
7RWDO�QXPEHU�RI�VKDUHV�UHSUHVHQWHG�LQ�
3HUVRQ��%\�3UR[\��DQG�3DUWLFLSDQW�%URNHUV� �� ��������������
�
$WWHQGDQFH�3HUFHQWDJH� � � �� �������
�
�
',5(&7256�35(6(17���
�
7(5(6,7$�7��6<� � � � &KDLUSHUVRQ�RI�WKH�%RDUG�
52%(572�(��/$3,'�� 9LFH�&KDLUPDQ�DQG�3UHVLGHQW�
-(66(�+(502*(1(6�7��$1'5(6� ,QGHSHQGHQW�'LUHFWRU�
$1721,2�1��&272&2� 'LUHFWRU�
0$��/(2125$�9��'(�-(686� /HDG�,QGHSHQGHQW�'LUHFWRU�
-(&,�$��/$386� 1RQ�H[HFXWLYH�'LUHFWRU�
9,&(17(�6��3e5(=��-5�� ,QGHSHQGHQW�'LUHFWRU��
1(6725�9��7$1�
/8,6�6��5(<(6��-5��
(;(48,(/�3��9,//$&257$��-5��
:$/7(5�&��:$660(5�

'LUHFWRU�
'LUHFWRU�DQG�7UHDVXUHU�
1RQ�H[HFXWLYH�'LUHFWRU�
'LUHFWRU�
�

�
$/62�35(6(17���
�
-26(3+�-$621�0��1$7,9,'$'� &RUSRUDWH�6HFUHWDU\�
0$��&(&,/,$�6��6$1726� $VVLVWDQW�&RUSRUDWH�6HFUHWDU\�
$1*(/,7$�&��7$'�<� &KLHI�5LVN�DQG�&RPSOLDQFH�2IILFHU�
(/0(5�%��6(55$12�� &RUSRUDWH�,QIRUPDWLRQ�2IILFHU�
�
�
,�� &DOO�WR�2UGHU�

�
7KH�PHHWLQJ�RSHQHG�ZLWK�DQ�LQYRFDWLRQ�IROORZHG�E\�WKH�3KLOLSSLQH�1DWLRQDO�$QWKHP��7KH�

KRVW� WKHQ�DFNQRZOHGJHG� WKH�SUHVHQFH�RI� DOO� GLUHFWRUV� DQG�NH\�RIILFHUV� RI�%'2�/HDVLQJ�DQG�
)LQDQFH�� ,QF�� �WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ��� ZLWK� FHUWDLQ� GLUHFWRUV� DQG� RIILFHUV� DWWHQGLQJ� WKH�PHHWLQJ�
IURP�WKH�%'2�&RUSRUDWH�&HQWHU�LQ�0DNDWL�&LW\�DQG�VRPH�GLUHFWRUV�MRLQLQJ�UHPRWHO\���

�
0V�� 7HUHVLWD� 7�� 6\�� &KDLUSHUVRQ� RI� WKH� %RDUG�� ZHOFRPHG� VWRFNKROGHUV� WR� WKH� 6SHFLDO�

6WRFNKROGHUV¶� 0HHWLQJ� RI� WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQ�� VWUHDPLQJ� OLYH� YLD�:HEH[� (YHQWV�� 7KH� &KDLUSHUVRQ�
WKHQ�FDOOHG�WKH�PHHWLQJ�WR�RUGHU�DQG�UHTXHVWHG�0U��1HVWRU�9��7DQ��'LUHFWRU��WR�SUHVLGH�RYHU�WKH�
SURFHHGLQJV���

�
$WW\��-RVHSK�-DVRQ�0��1DWLYLGDG��&RUSRUDWH�6HFUHWDU\��UHFRUGHG�WKH�PLQXWHV�RI�PHHWLQJ���

�



�

� �

,,�� &HUWLILFDWLRQ�RI�1RWLFH�DQG�4XRUXP�
�
%HIRUH� SURFHHGLQJ� ZLWK� WKH� PHHWLQJ�� 0U�� 7DQ� UHTXHVWHG� WKH� &RUSRUDWH� 6HFUHWDU\� WR�

FHUWLI\�WR�WKH�SRVWLQJ�DQG�SXEOLFDWLRQ�DQG�H[LVWHQFH�RI�D�TXRUXP��
�
7KH� &RUSRUDWH� 6HFUHWDU\� FHUWLILHG� WKDW�� LQ� FRPSOLDQFH� ZLWK� WKH� UXOHV� LVVXHG� E\� WKH�

6HFXULWLHV� DQG� ([FKDQJH� &RPPLVVLRQ�� QRWLFH� RI� WKH� PHHWLQJ�� WKH� 'HILQLWLYH� ,QIRUPDWLRQ�
6WDWHPHQW��DORQJ�ZLWK�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ¶V�³*XLGHOLQHV�IRU�3DUWLFLSDWLRQ�YLD�5HPRWH�&RPPXQLFDWLRQ�
DQG� 9RWLQJ� LQ� $EVHQWLD´� ZHUH� XSORDGHG� YLD� 36(� ('*(� RQ� ��� -XO\� ����� DQG� SRVWHG� RQ� WKH�
&RUSRUDWLRQ¶V�ZHEVLWH� EHJLQQLQJ� ��� -XO\� ������ )XUWKHU�� WKH�&RUSRUDWH� 6HFUHWDU\� FHUWLILHG� WKDW�
WKH� VDPH� QRWLFH� RI�PHHWLQJ�ZDV� SXEOLVKHG� LQ� WKH� 3KLOLSSLQH�'DLO\� ,QTXLUHU� DQG� LQ� WKH�0DQLOD�
%XOOHWLQ��ERWK�LQ�SULQW�DQG�RQOLQH�IRUPDWV��

�
7KH�&RUSRUDWH�6HFUHWDU\�DOVR�FHUWLILHG�WKDW�EDVHG�RQ�UHFRUG�RI�DWWHQGDQFH��VWRFNKROGHUV�

DWWHQGLQJ�LQ�SHUVRQ��E\�SUR[\��DQG�VWRFNKROGHUV�ZKR�KDYH�UHJLVWHUHG�WR�UHPRWHO\�MRLQ�WKH�YLUWXDO�
PHHWLQJ��UHSUHVHQW���������������FRPPRQ�VKDUHV��UHSUHVHQWLQJ��������RI�WKH�LVVXHG�DQG�
RXWVWDQGLQJ�FDSLWDO�VWRFN�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ�DV�RI�UHFRUG�GDWH�RI���-XO\�������+H�WKHQ�FHUWLILHG�
WKDW�D�TXRUXP�ZDV�SUHVHQW�IRU�WKH�WUDQVDFWLRQ�RI�EXVLQHVV�E\�WKH�VWRFNKROGHUV��

�
7KH�&RUSRUDWH�6HFUHWDU\�DQQRXQFHG�WKDW�3XQRQJED\DQ�	�$UDXOOR��3	$��*UDQW�7KRUQWRQ�

KDV� EHHQ� HQJDJHG� DV� WKLUG�SDUW\� WDEXODWRU� RI� YRWHV� FDVW� IRU� WKH� PHHWLQJ�� +H� DOVR� LQIRUPHG�
SDUWLFLSDQWV�WKDW�WKH�PHHWLQJ�ZLOO�EH�UHFRUGHG��
�
�
,,,�� 6DOH�RI�DOO�RU�6XEVWDQWLDOO\�DOO�RI�WKH�$VVHWV�DQG�/LDELOLWLHV�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ�

�
0U��7DQ�SURFHHGHG�WR�WKH�ILUVW�LWHP�LQ�WKH�DJHQGD�ZKLFK�LV�WKH�DSSURYDO�RI�WKH�VDOH�RI�DOO�

RU�VXEVWDQWLDOO\�DOO�RI�WKH�DVVHWV�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ��+H�WKHQ�DVNHG�WKH�&RUSRUDWH�6HFUHWDU\�WR�
GLVFXVV�WKH�LWHP�EULHIO\��

�
7KH�&RUSRUDWH�6HFUHWDU\�VWDWHG�WKDW�DV�SDUW�RI�WKH�SURSRVHG�WUDQVLWLRQ�DQG�UHSXUSRVLQJ�

RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ� LQWR�D�KROGLQJ�FRPSDQ\��WKH�%RDUG�RI�'LUHFWRUV�KDV�DSSURYHG�WKH�VDOH�DQG�
GLVSRVLWLRQ�RI�DOO�RU�VXEVWDQWLDOO\�DOO�RI�WKH�DVVHWV�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ��ZKLFK�LQFOXGH�LWV�ILQDQFLDO�
DQG�OHDVLQJ�DVVHWV���

�
$V�GHWDLOHG�LQ�WKH�',6�SURYLGHG�WR�VWRFNKROGHUV��WKHVH�DVVHWV�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ�ZLOO�EH�

VROG� RQ� D� FDVK� EDVLV� DQG�RQ� DUP¶V� OHQJWK� WHUPV� WR� %'2�)LQDQFH�&RUSRUDWLRQ� DQG�RWKHU� %'2�
DIILOLDWHV��IRU�D�FRQVLGHUDWLRQ�HTXDO�WR�DW�OHDVW�WKH�ERRN�YDOXH�RI�WKHVH�DVVHWV���

�
7KH� &RUSRUDWH� 6HFUHWDU\� DOVR� LQIRUPHG� WKH� VWRFNKROGHUV� WKDW� FRQVLVWHQW� ZLWK� WKH�

&RUSRUDWLRQ¶V�0DWHULDO�5HODWHG�3DUW\�7UDQVDFWLRQV�3ROLF\��3	$�*UDQW�7KRUQWRQ�KDV�EHHQ�HQJDJHG�
DV�DQ�LQGHSHQGHQW�WKLUG�SDUW\�DSSUDLVHU�WR�GHWHUPLQH�WKH�IDLUQHVV�RI�WKH�DVVHW�YDOXDWLRQ���

�
7KH� &RUSRUDWH� 6HFUHWDU\� VWDWHG� IRU� WKH� UHFRUG� WKDW� DOO� XQTXDOLILHG� YRWHV� FDVW� IRU� HDFK�

LWHP�IRU�DSSURYDO�VKDOO�EH�FRXQWHG�LQ�IDYRU�RI�WKH�PDWWHU�XQGHU�FRQVLGHUDWLRQ���
�
+H� WKHQ� DQQRXQFHG� WKDW� EDVHG� RQ� WKH� WDEXODWLRQ�� ������� RI� VWRFNKROGHUV� SUHVHQW�

YRWHG�LQ�IDYRU�RI�WKH�DSSURYDO��%HORZ�LV�WKH�WDOO\�RI�YRWHV��
�

,Q�)DYRU� $JDLQVW� $EVWDLQ�
1R��RI�6KDUHV� �� 1R��RI�6KDUHV� �� 1R��RI�6KDUHV� ��
�������������� ������� �� �� �� ��

�
:LWK�WKH�DERYH�YRWHV�LQ�IDYRU��WKH�IROORZLQJ�UHVROXWLRQ�ZDV�SDVVHG�DQG�DGRSWHG��
�



�

� �

6WRFNKROGHUV¶�5HVROXWLRQ�1R����������
�

³5(62/9('�� WKDW� %'2� /($6,1*� $1'� ),1$1&(�� ,1&�� �WKH�
&RUSRUDWLRQ�� EH� DXWKRUL]HG� WR� WUDQVIHU� DOO� RI� LWV� DVVHWV� DQG� OLDELOLWLHV� WR�%'2�
)LQDQFH� &RUSRUDWLRQ� RU� DQ\� RWKHU� DIILOLDWH� DV� PD\� EH� GHVLJQDWHG� E\� %'2�
8QLEDQN��,QF���VXFK�DVVHWV�DQG�OLDELOLWLHV�LQFOXGLQJ�EXW�QRW�OLPLWHG�WR�WKH�ILQDQFH�
DQG�OHDVLQJ�DVVHWV�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ��LWV�ORDQ�UHFHLYDEOHV��DQG�WKH�HQWLUH�HTXLW\�
LQYHVWPHQW�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ�LQ�%'2�5HQWDO��,QF���

�
³5(62/9('��)857+(5��WKDW�1HVWRU�9��7DQ��9LFH�&KDLUPDQ��ZLWK�IXOO�

SRZHU� RI� GHOHJDWLRQ�� EH� DXWKRUL]HG� DQG� HPSRZHUHG� WR� UHSUHVHQW� WKH�
&RUSRUDWLRQ��DQG�WR�VLJQ��H[HFXWH�DQG�GHOLYHU�DOO�FRQWUDFWV�DQG�GRFXPHQWV��DQG�
WR�GR�DQ\�DQG�DOO�DFWV��ZKLFK�PD\�EH�UHTXLUHG��QHFHVVDU\�RU�SURSHU�LQ�FRQQHFWLRQ�
ZLWK�WKH�IRUHJRLQJ�UHVROXWLRQ��XQGHU�VXFK�WHUPV�DQG�FRQGLWLRQV�DSSURSULDWH�DQG�
EHQHILFLDO�WR�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ�´�

�
�
,9�� $PHQGPHQW�RI�WKH�)LUVW�$UWLFOH�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ¶V�$UWLFOHV�RI�,QFRUSRUDWLRQ�
�

0U��7DQ�WKHQ�PRYHG�RQ�WR�WKH�QH[W�LWHPV�LQ�WKH�DJHQGD��ZKLFK�DUH�UHODWHG�WR�WKH�FKDQJH�
LQ�EXVLQHVV�GLUHFWLRQ�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ��+H�UHTXHVWHG�WKH�&RUSRUDWH�6HFUHWDU\�WR�ILUVW�GLVFXVV�
WKH�DPHQGPHQW�RI�WKH�)LUVW�$UWLFOH�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ¶V�$UWLFOHV�RI�,QFRUSRUDWLRQ��

�
7KH� &RUSRUDWH� 6HFUHWDU\� VWDWHG� WKDW� WKH� DPHQGPHQW� RI� WKH� )LUVW� $UWLFOH� RI� WKH�

&RUSRUDWLRQ¶V�$UWLFOHV�RI�,QFRUSRUDWLRQ�LV�WR�UHIOHFW�WKH�FKDQJH�LQ�LWV�FRUSRUDWH�QDPH�IURP�³%'2�
/HDVLQJ�DQG�)LQDQFH��,QF�´�WR�³8QLWHG�3ODWLQXP�+ROGLQJV�&RUSRUDWLRQ´��
�

0U��7DQ�DVNHG�WKH�&RUSRUDWH�6HFUHWDU\�WR�DQQRXQFH�WKH�UHVXOWV�RI�YRWLQJ��7KH�&RUSRUDWH�
6HFUHWDU\�DQQRXQFHG�WKDW�EDVHG�RQ�WKH�WDEXODWLRQ���������RI�VWRFNKROGHUV�SUHVHQW�YRWHG� LQ�
IDYRU�RI�WKH�DSSURYDO��%HORZ�LV�WKH�WDOO\�RI�YRWHV��
�

,Q�)DYRU� $JDLQVW� $EVWDLQ�
1R��RI�6KDUHV� �� 1R��RI�6KDUHV� �� 1R��RI�6KDUHV� ��
�������������� ������� �� �� �� ��

�
�
9�� $PHQGPHQW� RI� WKH� 6HFRQG� $UWLFOH� RI� WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQ¶V� $UWLFOHV� RI�

,QFRUSRUDWLRQ�
�
7KH� QH[W� LWHP� LQ� WKH� DJHQGD� LV� WKH� DPHQGPHQW� RI� WKH� 6HFRQG� $UWLFOH� RI� WKH�

&RUSRUDWLRQ¶V�$UWLFOHV�RI�,QFRUSRUDWLRQ��
�
7KH� &RUSRUDWH� 6HFUHWDU\� H[SODLQHG� WKDW� WKH� DPHQGPHQW� ZLOO� FKDQJH� WKH� SULPDU\� DQG�

VHFRQGDU\� SXUSRVHV� RI� WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQ�� ZKLFK� ZLOO� HIIHFWLYHO\� FRQYHUW� LW� IURP� D� OHDVLQJ� DQG�
ILQDQFLQJ� FRPSDQ\� WR� D� KROGLQJ� FRPSDQ\�� 'HWDLOV� RI� WKHVH� SURSRVHG� DPHQGPHQWV� ZHUH�
GLVFXVVHG�LQ�,WHP����RI�WKH�',6�GLVWULEXWHG�WR�WKH�VWRFNKROGHUV�SULRU�WR�WKH�PHHWLQJ��
�

7KH� &RUSRUDWH� 6HFUHWDU\� DQQRXQFHG� WKDW� EDVHG� RQ� WKH� WDEXODWLRQ�� ������� RI�
VWRFNKROGHUV�SUHVHQW�YRWHG�LQ�IDYRU�RI�WKH�DSSURYDO��%HORZ�LV�WKH�WDOO\�RI�YRWHV��
�

,Q�)DYRU� $JDLQVW� $EVWDLQ�
1R��RI�6KDUHV� �� 1R��RI�6KDUHV� �� 1R��RI�6KDUHV� ��
�������������� ������� �� �� �� ��

�



�

� �

9,�� $PHQGPHQW�RI�WKH�7KLUG�$UWLFOH�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ¶V�$UWLFOHV�RI�,QFRUSRUDWLRQ�
�
0U��7DQ�SURFHHGHG�WR�WKH�QH[W�LWHP�ZKLFK�LV�WKH�DPHQGPHQW�RI�WKH�7KLUG�$UWLFOH�RI�WKH�

&RUSRUDWLRQ¶V�$UWLFOHV�RI�,QFRUSRUDWLRQ��
�
7KH�&RUSRUDWH�6HFUHWDU\�VWDWHG�WKDW�WKLV�DPHQGPHQW�ZLOO�UHIOHFW�WKH�SURSRVHG�FKDQJH�LQ�

WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQ¶V� SULQFLSDO� RIILFH� DGGUHVV� IURP� 1R�� ��� $'%� $YHQXH�� 2UWLJDV� &HQWHU��
0DQGDOX\RQJ�&LW\�WR�8QLW�������*DOOHULD�&RUSRUDWH�&HQWHU��('6$�FRU��2UWLJDV�$YH���%UJ\��8JRQJ�
1RUWH��4XH]RQ�&LW\��

�
7KH� &RUSRUDWH� 6HFUHWDU\� DQQRXQFHG� WKDW� EDVHG� RQ� WKH� WDEXODWLRQ�� ������� RI�

VWRFNKROGHUV�SUHVHQW�YRWHG�LQ�IDYRU�RI�WKH�DSSURYDO��%HORZ�LV�WKH�WDOO\�RI�YRWHV��
�

,Q�)DYRU� $JDLQVW� $EVWDLQ�
1R��RI�6KDUHV� �� 1R��RI�6KDUHV� �� 1R��RI�6KDUHV� ��
�������������� ������� �� �� �� ��

�
�

9,,�� $PHQGPHQW�RI�%\�/DZV�WR�5HIOHFW�&KDQJH�LQ�1DPH�
�
7KH� QH[W� LWHP� LQ� WKH� DJHQGD� LV� WKH� DPHQGPHQW� RI� WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQ¶V� %\�/DZV�� 7KH�

&RUSRUDWH�6HFUHWDU\�H[SODLQHG�WKDW�WKH�DPHQGPHQW�LV�PHUHO\�WR�UHIOHFW�WKH�FKDQJH�RI�QDPH�WR�
³8QLWHG�3ODWLQXP�+ROGLQJV�&RUSRUDWLRQ´�DV�DSSURYHG�HDUOLHU��

�
7KH� &RUSRUDWH� 6HFUHWDU\� DQQRXQFHG� WKDW� EDVHG� RQ� WKH� WDEXODWLRQ�� ������� RI�

VWRFNKROGHUV�SUHVHQW�YRWHG�LQ�IDYRU�RI�WKH�DSSURYDO��%HORZ�LV�WKH�WDOO\�RI�YRWHV��
�

,Q�)DYRU� $JDLQVW� $EVWDLQ�
1R��RI�6KDUHV� �� 1R��RI�6KDUHV� �� 1R��RI�6KDUHV� ��
�������������� ������� �� �� �� ��

�
:LWK� WKH� DERYH� YRWHV� LQ� IDYRU� RI� DSSURYDO�� WKH� IROORZLQJ� UHVROXWLRQV�ZHUH� SDVVHG� DQG�

DGRSWHG��
�

6WRFNKROGHUV¶�5HVROXWLRQ�1R����������
�

³5(62/9('�� WKDW� %'2� /($6,1*� $1'� ),1$1&(�� ,1&�� �WKH�
&RUSRUDWLRQ��EH�DXWKRUL]HG�WR�DPHQG�LWV�$UWLFOHV�RI�,QFRUSRUDWLRQ�DQG�%\�ODZV�
DV�IROORZV��

�
����7R� FKDQJH� WKH� FRUSRUDWH� QDPH� IURP�%'2�/($6,1*�$1'�),1$1&(�� ,1&�� WR�

81,7('�3/$7,180�+2/',1*6�&25325$7,21��DQG� WR� DPHQG� WKH� WLWOH� DQG�
WKH�)LUVW�$UWLFOHV�RI�LWV�$UWLFOHV�RI�,QFRUSRUDWLRQ�DV�IROORZV��
�

³$0(1'('�$57,&/(6�2)�,1&25325$7,21�2)�
�

81,7('�3/$7,180�+2/',1*6�&25325$7,21´�
[[[�

�
³),567�±�7KDW�WKH�QDPH�RI�WKH�FRUSRUDWLRQ�VKDOO�EH��
�

81,7('�3/$7,180�+2/',1*6�&25325$7,21´�

�
���� 7R�DPHQG�WKH�WLWOH�RI�LWV�%\�ODZV�WR�UHIOHFW�WKH�FKDQJH�LQ�FRUSRUDWH�QDPH�DV�

IROORZV��
�



�

� �

³$0(1'('�%<�/$:6��
2)�

81,7('�3/$7,180�+2/',1*6�&25325$7,21´�

[[[�
���� 7R�FKDQJH�WKH�SULPDU\�DQG�VHFRQGDU\�SXUSRVHV�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ�IURP�WKDW�

RI� D� ILQDQFLQJ� FRPSDQ\� WR� D� KROGLQJ� FRPSDQ\�� DQG� WR� DPHQG� WKH� 6HFRQG�
$UWLFOH� RI� LWV� $UWLFOHV� RI� ,QFRUSRUDWLRQ� WR� UHIOHFW� WKLV� FKDQJH� RI� FRUSRUDWH�
SXUSRVH�DV�IROORZV��

35,0$5<�
�

7R� LQYHVW� LQ�� SXUFKDVH��RU� RWKHUZLVH�DFTXLUH� DQG�RZQ��KROG�� XVH��
VHOO�� DVVLJQ�� WUDQVIHU�� PRUWJDJH�� SOHGJH�� H[FKDQJH�� RU� RWKHUZLVH�
GLVSRVH� RI� UHDO� DQG� SHUVRQDO� SURSHUW\� RI� HYHU\� NLQG� DQG�
GHVFULSWLRQ�� LQFOXGLQJ� VKDUHV� RI� VWRFN�� ERQGV�� GHEHQWXUHV�� QRWHV��
HYLGHQFHV�RI� LQGHEWHGQHVV��DQG�RWKHU� VHFXULWLHV�RU�REOLJDWLRQV�RI�
DQ\� FRUSRUDWLRQ� RU� FRUSRUDWLRQV�� DVVRFLDWLRQ� RU� DVVRFLDWLRQV��
GRPHVWLF�RU�IRUHLJQ��IRU�ZKDWHYHU�ODZIXO�SXUSRVH�RU�SXUSRVHV�WKH�
VDPH�PD\�KDYH�EHHQ�RUJDQL]HG�DQG�WR�SD\�WKHUHIRU�LQ�PRQH\�RU�E\�
H[FKDQJLQJ� VKDUHV� RI� VWRFN� RI� WKLV� FRUSRUDWLRQ� RU� DQ\� RWKHU�
FRUSRUDWLRQ�� DQG� ZKLOH� WKH� RZQHU� RU� KROGHU� RI� DQ\� VXFK� UHDO� RU�
SHUVRQDO� SURSHUW\�� VWRFNV�� ERQGV�� GHEHQWXUHV�� FRQWUDFWV�� RU�
REOLJDWLRQV�� WR� UHFHLYH�� FROOHFW� DQG� GLVSRVH� RI� WKH� LQWHUHVW��
GLYLGHQGV��DQG�LQFRPH�DULVLQJ�IURP�VXFK�SURSHUW\��DQG�WR�SRVVHVV�
DQG� H[HUFLVH� LQ� UHVSHFW� WKHUHRI� DOO� WKH� ULJKWV�� SRZHUV� DQG�
SULYLOHJHV�RI�RZQHUVKLS�� LQFOXGLQJ�DOO� YRWLQJ�SRZHUV�RI�DQ\�VWRFN�
VR� RZQHG�� WR� FDUU\� RQ� DQG�PDQDJH� WKH� JHQHUDO� EXVLQHVV� RI� DQ\�
FRPSDQ\��

�
6(&21'$5<��

�
��� 7R�ERUURZ�RU�UDLVH�PRQH\�IURP�QRW�PRUH�WKDQ�QLQHWHHQ������

OHQGHUV�� LQFOXGLQJ� VWRFNKROGHUV�� QHFHVVDU\� WR� PHHW� WKH�
ILQDQFLDO� UHTXLUHPHQWV� RI� LWV� EXVLQHVV� E\� WKH� LVVXDQFH� RI�
ERQGV�� SURPLVVRU\� QRWHV� DQG� RWKHU� HYLGHQFH� RI�
LQGHEWHGQHVV�� DQG� WR� VHFXUH� WKH� UHSD\PHQW� E\� PRUWJDJH��
SOHGJH�� GHHG� RI� WUXVW� RU� OLHQ� XSRQ� WKH� SURSHUWLHV� RI� WKH�
&RUSRUDWLRQ� RU� WR� LVVXH�� SXUVXDQW� WR� ODZ�� VKDUHV� RI� LWV�
FDSLWDO� VWRFN�� GHEHQWXUHV� DQG� RWKHU� HYLGHQFH� RI�
LQGHEWHGQHVV� LQ� SD\PHQW� IRU� SURSHUWLHV� DFTXLUHG� E\� WKH�
&RUSRUDWLRQ�RU�IRU�PRQH\�ERUURZHG�LQ�WKH�SURVHFXWLRQ�RI�LWV�
ODZIXO�DFWLYLWLHV��

�
��� 7R� LQYHVW� DQG� GHDO� ZLWK� WKH�PRQH\� DQG� SURSHUWLHV� RI� WKH�

&RUSRUDWLRQ� LQ�VXFK�PDQQHU�DV�PD\�� IURP�WLPH�WR� WLPH��EH�
FRQVLGHUHG� ZLVH� RU� H[SHGLHQW� IRU� WKH� DGYDQFHPHQW� RI� LWV�
LQWHUHVWV� DQG� WR� VHOO�� GLVSRVH� RI� RU� WUDQVIHU� WKH� EXVLQHVV��
SURSHUWLHV� DQG� JRRGZLOO� RI� WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQ� RU� DQ\� SDUW�
WKHUHRI�� IRU� VXFK�FRQVLGHUDWLRQ�DQG�XQGHU�VXFK� WHUPV�DV� LW�
VKDOO�VHH�ILW�WR�DFFHSW��

�
��� 7R�DLG��LQ�DQ\�PDQQHU��DQ\�FRUSRUDWLRQ��DVVRFLDWLRQ��RU�WUXVW�

HVWDWH�� GRPHVWLF� RU� IRUHLJQ�� RU� DQ\� ILUP� RU� LQGLYLGXDO�� LQ�
ZKLFK� DQ\� VKDUHV� RI� VWRFNV�� ERQGV�� GHEHQWXUHV�� QRWHV��
VHFXULWLHV� DQG� HYLGHQFH� RI� LQGHEWHGQHVV�� FRQWUDFWV� RU�
REOLJDWLRQV� RI� ZKLFK� DUH� KHOG� E\� RU� IRU� WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQ��
GLUHFWO\� RU� LQGLUHFWO\� RU� WKURXJK� RWKHU� FRUSRUDWLRQV� RU�
RWKHUZLVH��



�

� �

��� 7R� HQWHU� LQWR� DQ\� ODZIXO� DUUDQJHPHQW� IRU� VKDULQJ� SURILWV��
XQLRQ� RI� LQWHUHVW�� XQLWL]DWLRQ� RU� IDUP�RXW� DJUHHPHQW��
UHFLSURFDO�FRQFHVVLRQ��RU�FRRSHUDWLRQ��ZLWK�DQ\�FRUSRUDWLRQ��
DVVRFLDWLRQ�� SDUWQHUVKLS�� V\QGLFDWH�� HQWLW\�� SHUVRQ� RU�
JRYHUQPHQWDO�� PXQLFLSDO� RU� SXEOLF� DXWKRULW\�� GRPHVWLF� RU�
IRUHLJQ�� LQ� WKH� FDUU\LQJ� RQ� RI� DQ\� EXVLQHVV� RU� WUDQVDFWLRQ�
GHHPHG�QHFHVVDU\��FRQYHQLHQW�RU�LQFLGHQWDO�WR�FDUU\LQJ�RXW�
DQ\�RI�WKH�SXUSRVH�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ��

�
��� 7R� DFTXLUH� RU� REWDLQ� IURP� DQ\� JRYHUQPHQW� RU� DXWKRULW\��

QDWLRQDO�� SURYLQFLDO�� PXQLFLSDO� RU� RWKHUZLVH�� RU� DQ\�
FRUSRUDWLRQ��FRPSDQ\��SDUWQHUVKLS�RU�SHUVRQ��VXFK�FKDUWHU��
FRQWUDFWV�� IUDQFKLVH�� SULYLOHJHV�� H[HPSWLRQ�� OLFHQVHV� DQG�
FRQFHVVLRQV� DV�PD\� EH� FRQGXFLYH� WR� DQ\� RI� WKH� REMHFWV� RI�
WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ��

�
��� 7R�DVVXPH�RU�XQGHUWDNH�RU�JXDUDQWHH�RU�VHFXUH��ZKHWKHU�DV�

VROLGDU\� REOLJRU�� VXUHW\� RU� JXDUDQWRU� RU� LQ� DQ\� RWKHU�
FDSDFLW\�DQG�HLWKHU�RQ�LWV�JHQHUDO�FUHGLW�RU�RQ�WKH�PRUWJDJH�
RU�SOHGJH�RI�DQ\�RI�LWV�SURSHUW\��WKH�ZKROH�RU�DQ\�SDUW�RI�WKH�
OLDELOLWLHV� DQG� REOLJDWLRQV� RI� DQ\� RI� LWV�� VWRFNKROGHUV��
VXEVLGLDULHV� RU� DIILOLDWHV� RU� DQ\� SHUVRQ� ILUP� DVVRFLDWLRQ� RU�
FRUSRUDWLRQ�� ZKHWKHU� GRPHVWLF� RU� IRUHLJQ� DQG� ZKHWKHU� D�
JRLQJ�FRQFHUQ�RU�QRW�HQJDJLQJ� LQ�RU�SUHYLRXVO\�HQJDJHG� LQ�
D�� EXVLQHVV� ZKLFK� WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQ� LV� RU� PD\� EHFRPH�
DXWKRUL]HG� WR� FDUU\� RQ� RU� ZKLFK� PD\� EH� DSSURSULDWH� RU�
VXLWDEOH�IRU�WKH�SXUSRVHV�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ��
�

��� 7R� HVWDEOLVK� DQG� RSHUDWH� RQH� RU� PRUH� EUDQFK� RIILFHV� RU�
DJHQFLHV�� DQG� WR� FDUU\� RQ� DQ\� RU� DOO� RI� LWV� RSHUDWLRQV� DQG�
EXVLQHVV� ZLWKRXW� DQ\� UHVWULFWLRQV� DV� WR� SODFH� RU� DPRXQW��
LQFOXGLQJ� WKH� ULJKW� WR�KROG��SXUFKDVH�RU�RWKHUZLVH�DFTXLUH��
OHDVH�� PRUWJDJH�� SOHGJH� DQG� FRQYH\� RU� RWKHUZLVH� GHDO� LQ�
DQG�ZLWK� UHDO� DQG� SHUVRQDO� SURSHUW\� DQ\ZKHUH�ZLWKLQ� WKH�
3KLOLSSLQHV��DQG�

�
��� 7R�FRQGXFW�DQG�WUDQVDFW�DQ\�DQG�DOO�ODZIXO�DFWLYLWLHV��DQG�WR�

GR� RU� FDXVH� WR� EH� GRQH�� DQ\� RQH� RU�PRUH� RI� WKH� DFWV� DQG�
WKLQJV� KHUHLQ� HQXPHUDWHG�� RU� ZKLFK� VKDOO� DW� DQ\� WLPH�
DSSHDU� FRQGXFLYH� WR�� RU� H[SHGLHQW� IRU�� WKH� SURWHFWLRQ� RU�
EHQHILW�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ��

�
���� 7R� FKDQJH� WKH� SULQFLSDO� RIILFH� DGGUHVV� RI� WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQ� ���)� %'2�

&RUSRUDWH�&HQWHU�2UWLJDV�����$'%�$YHQXH��2UWLJDV�&HQWHU��0DQGDOX\RQJ�
&LW\� WR�8QLW� ������*DOOHULD�&RUSRUDWH�&HQWHU�� ('6$� FRUQHU�2UWLJDV�$YH���
%UJ\��8JRQJ�1RUWH��4XH]RQ�&LW\� �DQG� WR�DPHQG� WKH�7KLUG�$UWLFOH�RI� WKH�
$UWLFOHV�RI�,QFRUSRUDWLRQ�DV�IROORZV��

³7+,5'��7KDW� WKH�SODFH�ZKHUH�WKH�SULQFLSDO�RIILFH�RI� WKH�FRUSRUDWLRQ�
VKDOO�EH�DW�8QLW�������*DOOHULD�&RUSRUDWH�&HQWHU��('6$�FRUQHU�
2UWLJDV�$YH���%UJ\��8JRQJ�1RUWH��4XH]RQ�&LW\�´�

�
³5(62/9('��),1$//<��WKDW�DQ\�RQH�����RI�WKH�3UHVLGHQW��&RUSRUDWH�

6HFUHWDU\�RU�DQ\�'LUHFWRU�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ�EH�DXWKRUL]HG�DQG�HPSRZHUHG�WR�
VXEPLW� RU� FDXVH� WKH� VXEPLVVLRQ� RI� FRSLHV� RI� WKH� $PHQGHG� $UWLFOHV� RI�
,QFRUSRUDWLRQ�DQG�$PHQGHG�%\�ODZV�RI�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ��FHUWLILHG�E\�D�PDMRULW\�
RI�WKH�GLUHFWRUV�DQG�WKH�&RUSRUDWH�6HFUHWDU\��WR�WKH�6HFXULWLHV�DQG�([FKDQJH�
&RPPLVVLRQ�� WR�VLJQ��H[HFXWH�DQG�GHOLYHU�DQ\�DQG�DOO�GRFXPHQWV�DQG�GHHGV��
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DQG� WR� GR� DQ\� DQG� DOO� DFWV�� QHFHVVDU\� DQG� SURSHU�� WR� JLYH� WKH� IRUHJRLQJ�
UHVROXWLRQV�IRUFH�DQG�HIIHFW�´�

�
�

9,,,�� 2SHQ�)RUXP�
�
0U��7DQ�WKHQ�RSHQHG�WKH�4XHVWLRQ�DQG�$QVZHU�SRUWLRQ�RI�WKH�PHHWLQJ��$OO�VWRFNKROGHUV�

RI�UHFRUG�ZHUH�DOORZHG�WR�VXEPLW�TXHVWLRQV�LQ�DGYDQFH�YLD�HPDLO��DQG�WKURXJK�WKH�FKDW�ER[�RI�
WKH�PHHWLQJ�OLYHVWUHDP��0U��7DQ�DVVXUHG�WKH�VWRFNKROGHUV�WKDW�WKRVH�TXHVWLRQV�QRW�HQWHUWDLQHG�
GXH�WR�WLPH�FRQVWUDLQWV�ZLOO�EH�DQVZHUHG�YLD�HPDLO��

�
7KH�&KDLUPDQ�UHTXHVWHG�0U��/XLV�6��5H\HV��-U���'LUHFWRU�DQG�7UHDVXUHU��WR�UHDG�VRPH�RI�

WKH�TXHVWLRQV�UHFHLYHG�IURP�WKH�VWRFNKROGHUV��
�
0U�� 5H\HV� UHDG� WKH� ILUVW� TXHVWLRQ�� 7KH� TXHVWLRQ� UHDGV�� ³:KDW� GRHV� WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQ�

LQWHQG�WR�GR�ZLWK�LWV�OHDVLQJ�EXVLQHVV"´�
�
� 0U��7DQ�DQVZHUHG�WKDW�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ�ZLOO�QR�ORQJHU�FDUU\�RXW�LWV�OHDVLQJ�EXVLQHVV�DQG�
WKDW�LW�ZLOO�EH�FRQYHUWHG� LQWR�D�KROGLQJ�FRPSDQ\�DV�HDUOLHU�DSSURYHG��VXEMHFW�WR�6(&�DSSURYDO��
+H�H[SODLQHG�WKDW�WKH�HIIHFWLYLW\�RI�3)56����LQ�������ZKLFK�UHTXLUHV�OHDVHV�WR�EH�UHFRJQL]HG�RQ�
EDODQFH�VKHHW�IRU�ERUURZHUV�FOLHQWV��SURPSWHG�WKH�%'2�*URXS�WR�GHFLGH�WR�FDUU\�RQ�LWV�OHDVLQJ�
EXVLQHVV�WKURXJK�D�SULYDWHO\�KHOG�HQWLW\��%'2�)LQDQFH�&RUSRUDWLRQ��7KLV� LQ� WXUQ�SURPSWHG�WKH�
SURSRVDO�WR�UHSXUSRVH�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ���
�

0U�� 5H\HV� WKHQ� UHDG� WKH� QH[W� TXHVWLRQ�� ZKLFK� UHDGV�� ³,Q� FRQQHFWLRQ� ZLWK� WKH� 6KDUH�
3XUFKDVH�$JUHHPHQW�GDWHG����-DQXDU\�������ZKDW�LV�WKH�%X\HUV¶�SODQ�IRU�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ"´�

�
0U��7DQ�UHVSRQGHG�WKDW�WKH�EX\HUV�ZLOO�RSHUDWH�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ�DV�D�KROGLQJ�FRPSDQ\��

�
� 0U�� 5H\HV� UHDG� WKH� ODVW� TXHVWLRQ�� ,W� UHDGV�� ³:KDW� LV� WKH� VWDWXV� RI� WKH� 2UGHU� RI�
6XVSHQVLRQ�RI�WKH�6HFXULWLHV�DQG�([FKDQJH�&RPPLVVLRQ��6(&��DQG�ZKHQ�LV�WKH�FORVLQJ�GDWH�RI�
WKH�VDOH"´�
�
� 0U�� 7DQ� DQVZHUHG� WKDW� WKH� &RUSRUDWLRQ� KDV� VRXJKW� UHFRQVLGHUDWLRQ� RI� WKH� 6XVSHQVLRQ�
2UGHU�DQG�HQJDJHG�WKH�6(&�RQ�WKLV�PDWWHU��$V�RI�WKLV�SRLQW��WKH�UHTXHVW�IRU�UHFRQVLGHUDWLRQ�LV�
VWLOO� SHQGLQJ� UHVROXWLRQ��ZKLFK�ZDV�DOVR�GHOD\HG� E\� WKH� SDQGHPLF��+H� IXUWKHU� VWDWHG� WKDW� WKH�
&RUSRUDWLRQ�EHOLHYHV� WKDW� WKHUH� LV� QR�JURXQG� IRU� WKH� VXVSHQVLRQ�RI� LWV�5HJLVWUDWLRQ�6WDWHPHQW�
VLQFH�ERWK� WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ�DQG�%'2�8QLEDQN�KDYH� FRQVLVWHQWO\�EHHQ�XSIURQW�DQG�KDYH�PDGH�
IXOO��WLPHO\�DQG�IDLU�GLVFORVXUHV�UHJDUGLQJ�WKH�VDOH�RI�LWV�VKDUHV�LQ�WKH�&RUSRUDWLRQ��LQFOXGLQJ�DOO�
WKH�VWHSV�OHDGLQJ�WR�LW���
�
� 0U��7DQ�DOVR�VWUHVVHG�WKDW�PLQRULW\�VKDUHKROGHUV�DUH�SURWHFWHG�LQ�WKH�SURFHVV�ZLWK�WKHLU�
YHVWHG�DSSUDLVDO�ULJKWV��7KH�%X\HUV�ZLOO�DOVR�KDYH�WR�FDUU\�RXW�D�0DQGDWRU\�7HQGHU�2IIHU��ZKLFK�
ZLOO� DOORZ� H[LVWLQJ� VKDUHKROGHUV� WR� VHOO� WKHLU� VKDUHV� LQ� FDVH� WKH\� GR� QRW� ZDQW� WR� VWD\� RQ� DV�
VKDUHKROGHUV�RI�WKH�UHSXUSRVHG�FRPSDQ\��
�
� $V�UHJDUGV�WKH�FORVLQJ�GDWH��0U��7DQ�LQIRUPHG�WKH�VWRFNKROGHUV�WKDW�WKH�WDUJHW�FORVLQJ�LV�
LQ�2FWREHU�������
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,;�� 2WKHU�0DWWHUV�
�
0U�� 7DQ� LQTXLUHG� LI� WKHUH� ZHUH� RWKHU�PDWWHUV� WKDW� FRXOG� SURSHUO\� EH� WDNHQ� XS� DW� WKH�

PHHWLQJ��7KH�&RUSRUDWH�6HFUHWDU\�FRQILUPHG�WKDW�WKHUH�ZHUH�QRQH��
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;�� $GMRXUQPHQW�
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7KHUH�EHLQJ�QR�IXUWKHU�EXVLQHVV�WR�WUDQVDFW��0U��7DQ�WKDQNHG�HYHU\RQH�ZKR�MRLQHG�WKH�
PHHWLQJ�ZLVKHG�HYHU\RQH�JRRG�KHDOWK��7KHUHDIWHU��WKH�PHHWLQJ�ZDV�DGMRXUQHG��
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